
 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
 

AUGUST 12, 2013 
 

10:00 A.M. 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
FORT VERMILION, AB 

 



 

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES CHART 
April 2013 

COUNCIL PRIORITIES (Council/CAO) 
 

NOW 
1. HOUSING ENTITY: Governance Structure – Sept. 
2. LAND USE FRAMEWORK: Position Paper - May 
3. REGIONAL COLLABORATION: Protocol - June 
4. HIGH LEVEL: Share Service Agreement – June 
5. FIRST NATION RELATIONS: Orientation – Sept. 
6. OSB PLANT: Water Supply – August 
7. NEW ROAD CONSTRUCTION FUNDING – Sept. 
 
 

 

ADVOCACY 
� Zama Road Paving Funds 
� Road Construction Funding Request 
� Canada Postal Service - La Crete 
� Land use Framework Input 
� Highway 58 West Extension to BC 

 

NEXT 
� OIL AND GAS STRATEGY 
� ZAMA ROAD: Business Case 
� SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN 
� REGIONAL WATER AGREEMENT 

 
 

� TOURISM: Strategy (REDI) 
� BRANDING STRATEGY (2014) 
� TRANSPORTATION CORRIDOR PLAN 

OPERATIONAL STRATEGIES (CAO/Staff) 

CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER (Joulia) 
1. HOUSING ENTITY: Governance Structure – Sept. 
2. REG. COLLABORATION: Protocol - June 
3. FIRST NATION RELATIONS: Orientation – Sept. 
� HIGH LEVEL: Share Service Agreement 
�  

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT (Bill) 
1. Resource Roads: Strategy – Sept. 
2. OSB PLANT: Water Supply - June  
3. ROAD CONSTRUCTION FUNDS: Request - Sept 
� ZAMA ROAD: Business Case 
� TOURISM: Strategy (REDI) 

COMMUNITY SERVICES (Ron) 
1. Radio Communication System - May 
2. COR Certification: Update Safety Manual - July 
3. Rec. Board Agreement Draft Renewal – Oct. 
� Prepare for Municipal QMP Audit (SCC) - April 
� Disaster Emergency Planning 

AGRICULTURAL SERVICES (Grant) 
1.  SURFACE WATER MANG. PLAN - TOR - May 
2. Agricultural Trade Fair – Aug. 
3. ASB Business Plan - May 
� Emergency Livestock Response Plan – Sept. 
�  

PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT (Byron) 
1. LAND USE FRAMEWORK: Position Paper - May 
2. Area Structure Plans - July 
3. Business License Bylaw & Implementation – July 
� Development Agreement: Revise 
� Airport Vicinity Protection Area 

LEGISLATIVE SERVICES (Carol) 
1. Municipal Elections: Election Bylaw - May 
2. Municipal Elections: Candidate Handbook - July 
3. Virtual City Hall Implementation - May 
� Human Resource Policy Review 
� Communication Plan 

FINANCE (Alison) 
1.  Long Term Capital Plan - Mar. 
2. Borrowing Bylaws - June 
3. Local Imp. Bylaws - June 
� Master Card Policy 
� Internal Controls Procedure Review 

PUBLIC WORKS* (John & Ron) 
1. HAMLET ROAD PRIORITIES PROGRAM - June 
2. PRIVATE ROAD TRANSFER POLICY – Sept. 
3. Rural Waterline Research Paper: TOR - July 
� Rural Road Plan 
� Water Source Plan 

 

CODES: BOLD CAPITALS = Council NOW Priorities; CAPITALS = Council NEXT Priorities; Italics = Advocacy; 
Regular Title Case = Operational Strategies; * See Monthly Capital Projects Progress Report 

 



  

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

 
Monday, August 12, 2013 

10:00 a.m. 
 

Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 
Fort Vermilion, Alberta 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

  Page 
CALL TO ORDER: 1. a) Call to Order 

 
 

 

AGENDA: 2. a) Adoption of Agenda 
 
 

 

ADOPTION OF 
PREVIOUS MINUTES: 

3. a) Minutes of the July 16, 2013 Regular   
  Council Meeting 
 
 

7 

DELEGATIONS: 4. a)  
 
 b)  
 
 

 

GENERAL 
REPORTS: 
 

5. a) CAO Report 
 
 b)  
 
 

27 

TENDERS: 
 

6. a) Request for Proposal – 2013 Fibre Reinforced  
  Double Gravel Seal Program, River Road, Range 
  Road 15-3 (Contract No. 091-10141-00) 
 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 7. a) Bylaw 907-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment  
  Application to Rezone Part of NW 9-104-15-W5M 
  from Mobile Home Subdivision ‘MHS1’ to Hamlet 
  Residential 1B ‘HR1B’ (La Crete) – 1:00 p.m. 
 
 b) Bylaw 910-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment  
  Application to Rezone Plan 992 0983, Block 1,  
  Lot 1 (9310-94st Street) from Hamlet County  
  Residential 2 (HCR2) to Public/Institutional (P) – 
  (Hamlet of La Crete) – 1:00 p.m. 
 

35 
 
 
 
 

47 
 
 
 
 
 



MACKENZIE COUNTY   PAGE 2 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
August 12, 2013 
 

 c) Bylaw 906-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment  
  Application to Rezone Plan 982 5602, Block 19, 
  Lot 4 from Hamlet Commercial 2 ‘HC2’ to Hamlet 
  Industrial 2 ‘HI2’  (La Crete) – 1:00 p.m. 
 
 d) Bylaw 894-13 Hamlet of Fort Vermilion Area  
  Structure Plan – 1:10 p.m. 
 
 e) Bylaw 895-13 Hamlet of La Crete Area Structure 
  Plan – 1:15 p.m. 
 
 f) Bylaw 898-13 Fort Vermilion Industrial Area  
  Structure Plan – 1:20 p.m. 
 
 g) Bylaw 900-13 Mackenzie Highway Industrial Area 
  Structure Plan – 1:20 p.m. 
 
 

57 
 
 
 
 

75 
 
 

115 
 
 

159 
 
 

195 
 
 

COMMUNITY 
SERVICES: 
 

8. a)  
 
 b)  
 
 c)  
 
 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES: 

9. a) Fee for Sewer Camera Services 
 
  b)  
 

 c)  
 
 

227 

OPERATIONS: 10. a) Traffic Control on 109th Street & 100th Avenue (La 
Crete) 

 
  b)  
 
  c)  
 
 

231 

PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT: 

11. a) Bylaw 914-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment  
  Application to rezone Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M 
  from Urban Fringe (UF) to Hamlet General (HG) 
  (Hamlet of La Crete) 
 
 b)  
 
 c)  

233 



MACKENZIE COUNTY   PAGE 3 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
August 12, 2013 
 

 
 d)  
 
 

CORPORATE 
SERVICES: 

12. a) Bylaw 912-13 Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 
 b) Drake Energy Ltd. – Tax Roll 410991 
 
 c)  
 
 d)  
 
 

257 
 

297 
 

ADMINISTRATION: 13. a) Policy PW023 – Rural Road Specification 
 
 b) AAMDC – MGA Consultation Workshops 
 
 c) Rural Water New Connections 
 
 d)  
 
 e)  
 
 f)  
 
 

299 
 

303 
 

307 

INFORMATION / 
CORRESPONDENCE: 
 

14.  a) Information/Correspondence 309 

IN CAMERA 
SESSION: 

15. a) Legal 
• Housing Amalgamation 
• Regional Service Sharing Agreement  

 
 b) Labour 

•  
 

 c) Land 
•  

 
 

 

NEXT MEETING 
DATE: 

16. a) Regular Council Meeting 
  Monday, August 26, 2013 
  11:00 a.m. 
  Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 
 
 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 17. a) Adjournment  
 





Agenda Item # 3. a) 

Author: C. Gabriel Review by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Joulia Whittleton, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title: Minutes of the July 16, 2013 Regular Council Meeting 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Minutes of the July 16, 2013 Regular Council meeting are attached. 
 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
 
 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
 
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
Approved council minutes are posted on the County website. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That the minutes of the July 16, 2013 Regular Council meeting be adopted as 
presented. 
 

7



8



 
________ 

________ 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

10:00 a.m. 
 

Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 
Fort Vermilion, Alberta 

 
 

PRESENT: Bill Neufeld 
Walter Sarapuk 
Peter F. Braun 
Elmer Derksen 
Dicky Driedger 
John W. Driedger 
Odell Flett 
Eric Jorgensen 
 

Reeve (left the meeting at 2:00 p.m.) 
Deputy Reeve 
Councillor  
Councillor  
Councillor  
Councillor (left the meeting at 3:37 p.m.) 
Councillor  
Councillor (arrived at 10:04 a.m.) 
 

REGRETS: 
 

Jacquie Bateman 
Lisa Wardley 

Councillor 
Councillor 
 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 

 

Joulia Whittleton 
Alison Kilpatrick 
John Klassen 
 
William (Bill) Kostiw 
 
Liane Lambert 
Caitlin Smith 

Chief Administrative Officer 
Director of Corporate Services 
Director of Environmental Services & 
Operations 
Director of Infrastructure Development & 
Government Relations 
Planner 
Development Officer/Recording Secretary 
 

ALSO PRESENT: Members of the public. 
 

Minutes of the Regular Council meeting for Mackenzie County held on July 16, 2013 in the 
Fort Vermilion Council Chambers. 
 
CALL TO ORDER:  1. a) Call to Order 

 
 Reeve Neufeld called the meeting to order at 10:03 a.m. 

 
AGENDA: 
 

2. a) Adoption of Agenda 
 

MOTION 13-07-469 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That the agenda be approved as presented. 
 

9



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 2 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

CARRIED 
 

ADOPTION OF 
PREVIOUS MINUTES: 
 

3. a) Minutes of the June 26, 2013 Regular Council 
 Meeting 

MOTION 13-07-470 
 

MOVED by Councillor Derksen 
 
That the minutes of the June 26, 2013 Regular Council 
meeting be adopted as presented. 
 
CARRIED 
 

GENERAL REPORTS: 5. a) CAO Report 
 

MOTION 13-07-471 MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That the CAO report for June 2013 be accepted for 
information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 5. b) Municipal Planning Commission Meeting Minutes  
 – May 16 and June 6, 2013 
 

MOTION 13-07-472 MOVED by Councillor Derksen 
 
That the Municipal Planning Commission meeting minutes of 
May 16 & June 6, 2013 be received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 5. c) Inter-Municipal Planning Commission Meeting  
 Minutes – April 23 and May 23, 2013 
 

MOTION 13-07-473 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That the Inter-Municipal Planning Commission meeting 
minutes of April 23 and May 23, 2013 be received for 
information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 5. d) Public Works Committee Meeting Minutes – 
 February 25 and April 8, 2013 
 

10



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 3 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

MOTION 13-07-474 MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That the Public Works Committee meeting minutes of February 
25 & April 8, 2013 be received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 5. e) Tompkins Committee Meeting Minutes – April 11, 
 2013 
 

MOTION 13-07-475 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That the Tompkins Crossing Committee meeting minutes of 
April 11, 2013 be received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 7. a) None 
 

COMMUNITY 
SERVICES: 
 

8. a) Amend Bylaw 770-10 – Unsightly Premises 

MOTION 13-07-476 MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 908-13 being the Unsightly 
Premises Bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-477 MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 908-13 being the 
Unsightly Premises Bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-478 
Requires Unanimous 

MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That consideration be given to proceed to third reading of 
Bylaw 908-13 being the Unsightly Premises Bylaw for 
Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 13-07-479 MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 

11



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 4 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

That third reading be given to Bylaw 908-13 being Unsightly 
Premises Bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 8. b) Atlas Landing – Park Development (Discussion) 
 

MOTION 13-07-480 MOVED by Councillor Derksen 
 
That the Atlas Landing Park Development be referred to the 
Community Services Committee. 
 
CARRIED 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES: 
 

9. a) Fort Vermilion 43rd Avenue Water and Sewer 
 Relocation and Upgrades and 50th Street Water 
 Extension 
 

MOTION 13-07-481 MOVED by Councillor Flett 
 
That the scope of work for Fort Vermilion 43rd Avenue Water 
and Sewer Relocation and Upgrades and 50th Street Water 
Extension project be amended by proceeding with 43rd Avenue 
Water and Sewer Relocation construction and engineering only 
for the 50th Street Water Extension, inclusive of the sewer 
extension component, and that the 50th Street Water and 
Sewer Extension project be reviewed for the 2014 budget. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 9. c) Sewage Lagoon Disposal Agreement 
 

MOTION 13-07-482 MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That the Sewage Lagoon Disposal Agreement be adopted as 
presented and the fees be researched and brought back to 
Council. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 9. b) La Crete Lagoon Upgrade Project – Scope and  
 Finance 
 

MOTION 13-07-483 MOVED by Reeve Neufeld 
 
That Council move in-camera at 10:59 a.m. 

12



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 5 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

Grant   
Description/Project funding Reserve/MSI title Reserve MSI* Total
Reallocate FGTF grants:
  FV 48th & 50th water/sewer 127,176          Water Upgrading Reserve/MSI 81,071            46,105            127,176          
  FV 48th & 50th water/sewer 127,177          Sewer Upgrading Reserve/MSI 81,071            46,106            127,177          
  ZA pump house upgrades 224,270          MSI grant -                  224,270          224,270          
  LC Rehab well no. 1 138,294          Water Upgrading Reserve/MSI 25,324            112,970          138,294          
Total reallocation of FGTF 616,917          187,466          429,451          616,917          

           *MSI funding from Rural Pumping Station project, postponed to 2014.

Alternate Funding for Capital Projects

 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-484 MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That Council move out of camera at 11:18 a.m. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-485 MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That a recommendation be made to Alberta Transportation to 
award the contract for the La Crete Lagoon Upgrades and 
Expansion project to the lowest bidder based on Option #2 for 
revised scope of work and costs. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-486 MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That the 2013 Capital Budget be amended by the following: 

1. increase the total project cost for the La Crete Lagoon 
Upgrades and Expansion project to $6,247,000, 
including $417,000 for engineering costs; 

2. prepare a short-term borrowing bylaw for $1,233,734, 
and reallocate $616,917 in FGTF grant funding from 
other capital projects; 

3. postpone the Rural Water Pumping Station capital 
project to 2014; 

4. fund the capital projects from which FGTF funds were 
reallocated in (2) with a combination of $429,451 in MSI 
grant funding from (3), and draws on Municipal 
Reserves, as shown in the table, below: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-487 MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That a supplementary application be submitted to Alberta 
Transportation under the Alberta Water and Waste Water 

13



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 6 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

Program for the La Crete Lagoon Upgrades and Expansion 
project for the amount in excess of the prior approval. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 Reeve Neufeld recessed the meeting at 11:27 a.m. and 
reconvened the meeting at 11:38 a.m. 
 

 9. d) Bylaw 909-13 – Water and Sewer Systems 
 

MOTION 13-07-488 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 909-13 being the Water 
and Sewer System Bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-489 MOVED by Councillor Derksen 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 909-13 being the Water 
and Sewer System Bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-490 
Requires Unanimous 

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That consideration be given to proceed to third reading of 
Bylaw 909-13 being the Water and Sewer Bylaw for Mackenzie 
County. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 13-07-491 MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 909-13 being the Water 
and Sewer System Bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

OPERATIONS: 10. a) PW039 Policy – Road, Access & Surface Storm 
 Water Channel Construction 
 

MOTION 13-07-492 MOVED by Councillor Derksen 
 
That PW039 Rural Road, Access Construction and Surface 
Water Management Policy be approved as amended. 

14



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 7 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

 
CARRIED 
 

 10. b) Future Collector Roads 
 

MOTION 13-07-493 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That the approaches at RR191 and RR193 south of and 
connecting to HWY697 be designated as the future collector 
roads approaches as per Policy PW039. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 Reeve Neufeld recessed the meeting at 12:15 p.m. and 
reconvened the meeting at 1:02 p.m. with all members present 
except Councillor Flett and Councillor Jorgensen. 
 

PLANNING & 
DEVELOPMENT: 
 

11. a) 164-DP-13 Fox Haven Golf & Country Club (Ancillary 
 Building (Golf Shed) in Direct Control High Level 
 Rural (Inter-municipal Development Plan Area) 
 

MOTION 13-07-494 MOVED by Councillor Derksen 
 
That Development Permit 164-DP-13 on Part of SE 16-110-19-
W5M in the name of Fox Haven Golf & Country Club be 
approved with the following conditions: Failure to comply with 
one or more of the attached conditions shall render this permit 
Null and Void. 

1. Minimum Building setbacks are: 
c) 41.14 meters (135 feet), from Road Right of Way. 
d) 15.2 meters (50 feet) from all other property lines. 

2. The architecture, construction materials and 
appearance of buildings and other structures shall be to 
accepted standards.  

3. All sewage disposals shall conform to the Alberta 
Private Sewage Systems Standard of Practice 2009. 

4. Mackenzie County shall not be held liable for any 
concerns, issues or damages related to and/or resulting 
from the water tables and any other water problems as 
a result of any low land levels of the proposed 
development. It is the responsibility of the developer to 
ensure that adequate drainage and other precautions 
are taken to avoid water seepage into the basement 
and/or flooding of the basement, and/or any ancillary 
buildings. 

5. PRIOR to installation of a new access or changing 

15



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 8 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

location of existing access, complete a Request for 
Access form by contacting the Operational Services 
Department of Mackenzie County at 780-928-3983. 
Access to be constructed at the developer’s expense. 

6. No construction or development is allowed on or in a 
right-of-way. It is the responsibility of the 
developer/owner/occupant to investigate the utility 
rights-ofway, if any, that exist on the property prior to 
commencement of any construction and to ensure that 
no construction or development is completed on any 
utility right-of-way. 

7. The total site area (lot) shall have a positive surface 
drainage without adversely affecting the neighbouring 
properties. 

8. The Developer shall at all times comply with all 
applicable Federal, Provincial and Municipal legislation 
and regulations and County Bylaws and resolutions 
relating to the development of the lands. 
 

CARRIED 
 

 11. b) 168-DP-13 Wielhelem Berg (Manufactured Home-
 Single Wide in “A”) (La Crete) 
 

MOTION 13-07-495 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That Development Permit 168-DP-13 on Plan 122 4236; Block 
01; Lot 01 (Part of SE 16-106-13-W5M) in the name of 
Wielhelem Berg be approved with following conditions: 
Failure to comply with one or more of the attached conditions 
shall render this permit Null and Void. 

1. Minimum Manufactured Home-Single Wide, Addition 
and Deck setbacks are: 

a) 41.14 meters (135 feet), from Road Right of Way 
b) 15.2 meters (50 feet) from all other property lines. 

2. The architecture, construction materials and 
appearance of buildings and other structures shall be to 
accepted standards. 

3. The undercarriage of the Manufactured Home – Single 
Wide shall be screened from view by skirting or such 
other means satisfactory to the Development Authority. 

4. All sewage disposals shall conform to the Alberta 
Private Sewage Systems Standard of Practice 2009. 

5. Mackenzie County shall not be held liable for any 
concerns, issues or damages related to and/or resulting 
from the water tables and any other water problems as 

16



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 9 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

a result of any low land levels of the proposed 
development. It is the responsibility of the developer to 
ensure that adequate drainage and other precautions 
are taken to avoid water seepage into the basement 
and/or flooding of the basement, and/or any ancillary 
buildings. 

6. PRIOR to installation of a new access or changing 
location of existing access, complete a Request for 
Access form by contacting the Operational Services 
Department of Mackenzie County at 780-928-3983. 
Access to be constructed at the developer’s expense. 

7. No construction or development is allowed on or in a 
right-of-way. It is the responsibility of the 
developer/owner/occupant to investigate the utility 
rights-of-way, if any, that exist on the property prior to 
commencement of any construction and to ensure that 
no construction or development is completed on any 
utility right-of-way. 

9. The total site area (lot) shall have a positive 
10. The Developer shall at all times comply with all 

applicable Federal, Provincial and Municipal legislation 
and regulations and County Bylaws and resolutions 
relating to the development of the lands. 

 
CARRIED 
 

 Councillor Flett rejoined the meeting at 1:04 p.m. 
 

 11. c) Bylaw 910-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment   
 Application to Rezone Plan 992 0893, Block 1,  
 Lot 1 (9310-94th Street) from Hamlet Country 
 Residential (HCR2) to Public Institutional (P) (La 
 Crete) 
 

MOTION 13-07-496 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 910-13, being a Land Use 
Bylaw amendment to rezone Plan 992 0893; Block 1; Lot 1 
from Hamlet Country Residential 2 (HCR2) to 
Public/Institutional (P), subject to public hearing input. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 Councillor Jorgensen rejoined the meeting at 1:09 p.m. 
 

17



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 10 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

 11. d) Bylaw 911-13 – Business License Bylaw 
 

MOTION 13-07-497 
 

MOVED by Councillor Flett 
 
That first reading be given to bylaw 911-13, being a Business 
License bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-498 
 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That second reading be given to bylaw 911-13, being a 
Business License bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-499 
Requires Unanimous 
 

MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That consideration be given to proceed to third reading of 
Bylaw 911-13 being the Business License bylaw for Mackenzie 
County. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 13-07-500 
 

MOVED by Councillor Flett 
 
That third reading be given to bylaw 911-13, being a Business 
License bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-501 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That administration brings the Fee Schedule bylaw to the next 
Council meeting, incorporating the business license fees as 
presented. 
 
CARRIED 
 

TENDERS: 6. a) Highway 88 Connector (Ph. II & III) 
 

MOTION 13-07-502 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That the Highway 88 Connector (Phase ll & lll) tenders be 
opened. 
 

18



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 11 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

CARRIED 
 
Tenders Received: 
 
LEDCOR $9,682,633.00 

-$1,683,633.00 
$7,999,000.00 
 

Wapiti $7,041,265.59 
-$736,628.78 
$6,304,636.81 
 

Knelsen Sand & Gravel $6,863,097.50 
 

 

MOTION 13-07-503 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That the Highway 88 Connector (Phase ll & lll) tender be 
awarded to the lowest qualifying bidder subject to engineer’s 
review. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

 11. e) Development Statistics 
 

MOTION 13-07-504 
 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That the development statistics report 2013 January to June be 
received for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 11. f) Connector Area Structure Plans and Industrial 
 Definitions 
 

MOTION 13-07-505 
 

MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That administration be authorized to proceed with the 
Connector Industrial ASP as per the original boundaries only 
revising the zoning to accommodate landowner concerns, and 
for Footner Industrial ASP as per direction given in motion 13-
06-445, with funding being relocated from the Rural 
Addressing project. 
 
CARRIED 
 

19



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 12 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

CORPORATE 
SERVICES: 
 

12. a) Write off Property Tax Arrears and Penalties on 
 Roll 098520 
 

MOTION 13-07-506 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That Council write off property tax arrears for roll 098520, River 
Road Cable (2008) Ltd in the amount of $13,498.66 and void 
penalties levied January 4, 2013 of $1,619.84 making a total of 
$15,118.50. 

 
Councillor J. Driedger requested a recorded vote. 
 
In Favour Opposed 
Deputy Reeve Sarapuk Reeve Neufeld 
Councillor Jorgensen Councillor Braun 
 Councillor Derksen 
 Councillor D. Driedger 
 Councillor J. Driedger 
 Councillor Flett 
  

DEFEATED 
 

DELEGATION: 
 

4. a) Ray Toews – 1:45 p.m. 
 

 Ray Toews presented his concerns regarding a letter that he 
received from Mackenzie County on July 2, 2013 with regards 
to illegal cross connections. 
 

MOTION 13-07-507 
 

MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That Council accept Ray Toews’ presentation for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 12. b) Bylaw 904-13 Local Improvement Bylaw – Water 
 and Sewer Extension on 43 Avenue and a portion of 
 50 Street for Plan 762 1591, Lots 1, 2, & 4, Block A 
 and Plan 942 3306, Lot 5 & 6, Block A and Plan 
 580KS, Lot N in the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion 
 

MOTION 13-07-508 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Deputy Reeve Sarapuk 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 904-13 being a local 
improvement tax for Water and Sewer Extension on 43 Avenue 
and a portion of 50 Street for Plan 762 1591, Lots 1, 2 & 4, 
Block A and Plan 942 3306, Lot 5 & 6, Block A and Plan 

20



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 13 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

580KS, Lot N in the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-509 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Flett 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 904-13 being a local 
improvement tax for Water and Sewer Extension on 43 Avenue 
and a portion of 50 Street for Plan 762 1591, Lots 1, 2 & 4, 
Block A and Plan 942 3306, Lot 5 & 6, Block A and Plan 
580KS, Lot N in the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 12. c) Bylaw 901-13 Local Improvement Bylaw for (A) 
 Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk on 101 Street and 103 
 Avenue, and (B) Standalone Sidewalk on 101 Street 
 from 103 Avenue to 105 Avenue in the Hamlet of La 
 Crete 
 

MOTION 13-07-510 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Derksen 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 901-13 being a local 
improvement tax for: (A) Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk on 101 
Street and 103 Avenue for Plan 942 0787, Lots 5 & 6, Block 6 
and Plan 942 3391, Lot 5, Block 6 and Plan 5232TR, Lot 1, 
Block 6 and Plan 1160NY, Lot 1, Block 4 and Plan 792 1881, 
Lots 1, 2 & 5, Block 18 and Lots 1-3, Block 17 and a portion of 
Plan 8621341, Lot 38, Lot 17; and also for (B) Standalone 
Sidewalk on 101 Street from 103 Avenue to 105 Avenue for 
Plan 942 0787, Lot 7, Block 6 and Plan 5232TR, Lot 3, Block 6 
and Plan 902 2145, Block 21 and Plan 862 1341, Lot 38, Block 
17 and Plan 982 1128, Lot 39, Block 17 in the Hamlet of La 
Crete. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-511 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 901-13 being a local 
improvement tax for: (A) Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk on 101 
Street and 103 Avenue for Plan 942 0787, Lots 5 & 6, Block 6 
and Plan 942 3391, Lot 5, Block 6 and Plan 5232TR, Lot 1, 
Block 6 and Plan 1160NY, Lot 1, Block 4 and Plan 792 1881, 
Lots 1, 2 & 5, Block 18 and Lots 1-3, Block 17 and a portion of 
Plan 8621341, Lot 38, Lot 17; and also for (B) Standalone 

21



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 14 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

Sidewalk on 101 Street from 103 Avenue to 105 Avenue for 
Plan 942 0787, Lot 7, Block 6 and Plan 5232TR, Lot 3, Block 6 
and Plan 902 2145, Block 21 and Plan 862 1341, Lot 38, Block 
17 and Plan 982 1128, Lot 39, Block 17 in the Hamlet of La 
Crete. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 Reeve Neufeld recessed the meeting at 1:56 p.m. 
 
Reeve Neufeld left the meeting at 2:00 p.m. 
 
Deputy Reeve Sarapuk assumed the Chair and reconvened 
the meeting at 2:05 p.m. 
 

 12. d) Bylaw 902-13 Local Improvement Bylaw for Curb, 
 Gutter and Sidewalk on 48 Avenue–52 Street to 53 
 Street, and 53 Street–48 Avenue to River Road in the 
 Hamlet of Fort Vermilion 
 

MOTION 13-07-512 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Flett 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 902-13 being a local 
improvement tax for Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk on 48 Avenue–
52 Street to 53 Street, and 53 Street–48 Avenue to River Road 
for Plan 2938RS, Lots 2 & 3, Block 6, Lots 1, 2, 16, 17 & 18, 
Block 7, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6, Block 10, Lots 2, 6 & 7, Block 11, 
and Plan 7822018, Lots 24, 25 & 26, Block 11 in the Hamlet of 
Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-513 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 902-13 being a local 
improvement tax for Curb, Gutter and Sidewalk on 48 Avenue–
52 Street to 53 Street, and 53 Street–48 Avenue to River Road 
for Plan 2938RS, Lots 2 & 3, Block 6, Lots 1, 2, 16, 17 & 18, 
Block 7, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6, Block 10, Lots 2, 6 & 7, Block 11, 
and Plan 7822018, Lots 24, 25 & 26, Block 11 in the Hamlet of 
Fort Vermilion. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 12. e) Financial Reports – January 1 – June 30, 2013 
 

22



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 15 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

MOTION 13-07-514 
Requires 2/3 

MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That the financial reports for the period, January 1 – June 30, 
2013, be accepted for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 
 

4. b) Alberta Health Services – 2:00 p.m. 
 

 
 

Sue Conroy, Senior Vice President of EMS and Health Link 
Alberta and Dr. Mark Mackenzie made a presentation 
regarding the Alberta Air Ambulance Service Delivery Model 
Improvements.  
 

 Deputy Reeve Sarapuk recessed the meeting at 2:59 p.m. and 
reconvened the meeting at 3:07 p.m. 
 

ADMINISTRATION: 
 

13. a) Council Meeting Dates 
 

MOTION 13-07-515 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That the November 12, 2013 regular Council meeting be 
changed to October 30, 2013. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-516 MOVED by Councillor Flett 
 
That the following 2014 budget meeting dates be scheduled to 
begin at 10:00 a.m. in the Fort Vermilion Council Chambers: 

• Tuesday, October 29, 2013 – Pre-Budget Workshop 
• Monday, November 18, 2013 – Special Council 

(Budget) Meeting 
• Wednesday, December 18, 2013 – Special Council 

(Budget) Meeting 
 
CARRIED 
 

 13. b) Disaster Emergency Management Review 
 

MOTION 13-07-517 MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That a disaster emergency planning workshop be set for 
August 12, 2013 at 9:00 a.m. in the Fort Vermilion Council 
Chambers. 
 

23



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 16 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

CARRIED 
 

 13. c) Agricultural Land Use Planning 
 

MOTION 13-07-518 MOVED by Councillor J. Driedger 
 
That a letter be sent to Alberta Environment and Sustainable 
Resource Development expressing the County’s continuing 
interest in the agricultural land expansion West of High Level 
and how it corresponds with the County’s economic 
development and sustainability plans. 
 
CARRIED 
 

MOTION 13-07-519 MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That the County requests letters of support from the Towns of 
High Level and Rainbow Lake for the future agricultural land 
expansion West of High Level. 
 
CARRIED 
 

INFORMATION/ 
CORRESPONDENCE: 
 

14. a) Information/Correspondence 

MOTION 13-07-520 MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That Council submit a request to the Minister of Health to issue 
a formal directive to Alberta Health Services to reassess and 
reconsider the proposed new air ambulance model, and that 
the Health Quality Council of Alberta be involved in this review. 
 
CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY 
 

MOTION 13-07-521 MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That the information/correspondence items be accepted for 
information purposes. 
 
CARRIED 
 

IN-CAMERA SESSION: 
 

 

MOTION 13-07-522 MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That Council move in-camera to discuss issues under the 

24



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 17 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Regulations 
18 (1) at 3:30 p.m. 
 15. a) Legal 
 15. b) Labour 
 15. c) Land 
 
CARRIED 
 

 Councillor J. Driedger left the meeting at 3:37 p.m. 
 

MOTION 13-07-523 MOVED by Councillor D. Driedger 
 
That Council move out of camera at 3:59 p.m. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 15. a) Legal – La Crete Airport – Terminal Lease 
 

MOTION 13-07-524 
 

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That administration be authorized to proceed with the counter-
offer for the La Crete Airport terminal lease as discussed. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 
 

15. b) Labour – Mackenzie Applied Research Association 
 

MOTION 13-07-525 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That the proposal by the Mackenzie Applied Research 
Association be researched by administration and brought back 
to the next meeting. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 15. a) Legal – Regional Service Sharing Agreement 
 

MOTION 13-07-526 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That the Regional Service Sharing Agreement be accepted for 
information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

 15. a) Legal – Insurance Claims Update 
 

25



MACKENZIE COUNTY  Page 18 of 18 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 
Tuesday, July 16, 2013 

 
________ 

________ 

MOTION 13-07-527 
 

MOVED by Councillor Jorgensen 
 
That the insurance claims update be accepted for information. 
 
CARRIED 
 

NEXT MEETING 
DATE: 
 

16. a)  Regular Council Meeting 
  Monday, August 12, 2013 
  10:00 a.m. 
  Fort Vermilion Council Chambers 
 

ADJOURNMENT: 17. a) Adjournment 
 

MOTION 13-07-528 
 

MOVED by Councillor Braun 
 
That the Council meeting be adjourned at 4:02 p.m. 
 
CARRIED 
 

These minutes will be presented to Council for approval on August 12, 2013. 
 
 
   
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 

 Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 

26



Agenda Item # 5. a)  
 

Author: C. Gabriel Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Joulia Whittleton, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  CAO Report 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The CAO and Director reports are attached for information. 
 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
 
 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
 
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That the CAO report for July 2013 be accepted for information. 
 
 

27



MONTHLY REPORT TO THE CAO 
 
For the month of July 2013 
 
From: Alison Kilpatrick 
 Director of Corporate Services 
 
Annual Operating Programs, Projects and Activities 

Program/Activity/Project Timeline Comments 

Local improvement bylaws July, 2013 2nd and 3rd readings 

Inventory record keeping August, 2013 In progress. 
Internal Controls Ongoing Assessment and improvement will be 

an ongoing project. 2014 objectives 
include cross-training, variance 
analysis, fuel accounting. 

FV office flood incident July, 2013ff Liaise with insurance adjuster re: this 
claim and LC well pump fire; liaise with 
restoration contractors for FV office. 

2012 grants reporting July – August In progress 
2013 grants applications July – Sept. In progress 

2014 budget Sept. – April Planning and scheduling 
 
Capital Projects 

Projects Timeline Comments 

Analytical support to capital 
budgeting, expenditure, and 
reporting processes. 

Spring – Fall Reporting requirements to provincial 
government. 

La Crete lagoon upgrade July – August Financial analysis for grant funding, 
and borrowing bylaw 

 
Personnel Update: 

Cross-training program ongoing. Vacation planning and coverage of positions. 
 
Other Comments: 

Management of insurance claims, about 40 hours. 
 

28



Monthly Report to CAO 
 
For the month of July 2013 
 
From:  William (Bill) Kostiw 

Director of Infrastructure Development and Government Relations 
 
 

This report is a brief overview of projects and matters I have been working on as well 
future developments. 
 
A) Highway 88 Base/Pave Project 
 

This project is struggling mostly because of weather but also engineering.  
Perhaps someone should call the deputy or Gabe.  The project may not get 
completed this fall unless a substantial effort is made. 

 
B) Zama Access 
 

This project is complete and warranty is in effect until 2015.  No plans at this time 
to continue the project as government grants are hard to obtain.  We will also 
apply dust control in late August at key locations. 

 
C) Highway 88 Connector Base Paving 
 

a) Phase I is substantially complete, construction completion Inspection is 
set for August 13, 2013 @ 8:30 am. 

 
b) Phase II grading has started and gravel base is scheduled for late August 

2013.  Asphalt is scheduled for late September 2013. 
 
D) La Crete North (River Road) 
 

This project was sent out for proposals and will close August 12, 2103 at 1:00 
pm.  Lots of community comment on this project as to chip seal vs. A.C.P. 

 
E) Spruce Road Drainage 
 

This is an ASB project and is scheduled for construction in September 2013. 
 

F) Blue Hills Re-Grade & Culverts 
 

This project is under way and should be complete by September 1, 2013. 
 
G) La Crete West Culvert (Emergency) 
 

This culvert was seriously eroded and the roadway was giving way which was a 
serious situation.  The contractor was able to move in quickly and install new 
culverts and rebuild the grade.  Project should be complete by August 12, 2013. 

 

29



 
H) Rocky Lane Road Reconstruction 
 

This project is well underway and construction should be complete by September 
1, 2013.  There was excellent cooperation from Beaver First Nation. 

 
I) La Crete 101 St. Base Pave Project & 105 Ave.  
  

This project is underway but moving slow due to weather and engineering.  The 
engineering and design was poorly put together and we will have a frank 
discussion with our consultants.  Project completion is scheduled for mid 
September 2013. 

 
J) Fort Vermilion 53 Ave Base Paving 
 

Construction will commence the week of August 12, 2013 and the project should 
be complete by late September 2013. 

 
K) High Level East Water Management 
 

This project has struggled especially with erosion from the spring runoff, again 
engineering and design was far too complicated and caused some of the erosion 
problems.  We are currently negotiating with the Bushe First Nations and the 
contractor to get the project completed. 

 
L) Emergency Flood Repairs 
 
 This project is still under review and will be finalized in the next month or so. 
 
M) Drainage and Conservation Master Plan 
 

This RFP closes August 12, 2013 and the intent is for the Public Works 
Committee or New Lands Committee to review and recommend to you or 
council. 

 
In summary, we have successfully completed several large projects and the balance of 
our budgeted projects will be completed as expeditiously as possible.  Projects that are 
still to be attended to are the Caribou Study, the road to Fort Nelson, Rural Water, Land 
Use Framework Plan, regional water, Ag Canada Research Station, etc. 
 
To conclude I would be pleased to answer questions or provide more information where 
possible. 

30



MONTHLY REPORT TO THE CAO 
 
For the Month of July, 2013 
 
From: John Klassen 

Director of Environmental Services & Operations 
 
 
Annual Operating Programs, Projects and Activities 
 
Program/Activity/Project Timeline Comments 
Road Maintenance  Ongoing -Repairing washout areas. 

Crack Sealing July Completed 

Line Painting July Currently in progress. 

Dust Control June Completed; 
 
60-Paid applications. 
32-Senior applications plus the Hamlet and 
school zones. 
 
2012 numbers were: 
45-Paid applications 
30-Seniors 
 

Strategic Priorities Ongoing 1) Hamlet Road Priorities Program – 
Currently being revised to match the 
Counties long term plan. 

2) Private Road Transfer Policy – Sept 
2013. 

3) Rural Water Line Research Paper – 
PW’s Committee requested a meeting 
with a consultant. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



Capital Projects 
 
Projects Timeline Comments 
Bridge Repairs Summer 

2013 
Working with consultant to develop bridge 
tenders currently in the 2013 budget 

La Crete Street Projects Summer 
2013 

Underground work completed and base work 
in progress. 

Zama water & sewer 
upgrade projects 

2013 -Provincial funding was not approved.  
-The distribution meter has failed at the Zama 
pump house and we need to move forward 
with one component of the project which is 
installing a length of header pipe and a new 
meter the estimate to do this is $63,000 
We will fund this component of the project 
from Municipal dollars that are currently 
allocated to the project.  

88 Connector October 
2012 

Phase I – Construction underway 
Phase II – Tender awarded and construction 
has commenced.  

La Crete Lagoon Upgrade 2012/2013 In Progress.  

FV-50th Street Water & 
Sewer Project 

Summer 
2013 

Local improvement bylaw complete for the 
43rd Ave portion. 
50th St options to be included in the 2014 
budget. 

 
 
 
Personnel Update: 
The Public Works Admin Assistant position for La Crete has been filled and the 
successful candidate is Sarah Martens. 
 
 
Other Comments: 
 

 

32



MONTHLY REPORT TO THE CAO 
 
For the month of July 2013 
 
From: Byron Peters 

Director of Planning & Development 
 
 
Strategic Priorities for Planning & Development 
 
Program/Activity/Project Timeline Comments 
Land Use Framework 
position paper 

May 
2013 

We endorsed the position paper, MMSA is still 
getting comments back from other 
municipalities 

Area Structure Plans July 
2013  

4 of 7 are complete. See RFD. Final three 
should be completed by end of August 

Business License Bylaw  Summer 
2013 

Bylaw approved, finalizing game plan for 
implementation 

Community Investment 
Readiness package 

Fall 2013 Will begin this once we have more business 
info to work from 

 
Annual Operating Programs, Projects and Activities 
 
Program/Activity/Project Timeline Comments 
Leap frog development & 
business incentives 

April 
2013 

Have compiled info on these topics, need to 
be further evaluated and bring forward a 
recommendation to incorporate the changes 
into policies/bylaws 

Development Agreements  Summer 
2013 

Need to review, revise and implement new 
DA’s. 

Antenna System Siting 
Protocol 

Fall 2013 Need to review and edit entire protocol 

Land Use Bylaw 
review/update 

Fall 2013 Will need to thoroughly review and amend 
after the ASP’s are approved 

 
 
 
 
 
 

33



Capital Projects 
 
Projects Timeline Comments 
Community Infrastructure 
Master Plans 

Winter 
2013 

DCL has received most data, has started 
building models, traffic counts completed, 
sewer flow info completed 

Rural Addressing 2013 Have completed the grid for the addressing, 
now need to go through the process of 
assigning addresses  

Airport Vicinity Protection 
Area 

August 
2013 

Draft completed. Will be presented to Council 
at August 26th meeting 

 
 
 
Personnel Update: 
Are fully staffed, for the first time. One full time position is currently filled by a summer 
staff, have good candidates to fill the position. 
 
 
Other Comments: 
Dimestore Fishermen will be coming up again in mid-August, working on details for this 
trip. 
 
 
 

34



Agenda Item # 7. a) 
 

 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning & Development 

Title: 

PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 907-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application to 
Rezone Part of NW 9-104-15-W5M from Mobile Home 
Subdivision ‘MHS1’ to Hamlet Residential 1B ‘HR1B’ (La 
Crete) 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Bylaw 907-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to rezone Part of NW 9-104-15-
W5M from Mobile Home Subdivision ‘MHS1’ to Hamlet Residential 1B ‘HR1B’ in the 
Hamlet of La Crete, received first reading at the June 26, 2013 Council meeting.  
 
On May 22, 2013, Administration received a Land Use Bylaw amendment application 
from Vangard Realty Ltd. requesting to rezone Part of NW 9-104-15-W5M (within La 
Crete) from Mobile Home Subdivision 1 “MHS1” to Hamlet Residential 1B “HR1B’ in 
order to allow for the development of stick built homes.   
 
The proposed area is in a part of town that is surrounded by both manufactured homes 
and stick built dwellings. Vangard Realty originally developed this area for Manufactured 
Homes. The company has developed many neighborhoods of this type and now with 
the current economy; Vangard feels that they can sell more Hamlet Residential lots than 
Manufactured Homes as the initial cost of a mobile home has risen substantially. (See 
Attached letter) 
 
Directly north of the proposed area it is zoned for stick built houses, directly south there 
is already two large areas full of manufactured homes with a large designated spot to 
the north and more to the east.  
 
In reviewing the current layout of the existing development zoning of the surrounding 
area, the Planning Department does not see any issues with the requested proposal. 
However, there is a concern with the current developed, but not registered Phase 7 lots. 

35



 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

If this area is rezoned, then the tentative plan will have to be revised increasing the 
minimum required Mobile Home lot width of 20 meters to the required minimum Hamlet 
Residential lot width of 22 meters. This could cause problems with the installed 
infrastructure.   Administration contacted the engineering company to see if increasing 
the lot width after the infrastructure has been installed would be possible.  No word has 
been received back as of yet.  
 
Bylaw 8__-13 was presented to the Municipal Planning Commission (MPC) at their 
June 6, 2013 meeting where the following motion was made: 
 

That the Municipal Planning Commission recommendation to Council for 
Approval of  Bylaw 8__-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to rezone Part 
of NW 9-104-15-W5M from Mobile Home Subdivision ‘MHS1’ to Hamlet 
Residential 1B ‘HR1B’. 

 
Bylaw number 907-13 has since been assigned to this application.  
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
MOTION 1 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 907-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to 
rezone Part of NW 9-104-15-W5M from Mobile Home Subdivision ‘MHS1’ to Hamlet 
Residential 1B ‘HR1B’ in the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 
MOTION 2 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 907-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to 
rezone Part of NW 9-104-15-W5M from Mobile Home Subdivision ‘MHS1’ to Hamlet 
Residential 1B ‘HR1B’ in the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 

36



 1 

Mackenzie County 
 

PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 

BYLAW 907-13 
 

Order of Presentation 
 
 

  This Public Hearing will now come to order at    . 
 
  Was the Public Hearing properly advertised? 
 
  Will the Development Authority    , please outline  

the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his 
submission. 

 
  Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use 

Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment?  If yes, please read them. 
 

  Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the 
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s) 
making their presentation? 
 

  This Hearing is now closed at    . 
 
 
REMARKS/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\eva\council\pubhear.doc 

37



BYLAW NO. 907-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO AMEND THE 
MACKENZIE COUNTY LAND USE BYLAW 

 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has a Municipal Development Plan adopted in 2009, and 
 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has adopted the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw in 
2004, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
desirable to amend the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw to accommodate Stick Built 
Homes.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as: 
 
Part of NW 9-106-15-W5M  

 
within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Mobile Home Subdivision 1 
“MHS1” to Hamlet Residential 1B “HR1B”, as outlined in Schedule “A” hereto 
attached.  

 
READ a first time this 26th day of June, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 

 
 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

38



BYLAW No. 907-13 
 

SCHEDULE “A” 
 

1. That the land use designation of the following property known as: 
 

Part of NW 9-106-15-W5M  
 

within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Mobile Home Subdivision 1 “MHS1” 
to Hamlet Residential 1B “HR1B”, to accommodate Stick Built Homes.  

 
 

 

 
 
 
FROM: Mobile Home Subdivision 1 “MHS1” 
 
TO:  Hamlet Residential 1B “HR1B” 
 

39



40



41



42



43



BYLAW 907-13 

 
File No. Bylaw 907-13         NOT TO SCALE 

Disclaimer 
Information on this map is provided solely for the user’s information and, 
While thought to be accurate, is provided strictly “as is” and without 
warranty of any kind, either express or implied.  
 
The County, its agents, employees or contractors will not be liable for any 
Damages, direct or indirect, or lost profits or data arising out of the use of  
information provided on this map. 

44



BYLAW 907-13 

 
File No. Bylaw 907-13         NOT TO SCALE 

Disclaimer 
Information on this map is provided solely for the user’s information and, 
While thought to be accurate, is provided strictly “as is” and without 
warranty of any kind, either express or implied.  
 
The County, its agents, employees or contractors will not be liable for any 
Damages, direct or indirect, or lost profits or data arising out of the use of  
information provided on this map. 

45



46



Agenda Item # 7. b) 

 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by:   CAO  

 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning and Development 

Title: 

PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 910-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application to 
Rezone Plan 992 0893, Block 1, Lot 1 (9310-94st Street) from 
Hamlet County Residential 2 (HCR2) to Public/Institutional (P) 
(Hamlet of La Crete) 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Bylaw 910-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment  to rezone Plan 992 0893 ; 
Block 1; Lot 1 from Hamlet Country Residential 2 (HCR2) to Public/Institutional  (P), 
in order to accommodate the development of a school within the Hamlet of La Crete, 
received first reading at the July 16, 2013 Council meeting.  
 
The Planning and Development Department has received a Land Use Bylaw 
Amendment Application to rezone Plan 992 0893; Block 1; Lot 1 from Hamlet Country 
Residential 2 (HCR2) to Public/Institutional (P) in order to allow for the development of a 
school.  The current property zoning, Hamlet Country Residential 2 “HCR2” does not 
allow for a school as either a permitted or a discretionary use. 
 
On February 12, 2013 , Bylaw 879-12 being a Land Use Bylaw amendment 
request to rezone Plan 092 0458; Block 6; Lot 1 from Hamlet Country Residential 
2 (HCR2) to Public/Institutional (P) in order to allow for the development of a 
school had been approved by Council.  The location of this rezoning is within the 
same area as this new bylaw request and for the same school development. 
 
When the applicant went to finalize the deal for the land, they ran into troubles 
with the landowner. The deal fell through and they will not be purchasing the land. 
After some inquires, they made an offer on the above subject land not far from 
the original rezoning. The current land owner has signed the Land Use Bylaw 
application and is aware of what the applicant is requesting . 

47



 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by: B. Peters CAO  
 

 
Previous Background History 
 
On October 25, 2012, Development Permit 246-DP-12 was issued by the 
Municipal Planning Commission, for a Public Use (School) on a temporary 
basis until the applicants could find a permanent location to build a new school. 
 
In accordance to the Subdivision and Development Regulations, a school shall not 
be located within 300 meters of a Wastewater treatment facility or 450 meters from 
a Landfill or waste site, 300 meters from the disposal area of an operating or non- 
operating landfill, 450 meters of the disposal area of a non-operating hazardous 
waste management facility, or 300 meters of the working area of an operating 
storage site. 
 
This new location meets these requirements . 
 
The School traffic would access from 94th Street and be required to provide 
fencing alone 94th Avenue. 
 
Pending on public input, the Planning and Development Department sees no 
issues or concerns with this proposal. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
Costs will be borne by the Applicant 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
MOTION 1  
That second reading be given to Bylaw 910-13, being a Land Use Bylaw 
amendment to rezone Plan 992 0893; Block 1; Lot 1 from Hamlet Country 
Residential 2 (HCR2) to Public/Institutional (P). 
 
MOTION 2  
That third reading be given to Bylaw 910-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment 
to rezone Plan 992 0893; Block 1; Lot 1 from Hamlet Country Residential 2 (HCR2) 
to Public/Institutional (P). 
 

48



 1 

Mackenzie County 
 

PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 

BYLAW 910-13 
 

Order of Presentation 
 
 

  This Public Hearing will now come to order at    . 
 
  Was the Public Hearing properly advertised? 
 
  Will the Development Authority    , please outline  

the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his 
submission. 

 
  Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use 

Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment?  If yes, please read them. 
 

  Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the 
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s) 
making their presentation? 
 

  This Hearing is now closed at    . 
 
 
REMARKS/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\eva\council\pubhear.doc 

49



50



BYLAW NO. 910-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO AMEND THE 
MACKENZIE COUNTY LAND USE BYLAW 

 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has a Municipal Development Plan adopted in 2009, and 
 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has adopted the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw in 
2004, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
desirable to amend the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw to accommodate a school.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as: 
 
Plan 992 0893, Block 1, Lot 1 (9310-94 Street) 

 
 be rezoned from Hamlet Country Residential 2 “HCR2” to Public/Institutional “P”, 
as outlined in Schedule “A” hereto attached.  

 
READ a first time this 16th day of July, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 

 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 

51



BYLAW No. 910-13 
 

SCHEDULE “A” 
 

1. That the land use designation of the following property known as: 
 

Plan 992 0893, Block 1, Lot 1 (9310-94 Street) 
 

within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Hamlet Country Residential 2 
“HCR2” to Public/Institutional “P”, to accommodate a School.  

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
FROM: Hamlet Country Residential District 2 “HCR2” 
 
TO:  Public/Institutional “P” 
 

52



53



BYLAW 910-13   

APPLICATION  

 
Bylaw No. 910-13         NOT TO SCALE 

 
 
 
Disclaimer 
Information on this map is provided solely for the user’s information and, 
While thought to be accurate, is provided strictly “as is” and without 
warranty of any kind, either express or implied.  
 
The County, its agents, employees or contractors will not be liable for any 
Damages, direct or indirect, or lost profits or data arising out of the use of  
information provided on this map. 

54



BYLAW 910-13 LOCATION MAP 

 
File No. 910-13         NOT TO SCALE 

 
 
 
Disclaimer 
Information on this map is provided solely for the user’s information and, 
While thought to be accurate, is provided strictly “as is” and without 
warranty of any kind, either express or implied.  
 
The County, its agents, employees or contractors will not be liable for any 
Damages, direct or indirect, or lost profits or data arising out of the use of  
information provided on this map. 

55



56



Agenda Item # 7. c) 
 

 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning & Development 

Title: 
PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 906-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application to 
Rezone Plan 982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4 from Hamlet 
Commercial 2 ‘HC2’ to Hamlet Industrial 2 ‘HI2’  (La Crete) 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Bylaw 906-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to rezone Plan 982 5602, Block 19, 
Lot 4 from Hamlet Commercial 2 ‘HC2’ to Hamlet Industrial 2 ‘HI2’ in the Hamlet of La 
Crete, received first reading at the June 26, 2013 Council meeting.  
 
In the end of April, it came to the attention of the Planning Department that the UFA 
Fertilizer Storing and Retail business recently underwent major renovations.  This type 
of development requires a development permit. Administration contacted UFA and a 
Development Permit was received (after the renovations were complete).  

 
Planning Staff reviewed the application and determined that it could not be accepted as 
the type of development they were asking for and currently are conducting is not 
allowed in a Hamlet Commercial 2 District.  
 
A letter was sent to UFA informing them of the situation and that they would need to 
apply for a re-zoning. (See Attached).  
 
The applicant is requesting to rezone from Hamlet Commercial 2 “HC2” to Hamlet 
Industrial 2 “HI2” which allows Bulk Fertilizer and Storage and/or Sales as a 
Discretionary Use.  
 
The Planning Department does not foresee any issues or concerns with the proposal as 
the subject lot is surrounded on two sides with Hamlet Industrial 2 District, on the east 
and the south. In actual, rezoning this lot will square up the zoning lines with 105th Ave 
as a dividing line between Industrial Uses and Commercial Uses.   

57



 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 
Bylaw 8__-13 was presented to the Municipal Planning Commission (MPC) at their 
June 6, 2013 meeting where the following motion was made: 
 

That the Municipal Planning Commission recommendation to Council for 
Approval of  Bylaw 8__-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to rezone Plan 
982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4 from Hamlet Commercial 2 ‘HC2’ to Hamlet Industrial 2 
‘HI2’, subject to a Public Hearing. 

 
Bylaw number 906-13 has since been assigned to this application.  
 
 
OPTIONS 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
All costs will be borne by the applicant. 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
MOTION 1 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 906-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to 
rezone Plan 982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4 from Hamlet Commercial 2 ‘HC2’ to Hamlet 
Industrial 2 ‘HI2’ in the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 
MOTION 2 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 906-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to 
rezone Plan 982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4 from Hamlet Commercial 2 ‘HC2’ to Hamlet 
Industrial 2 ‘HI2’ in the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 

58



 1 

Mackenzie County 
 

PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 

BYLAW 906-13 
 

Order of Presentation 
 
 

  This Public Hearing will now come to order at    . 
 
  Was the Public Hearing properly advertised? 
 
  Will the Development Authority    , please outline  

the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his 
submission. 

 
  Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use 

Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment?  If yes, please read them. 
 

  Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the 
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s) 
making their presentation? 
 

  This Hearing is now closed at    . 
 
 
REMARKS/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\eva\council\pubhear.doc 

59



60



BYLAW NO. 906-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO AMEND THE 
MACKENZIE COUNTY LAND USE BYLAW 

 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has a Municipal Development Plan adopted in 2009, and 
 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has adopted the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw in 
2004, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
desirable to amend the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw to accommodate Stick Built 
Homes.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as: 
 
Plan 982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4 

 
within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Hamlet Commercial 2 “HC2” to 
Hamlet Industrial 2 “HI2”, as outlined in Schedule “A” hereto attached.  

 
 
READ a first time this 26th day of June, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 

 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

61



BYLAW No. 906-13 
 

SCHEDULE “A” 
 

1. That the land use designation of the following property known as: 
 

Plan 982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4 (10302 – 99th Street) 
 

within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Hamlet Commercial 2 “HC2” to 
Hamlet Industrial 2 “HI2”, to accommodate an existing industrial type development.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
FROM: Hamlet Commercial 2 “HC2” 
 
TO:  Hamlet Industrial 2 “HI2” 
 

62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



BYLAW 906-13 

 
 

 
File No. Bylaw 906-13         NOT TO SCALE 

 
 
 
Disclaimer 
Information on this map is provided solely for the user’s information and, 
While thought to be accurate, is provided strictly “as is” and without 
warranty of any kind, either express or implied.  
 
The County, its agents, employees or contractors will not be liable for any 
Damages, direct or indirect, or lost profits or data arising out of the use of  
information provided on this map. 

72



BYLAW 906-13 

 
File No. Bylaw 906-13         NOT TO SCALE 

 
 
 
Disclaimer 
Information on this map is provided solely for the user’s information and, 
While thought to be accurate, is provided strictly “as is” and without 
warranty of any kind, either express or implied.  
 
The County, its agents, employees or contractors will not be liable for any 
Damages, direct or indirect, or lost profits or data arising out of the use of  
information provided on this map. 

73



74



Agenda Item # 7. d) 
 

 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:   CAO  

 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning and Development 

Title: PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 894-13 Hamlet of Fort Vermilion Area Structure Plan  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Area Structure Plans have progressed well, and input has been received from both 
Council and the public. The input received has been incorporated into the ASPs, 
creating a comprehensive 20 year planning document that reflects the desires of the 
community while directing the growth of the community based on current planning 
principles. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
To implement an updated direction of hamlet growth planning for Fort Vermilion. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
There are no additional costs involved with adopting the ASPs, however there may be 
additional costs incurred in future budgets to implement some of the strategies.   
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
The public hearings were advertised in the local papers, progress updates have been 
included in the County Image, and notifications were posted on Facebook. Planning 
staff will communicate the changes to developers as they come in. 
 

75



 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:   CAO  
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion 1 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 894-13 being the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion Area 
Structure Plan. 
 
Motion 2 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 894-13 being the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion Area 
Structure Plan. 

76



 1 

Mackenzie County 
 

PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 

BYLAW 894-13 
 

Order of Presentation 
 
 

  This Public Hearing will now come to order at    . 
 
  Was the Public Hearing properly advertised? 
 
  Will the Development Authority    , please outline  

the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his 
submission. 

 
  Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use 

Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment?  If yes, please read them. 
 

  Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the 
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s) 
making their presentation? 
 

  This Hearing is now closed at    . 
 
 
REMARKS/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\eva\council\pubhear.doc 

77



BYLAW NO. 894-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO ENACT THE 
HAMLET OF FORT VERMILION AREA STRUCTURE PLAN 

 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act provides that a Council may adopt an area 
structure plan, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
advisable to update the Area Structure Plan for all land within the designated boundary of 
the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion to provide for the orderly development of the community 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the following: 
 

i) Bylaw No. 012/95 and Bylaw No. 537/05, Hamlet of Fort Vermilion Area 
Structure Plan are hereby rescinded. 
 

ii) That the attached Area Structure Plan, effecting the land within the 
corporate boundary of the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion, be designated as the 
Fort Vermilion Area Structure Plan. 

 
 
READ a first time this 24th day of April, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this _____ day of _________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this _____ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 

 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 

78



 Final Draft 

   

  

 

 

 

16/07/2013 

1102‐01‐00
79



  
  Final Draft 

 
 
i 

Contents 
1  Purpose and Scope .................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1  Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2  Background Report ............................................................................................................... 1 

1.3  Mackenzie County Municipal Development Plan (2009) ..................................................... 3 

1.4  Community Consultation ...................................................................................................... 4 

2  Creating a Vision ....................................................................................................................... 5 

2.1  Land Use Concept ................................................................................................................. 6 

2.2  Land Use Distribution ........................................................................................................... 8 

3  Achieving the Vision .................................................................................................................. 9 

3.1  General Development Policies ............................................................................................. 9 

3.2  Historical Resource Policies ................................................................................................ 10 

3.3  Hamlet Residential Area Policies ........................................................................................ 11 

3.4  Commercial Development Areas ........................................................................................ 12 

3.5  Light Industrial Development ............................................................................................. 14 

3.6  Open Space Development Policies ..................................................................................... 15 

3.7  Institutional and Community Services Policies ................................................................... 17 

3.8  Servicing Policies ................................................................................................................ 18 

3.9  Roads and Access Policies .................................................................................................. 19 

4  Making it Work ....................................................................................................................... 20 

4.1  Tourism Strategy Actions.................................................................................................... 20 

4.2  Planning Processes ............................................................................................................. 21 

4.3  Development Sequence ..................................................................................................... 21 

5  Maps and Diagrams ................................................................................................................. 22 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

80



  
  Final Draft 

 
 
ii 

Tables 
Table 1 Land Use Statistics ............................................................................................................................ 8 

Table 2 Unit and Population Estimates ......................................................................................................... 8 

 
 

Figures 
Figure 1 Location ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

Figure 2 Land Use Concept ........................................................................................................................... 7 

Figure 3 Plan Boundaries ............................................................................................................................ 23 

Figure 4 Man Made Constraints.................................................................................................................. 24 

Figure 5 Environmental Considerations ...................................................................................................... 25 

Figure 6 Parks and Open Space ................................................................................................................... 26 

Figure 7 Roads and Access .......................................................................................................................... 27 

Figure 8 Water ............................................................................................................................................ 28 

Figure 9 Sanitary ......................................................................................................................................... 29 

Figure 10 Stormwater ................................................................................................................................. 30 

Figure 11 Development Staging .................................................................................................................. 31 

81



 
  Final Draft   

 
 
1 

1 Purpose and Scope 
This Area Structure Plan (Plan) has been prepared for the hamlet of Fort Vermilion at the request 
of Mackenzie County (County), a Specialized Municipality with both urban and rural areas within 
its jurisdiction.    

1.1 Introduction 
As one of the oldest settlements in Alberta Fort Vermilion has an abundant history reflected in its 
built form and historically significant buildings and sites.  Growth scenarios indicate that within 
the next 20 years, Fort Vermilion is unlikely to see a substantial population increase.  However, if 
industrial lands being planned to the south of the community along Highway 88 prove attractive 
to employers, the hamlet could see considerable growth.  The Plan provides a framework for 
future subdivision, servicing, and development that builds on the existing community strengths to 
create an urban environment that provides a high quality of residential, employment and 
recreational opportunities.    

The Plan is primarily based on policy direction from the Municipal Development Plan Bylaw 735‐
09.  It sets out a vision and specifies actions and policies needed to achieve that vision based on 
the requirements of the Municipal Government Act (MGA).  The MGA requires an Area Structure 
Plan to identify: 

• Sequence of development for the plan area; 

• Land uses proposed, either generally or with respect to specific parts of the area;  

• Density of population proposed either generally or with respect to specific areas; 

• General location of major transportation routes and public utilities; and, 

• Other matters council considers necessary. 

Area structure plans are long‐term “living documents.”  As the land use, socio‐demographic and 
economic context changes it is not uncommon for plans to be reviewed and amended.  Despite 
such changes, the vision of this Plan should remain consistent.   However, it is anticipated that 
more detailed components may be amended in accordance with hamlet and County needs on an 
ongoing basis. 

The policies and actions identified in this Plan are meant to influence the Mackenzie County Land 
Use Bylaw, development standards, neighbourhood area plans, subdivision design, and 
development approvals to ensure that the long term vision for growth determined by this process 
is achieved. 

1.2 Background Report 
Along with the Plan, a background report has been prepared.  This report contains most of the 
analysis undertaken to identify the vision, goals and policies for the Plan.  This includes a review of 
the planning context; an update of demographic considerations; review of existing land uses, 
natural features, facilities and infrastructure; and identification of opportunities associated with 
the same.   

82



83



 
  Final Draft   

 
 
3 

1.3 Mackenzie County Municipal Development Plan (2009) 

The Municipal Development Plan (MDP) defines the vision, principles, objectives, and policies of 
the County as well as objectives and policies for hamlets.  By doing so, a foundation for the 
preparation of more detailed land use plans within existing hamlets is established.     

1.3.1 Objectives for Hamlet Growth 

Expanding the role of hamlets as service centres for surrounding rural areas is a common theme 
throughout the MDP that can help achieve the vision for land uses in the County and identify a 
long term growth strategy for Fort Vermilion. 

Key objectives expressed in the MDP that provide a foundation for growth in Fort Vermilion 
include: 

• Plan for a positive growth rate; 

• Promote orderly and economic growth; 

• Provide a variety of housing types; 

• Plan for future subdivision and development of residential areas; 

• Facilitate growth of commercial and industrial areas; 

• Provide institutional, recreational, and cultural opportunities; 

• Optimize the use of existing services and infrastructure; and, 

• Strengthen the long term viability of Fort Vermilion. 

1.3.2 Policies Specific to Growth in Fort Vermilion 

Key policies in the MDP that outline a long term growth strategy for Fort Vermilion include: 

• Develop in accordance with the MDP; 

• Preserve and promote historically significant buildings and support local initiatives that 
promote Fort Vermilion’s heritage; 

• Prepare a comprehensive plan for the existing Nature Trail that provides access to natural 
areas and connects to other community amenities; 

• Development within the floodplain shall be approved by a professional engineer or 
architect and consider specific factors in the design; 

• A restrictive covenant must be registered against properties in the floodplain as a 
condition of subdivision or development approval to hold the municipality harmless from 
any damage or loss occurring as a result of flooding; and, 

• The County may prepare a study to determine the need and cost for the construction of a 
dike/levee from River Road to the Fort Vermilion aerodrome along Peace River. 

   

84



 
  Final Draft   

 
 
4 

1.4 Community Consultation 

Community consultation forms the cornerstone of the vision, policies and actions identified in the 
Plan.  Early stakeholder consultation in Fort Vermilion helped focus the direction of this plan, 
while a public open house ensured wider input into the Plan’s vision, policies and concepts.  
Results of this consultation can be found in the background report for this plan. 

1.4.1 Early stakeholder consultation 

• Low key character; more development would be good if in character.  
• History sets the community apart and creates tourism opportunities. 
• Business areas could be improved with character of commercial buildings. 
• Recreational opportunity to develop more trails. 
• Industrial development should go near top of hill by Highway 88. 
• There are infill opportunities in the downtown. 
• Heavy traffic commercial uses should locate on hwy 88. 
• Consider development of a pioneer village, camping facilities, and information centre. 
• Residential growth opportunity at top of hill that already has services. 
• Wayfinding signage would be useful as well as interpretive signage/historic. 
• Determine the role of the river in town.  The river has value for tourism, community 

recreational feature, and botanical significance.  
• Town is slow growing, but lots of historic character is a tourism opportunity. 
 

1.4.2 Public Open House 

A Public Open House was held on May 24th 2013, at the Fort Vermilion Community and Cultural 
Complex.  Key points recorded at the open house included: 

• The “Future Residential” area shown east along the Peace River is subject to flooding. 
• Concern over the pace of change. 
• Fort Vermilion originally was a place of industry, so growth is in keeping. 
• More people are needed to sustain community services. 
   

85



 
  Final Draft   

 
 
5 

2 Creating a Vision 
The County has prepared this Plan to clarify, communicate and deliver its vision for the future 
development and redevelopment of Fort Vermilion.  

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

In order to implement the vision, the Plan seeks to achieve specific objectives which are identified 
below.  These objectives recognize and build on the Fort Vermilion policies of the MDP. 

• Guide interim and long‐term growth in a deliberate manner that coordinates with 
infrastructure provision and facilitates a complementary land use mix; 

• Promote development of 50th Street and nearby areas of River Road as the commercial centre 
of Fort Vermilion, with consideration to the community’s history; 

• Encourage the identification and preservation of historic buildings and sites; 

• Recognize the changing needs of the community by allowing a range of housing choices, 
including multi‐family; 

• Protect significant natural areas, including the Peace River waterfront; and,  

• Support economic development and diversification. 

• New development should reflect the historic character and northern climate. 

As part of delivering these objectives, the Plan must be consistent with existing municipal, 
provincial, and federal policies, regulations and plans for the area.  To illustrate the intent of the 
Land Use Concept, plans for municipal services, roadways and staging have been prepared. 

 

In 20 years, Fort Vermilion  is envisioned  to be a quiet  community with a  rural character 

that celebrates its heritage as one of the oldest communities in Alberta and its connection 

to the Peace River in order to create tourism opportunities.  Fort Vermilion will serve as a 

commercial  and  cultural  centre  for  the  surrounding  community,  while  providing 

opportunities  for  all  ages  through  a  diversity  of  housing,  recreation  and  employment 

opportunities.  

86



 
  Final Draft   

 
 
6 

2.1  Land Use Concept 
The Land Use Concept integrates the natural and man‐made considerations of the Plan area with 
the needs of the community while meeting all relevant policy guides and regulatory requirements.   

The land use areas displayed in the Land Use Concept are conceptual.  They are intended to 
provide a broad road map for future development.  Further planning through Conceptual Schemes 
or Neighbourhood Area Structure Plans and Outline Plans may revise the designation and area of 
land uses.  Substantial deviations from this concept will require amendments to the Plan; 
however, if the intent of the concept is preserved amendments may not be necessary.   

The Land Use Concept recognizes the established development pattern within the existing hamlet, 
and integrates compatible and complementary land uses to create a complete community while 
maintaining a distinct rural hamlet character.   

Where the land use area identified in the Land Use Concept does not follow a property boundary, 
road or significant natural feature, or where there is uncertainty regarding the location of the 
boundary, the specific boundary location may be determined at the time of subdivision or 
development, through legal survey and/or supporting technical documents.  

   

87



88



 
  Final Draft   

 
 
8 

2.2 Land Use Distribution 

The tables below display the land use statistics for the 2033 Land Use Concept.  The design 
population exceeds population growth projections for the hamlet identified by this planning 
process.    This is in part due to already planned developments, existing vacant residential lands, 
and the Plan providing enough new residential land to entirely accommodate the high growth 
scenario.  This additional capacity recognizes that if the adjacent Fort Vermilion Industrial Park 
Area Structure Plan is adopted by Council and successfully develops, then there may be an 
increased demand for residential properties locally, in excess of historic growth rates. 

Table 1 Land Use Statistics 

  Area (ha)  % of NDA 

Gross Developable Area (excludes existing built area)  253.9   

     

Net Developable Area (NDA)    100% 

Future Residential  114.25  45% 

Residential  22.11  8.7% 

Industrial  15.8  6.2% 

Commercial  13.18  5.1% 

Open Space (assumed 10% GDA)  25.29  10% 

Stormwater Management Facilities (assumed 5% GDA)  12.64  5% 

Roads and Access (assumed 20% GDA)  50.63  20% 

 
Table 2 Unit and Population Estimates 

  Gross Area (ha)  Units/Gross ha  Units  People/Unit  Population 

Existing 
Residential  58.67  4.18  245  2.96  727 

New 
Residential  22.11  7.69  170  2.96  503 

Total  108.14  ‐  532  ‐  1230 

 
Note: these statistics are intended for discussion purposes and are subject to change. 

   

89



 
  Final Draft   

 
 
9 

3 Achieving the Vision 
This section sets out policies to guide development in a manner that can achieve the 20‐year 
vision for Fort Vermilion, as well as fulfill the requirements of the MGA. 

3.1 General Development Policies 

The following policies reflect the intent of the vision across the hamlet and also speak to 
development processes that can help ensure that the vision is implemented. 

All Areas 1. Development should strive to maintain the natural drainage pattern of the 
land to reduce impacts from development.   

All Areas 2. New multi‐lot development should be in accordance with a Conceptual 
Scheme (or Outline Plan or Neighbourhood Area Structure Plan).  

All Areas 3. No new country residential development should be permitted in the hamlet 
boundaries as this is an inefficient use of municipal services. 

All Areas 4. Developers should be encouraged to retain existing trees during design and 
development in order to maintain the rural character of Fort Vermilion. 

All Areas 5. New street networks should continue to expand the existing modified grid 
street pattern. 

All Areas 6. Conceptual Schemes, Neighbourhood Area Structure Plans or Outline Plans 
shall be generally consistent with the Land Use Concept; however: 

1. They may deviate from the Land Use Concept provided the objectives 
of this Plan are maintained. 

2. They may deviate from the Land Use Concept when a new site specific 
constraint is identified that requires a change. 

3. Amendments to this Plan may be required. 

All Areas 7. The planning area is considered to have high potential to contain 
archaeological, paleontological, Aboriginal traditional use and historic 
period resources.  A Historic Resource Impact Assessment may be required 
prior to development.  All development proposals should be referred to the 
Historic Resources Management Branch for review and will require an 
application for Historical Resources Act clearance. 

All Areas 8. Mackenzie County should require permanent development proposed within 
the 1:100 year Peace River floodplain to comply with those measures set out 
in the MDP. 

All Areas 9. Developers may be required to prepare an emergency plan as part of a 
subdivision, Conceptual Scheme or similar plan.  The emergency plan would 
address recommendations in the Fire Smart: Protecting Your Community 
from Wildfire manual published by Partners in Protection.     

90



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

10 

3.2 Historical Resource Policies 
Fort Vermilion is one of the oldest settlements in Alberta.  Accordingly, there are number of 
historic and archaeological resources that help lend the community its character.  The Old Bay 
House at 4405 River Road, including a 100 metre radius around the house, is a National Historic 
Site of Canada.  The Trapper’s Shack on the west corner of River Road and 50th Street is a 
Provincially Registered Historic Resource.  Alteration to these historic sites is regulated by the 
Historical Resources Act.  Development in the vicinity of these uses should reflect the historic 
character of these and other old buildings. 

Historic Resources 1. If the Historic Resource Management branch of Alberta Culture and 
Community Spirit requests that a Historical Resources Impact 
Assessment be conducted for a particular development the County 
should incorporate the results into future subdivision applications or 
amendments to this plan. 

 
Historic Resources 2. Development identified for Heritage Frontage Control should reflect 

the historic character of Fort Vermilion through building design and 
finishing materials on street‐facing walls as well as landscaping in 
areas between the building and a public street.   

 
   
Old Bay House  Trapper’s Shack 

91



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

11 

3.3 Hamlet Residential Area Policies 

The majority of residential lands are along River Road and west of 50th Street.  The predominant 
dwelling type in the Hamlet Residential Area is anticipated to be low density residential (i.e. single 
detached dwellings, duplexes, manufactured homes).  Variety in residential densities is 
encouraged in the vicinity of 50th Street and in other suitable locations (i.e. low‐rise apartment, 
triplexes, row houses).     

A new development is currently planned around the Fantasy North Golf Course, however the Plan 
also provides for a residential expansion area extending from the western end of 48th Avenue. 

 

Hamlet Residential A. Single‐family detached dwellings will be the primary development in 
the Hamlet Residential Area, however duplex and town‐houses are 
encouraged.  Similar low profile multiple unit developments are 
encouraged near the Town Centre Area. 

Hamlet Residential B. Design of residential developments should be contextual and take 
place in consideration of existing nearby development and adjacent 
uses.  Multi lot residential developments should be undertaken by way 
of a Conceptual Scheme (or Outline Plan or Neighbourhood Area 
Structure Plan). 

Hamlet Residential C. Home based businesses are encouraged, provided they do not alter 
the residential character of a property or buildings. 

Hamlet Residential D. Connectivity between neighbourhoods shall be encouraged through 
the provision of streets and walkways that are designed to support 
safe pedestrian, cycle and vehicle movements as appropriate to their 
context. 

Hamlet Residential E. Multi‐family developments should enhance the streetscape through 
landscaping and built form and mass which respects that of nearby 
structures and properties. 

   

92



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

12 

3.4 Commercial Development Areas 

There are two types of commercial uses identified for Fort Vermilion: Hamlet Commercial and 
Highway Commercial. 

3.4.1 Hamlet Commercial Area 

There is an opportunity to support the further development of Fort Vermilion as a tourism 
destination and a commercial centre for surrounding country residential properties and local 
residents.  The commercial core area is at the intersection of 50 Street and River Road.  
Commercial uses extend south along 50 Street and both east and west along River Road.  The 
Hamlet Commercial Area reflects the existing disposition of commercial uses and encourages 
contextual infill development that reflects the community’s history and opportunities to further 
develop a tourism industry.  Concentrating new commercial uses in this area can support the 
further strengthening of this area as Fort Vermilion’s commercial and cultural centre. 

Hamlet Commercial A. Direct new retail, food and lodging establishments to this area. 

Hamlet Commercial B. Development within the Hamlet Commercial Area identified for 
Heritage Frontage Control should incorporate design elements that 
reflect the historic architectural character of Fort Vermilion, 
encourage high quality public realm and pedestrian connectivity. 

Hamlet Commercial C. Commercial uses are appropriate in this area, but should be 
encouraged to reflect the following provisions: 

a. The space between a building and the street should be landscaped 
to encourage a high level of public amenity and a visually pleasing 
streetscape. 

b. Minimum off ‐street parking requirements may be substantially 
relaxed in the Hamlet Commercial Area for new development to 
encourage a pedestrian friendly town centre environment.  In 
some cases parking requirements may be waived entirely. 

c. Changes in use for already established buildings may be deemed to 
meet parking requirements. 

d. New building and site design fronting 50 Street or River Road 
should emphasize creating a pedestrian friendly environment that 
can support tourism, including windows and doors in street‐facing 
ground floor walls and the articulation of building mass to create 
visual interest and reduce the bulk of larger structures. 

Hamlet Commercial D. At the discretion of the County, parking areas may be paved, 
incorporating low impact design features, which includes 
conservation and use of on‐site natural features to protect water 
quality. 

Hamlet Commercial E. Uses which are likely to create nuisance factors through airborne 
contaminants, dust, vibration, light and noise emissions should be 
directed to the Light Industrial Area or an industrial park outside the 
hamlet boundaries. 

93



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

13 

3.4.2 Highway Commercial Area  

Highways create attractive locations for commercial businesses due to relatively higher levels of 
visibility and access.  Highway commercial uses are anticipated to be in the form of traffic oriented 
commercial uses that cater to a regional market catchment.   There is an existing highway 
commercial use located at the south end of 45 Street that should form the nucleus for future 
highway commercial development.  Future highway commercial development spreads west along 
the Bicentennial Highway from this point. 

Highway Commercial A. Sites should be designed in a comprehensive manner that integrates 
with existing and future development opportunities on surrounding 
sites, including consideration of building design, mass, transportation 
and site operation.  This may require cooperation amongst adjacent 
property owners through a Concept Scheme, Neighbourhood 
Structure Plan or Outline Plan process to create attractive and 
functional commercial areas.  Joint access, drainage and parking 
easement agreements may be required to facilitate cooperative use 
and development.   

Highway Commercial B. Parking should mainly be provided to the side and rear of new 
developments. 

Highway Commercial C. New developments should be subject to landscaping and appearance 
requirements to ensure that these areas are aesthetically pleasing.   

Highway Commercial D. Development of properties adjacent to residential areas should 
address potential land use conflicts through building orientation, 
landscaped buffers, lighting design, architectural treatments and 
operational requirements.   

Highway Commercial E. A property developed with multiple commercial buildings should be 
designed as a comprehensive development, considering the relation 
between the appearance and operational characteristics of the 
different buildings and their individual uses. 

Highway Commercial F. Low impact design features, which includes conservation and use of 
on‐site natural features to protect water quality, should be 
incorporated into development. 

Highway Commercial G. Uses which are likely to create nuisance factors through airborne 
contaminants, dust, vibration, light and noise emissions should be 
directed to the Light Industrial Area or to an industrial park outside of 
the hamlet boundaries. 

 
   

94



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

14 

3.5 Light Industrial Development  

This plan addresses only light industrial uses such as contractors’ yards and shops, outdoor 
storage, and similar uses that do not create significant nuisances as part of their primary 
operations.  Heavy industrial uses such as manufacturing, processing, assembly, and large scale 
distribution should be directed outside of the hamlet boundaries away from land uses sensitive to 
their effects.  

 

Industrial A. All industrial sites should be developed in a manner that minimizes 
the potential impacts on adjacent or nearby properties.  Methods to 
ensure industrial developments do not negatively impact adjacent 
properties and roadways may include the construction of landscaped 
berms, architectural treatments, landscaping and fencing, distance 
separation, the retention or planting of native vegetation, and the on 
site treatment of stormwater. 

Industrial B. Aggregate extraction operations taking place within the hamlet 
boundaries should be encouraged to follow Alberta Environment and 
Sustainable Resource Development best practices and seek to 
minimize disturbance to surrounding sensitive land uses through the 
use of suitable buffers, setbacks, operation restrictions and mitigation 
of visual impacts on passersby. 

   

95



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

15 

3.6 Open Space Development Policies 

Open spaces, both formally landscaped and natural, are essential components to the physical 
structure of the Land Use Concept.  One key opportunity in Fort Vermilion is to integrate the 
waterfront open spaces and trail network with the commercial areas along 50 Street.   

3.6.1 Open Spaces 

Along with protecting sensitive areas, natural areas form part of the Land Use Concept’s open 
space system.   There is an existing waterfront natural area along the Peace River.  As a riparian 
area this can provide benefits in terms of habitat, visual amenity, enhanced quality of overland 
stormwater run‐off, and a strong sense of rural character.  This natural area is particularly valuable 
as walkways and park spaces are integrated throughout. 

Natural areas are intended to be left in their natural state, including topography and vegetation.  
Low impact recreational uses (i.e. trails and benches) are appropriate within the natural areas.  
Additionally, complementing community infrastructure (i.e. stormwater management facilities, 
small parks integrated with existing landscaping) may also be appropriate. 

3.6.2 Parks 

Parks should be strategically located within the plan area to maximize their benefits to residents. 
Generally, a park should be accessible to all residents of the neighbourhood within a short walk 
from each dwelling.  Parks should be landscaped and where appropriate should have recreation 
facilities (i.e. trails, playgrounds, fields).   Park sites should be dedicated as Municipal Reserve at 
the time of subdivision. One park should be developed along with Stage 2 residential development 
west of 50 Street. 

3.6.3 Open Space and Parks Policies 

Open Space A. The County should continue to upgrade the river front walking trail and 
parks network.  
 

Open Space B. Stormwater management facilities (SWMF) are intended to be multi‐
purpose in that they also function as open space and amenity areas.  
SWMFs should generally have a naturalized landscaping aesthetic with low 
intensity recreation opportunities built into their design.  The recreation 
facilities may include trails, benches, and open access (no fences) to the 
facilities.  To complement and be fully integrated into the community it is 
important that all SWMF integrate recreational opportunities into their 
design. 

 
   

96



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

16 

Open Space C. At the time of subdivision the stormwater management facilities should be 
dedicated as Public Utility Lots.  Those stormwater management facilities 
that incorporate recreational opportunities and benefit the community may 
receive Municipal Reserve credit for up to 20% of their area.  

 
Open Space D. Developers may be requested to establish environmental reserve easements 

as provided for in the Municipal Government Act. These environmental 
reserve easements may address lands that would otherwise qualify as 
environmental reserve. Mackenzie County may also establish conservation 
easements as provided for in the Alberta Land Stewardship Act. 

 
Open Space E. Mackenzie County may require that Municipal Reserve dedications in 

residential areas be in the form of land or cash‐in‐lieu. Where there are 
multiple land owners in an area,  some land owners may be requested to 
provide more than their share of the 10% reserve dedication, while others 
may be requested to pay ‘money in lieu’ of dedicating land to compensate 
those land owners who provided the land so that in effect every developer 
makes a similar contribution of 10%.   

 
Open Space F. The landscaping of public parks and open space should only include species 

which are native. 
 
 
   

97



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

17 

3.7 Institutional and Community Services Policies 

Institutional land uses include developments such as schools, emergency services, municipal 
services, cemeteries, places of worship, and community health services.  These land uses can 
provide valuable cultural, social and health services to the community and surrounding areas.  
New institutional and community services are expected to include a new fire hall and public works 
shop and upgrades to other existing facilities within the lifetime of this plan.   

3.7.1 Community Facilities and Emergency Service Policies 

Facilities  A. The County may permit the development of institutional land uses in areas 
identified for industrial, commercial or residential land uses where adjacent 
existing and planned development is compatible.  High traffic generating 
uses should be required to locate near streets capable of accommodating 
the traffic effects. 

Facilities  B. The County should provide for the development of emergency services such 
as fire stations, police stations and ambulance services as needed.  Care 
should be taken to ensure that these uses do not create land use conflicts 
with residential uses.  

Facilities  C. Emergency services providers should be consulted on all subdivision 
applications, Conceptual Plans, or similar development applications. 

Facilities  D. Development within the Plan area should integrate Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design principles in the design of public and private 
spaces.  

98



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

18 

3.8 Servicing Policies 
Services identified in this Plan are conceptual, and therefore it is anticipated that more detailed 
land use and subdivision plans will be completed in the future to provide further required detail to 
the concepts.  

3.8.1 Servicing Policies 

Servicing  A. All development should be serviced by municipal water and wastewater. 

Servicing  B. Infrastructure should be designed to accommodate lands outside of the Plan 
boundaries where required by the County. 

Servicing  C. Municipal services should be provided by a developer at their cost, including 
extensions to adjacent sites where deemed useful by the County. 

Servicing  D. Production and distribution capacity for power and natural gas service in 
Mackenzie County should not be considered as limiting factors to 
development.   

Servicing  E. A servicing study to the satisfaction of the County may be required to be 
completed prior to developing any lands. 

Servicing  F. Developers are encouraged to explore the most cost efficient servicing 
options available. 

Servicing  G. Developers should take into consideration the long‐term operation and 
maintenance cost to the County when evaluating servicing options.  

Servicing  H. The layout of municipal utilities is likely to be subject to refinement at the 
subdivision stage. 

Servicing  I. All water services should be metered and designed for peak servicing 
requirements and adequate fire suppression needs. 

Servicing  J. Where desirable, stormwater management facilities and utility corridors 
should accommodate passive recreation opportunities. 

Servicing  K. All design and installation of stormwater management facilities should be in 
compliance with Alberta Environment and Water standards. 

Servicing  L. A developer may be required to provide rights‐of way for shallow services. 

Servicing  M. Provision of services should be in accordance with an Infrastructure Master 
Plan for Fort Vermilion. 

   

99



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

19 

3.9 Roads and Access Policies 

As this plan incorporates residential, commercial and industrial development, future 
transportation networks both within the plan area and connecting to adjacent lands need to be 
able to accommodate a wide variety of vehicles, volumes and traffic use patterns. The Roads and 
Access Map of this Plan (Figure 7) generally describes how current, upgraded and new roadways 
can service existing and planned developments.  

3.9.1 Trail Network 

Trails are a critical component of the open space network, and will provide much needed 
connectivity and recreational opportunities – particularly along the Peace River waterfront.  The 
trail network also contributes to maintaining the rural character of Fort Vermilion.  The Roads and 
Access Map identifies key trails to maintain and others that should be created during new 
development and redevelopment.  

3.9.2 Roads and Access Policies 

Roads and Access  A. All roadways, intersections and accesses should be developed to 
Mackenzie County standards. 

Roads and Access  B. The local road system should allow for a number of vehicular and 
pedestrian route alternatives linking community destinations. 

Roads and Access  C. At their cost developers should install paved roads, sidewalks and 
trails to the satisfaction of the County. 

Roads and Access  D. The County should require all benefitting developers to contribute 
proportionally to the cost of road upgrades. 

Roads and Access  E. The County should work with Alberta Transportation and other 
relevant agencies to incorporate a dangerous goods route that can 
adequately service planned developments. This should be done in the 
context of nearby planned industrial developments. 

Roads and Access  F. The County may consider deviation from the transportation network 
without amending the Plan if the deviation is to avoid creating 
isolated undevelopable parcels, enable safer intersection design, or 
achieve an identifiable better outcome. 

   

100



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

20 

4 Making it Work 
The implementation strategy addresses three primary areas of action: tourism and heritage 
character, planning processes, and development sequence. 

4.1 Tourism Strategy Actions  

Sometimes projects led by the public sector can alter the nature of the community in which they 
are developed. They are intended to help alter the current direction development is going in order 
to achieve a vision that does not necessarily reflect continuing with the nature of past 
development outcomes.  

Fort Vermilion has a wealth of heritage resources, including many significant buildings and 
documented sites.  This is combined with an array of natural heritage resources.  Fort Vermilion is 
in a strong position to be the centre of the region’s tourism industry.  The following suggested 
actions could be considered to move Fort Vermilion in that direction.      

Actions for Consideration: 

1. Consider undertaking a detailed heritage assessment to determine specific locations of 
heritage buildings and to determine an architectural template for new commercial 
development that reflects that of historic buildings. 

2. Add new heritage façade controls to the Land Use Bylaw affecting commercial properties 
along River Road and commercial and residential properties along the northern half of 50 
Street. 

3. Consider developing a façade improvement program that would fund a portion of façade 
improvements to commercial properties identified for Heritage Frontage Control.  This 
program would encourage building owners to upgrade their building frontages to have a 
historic character and a general improvement in repair. 

4. Work with other government agencies to develop a tourism information centre on a 
prominent site on 50 Street or River Road. 

5. Continue to develop the walking trail and park system along the riverfront.  Consider 
extending this walking trail through town as an interpretive historical walk past sites and 
buildings of interest, including interpretive signage.   

6. When approving development permits, ensure that new development provides adequate 
design and public amenities to encourage a pedestrian friendly environment. 

7. Consider site specific economic development activities that support the development of 
Fort Vermilion as a tourism destination. 

 

101



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

21 

4.2 Planning Processes 

4.2.1 Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws 

This Plan has been prepared to be generally consistent with the MDP and other overarching land 
use planning documents that affect the Plan area.  However, to ensure consistency between plans 
the following is suggested: 

• Repeal Hamlet of Fort Vermilion Area Structure Plan (2006). 

• Review and update the Land Use Bylaw to reflect any differences between the Land 
Use Concept, policies and the current land use districts. 

• Review this Plan on a periodic basis. 

4.2.2 Conceptual Schemes 

The Plan addresses future development in conceptual terms.  Prior to development and at the 
discretion of the County, an application for subdivision and development may require the 
preparation of a Conceptual Scheme as defined in the MGA (an Area Structure Plan or Outline 
Plan may achieve a similar result).  The boundary of these plans should be based on good planning 
practice and not necessarily land ownership.  These documents would ensure consistency with the 
Plan and identify servicing details.   

4.2.3 Municipal Reserve Credit 

To create a complete and functional community, cooperation and a strategy is required to ensure 
that parks and school sites are located in appropriate locations to serve future residents.  To 
accomplish this where there are multiple land owners in an area, it is often necessary for some 
land owners to provide more than their share of the 10% reserve dedication, while others are 
requested to pay ‘money in lieu’ of dedicating land to compensate those land owners who 
provided the land so that in effect every developer makes a similar contribution of 10%.  Thus to 
implement the Plan, a reserve dedication process that involves over‐dedication in some cases and 
compensation in others is important to ensure that the open space provision is distributed 
effectively throughout the hamlet as it grows. 

4.3 Development Sequence 

Development of lands within the Plan should follow a general practice of contiguous expansion.  It 
is generally anticipated that future development will occur in areas adjacent to existing 
development. Additionally, the sequencing and extent of development will largely be governed by 
the availability of services (water and sanitary) to accommodate the expansion of the community 
and timing will be at the behest of the development industry as demand for new units develops 
over time.  

A suggested development sequence is identified in the Development Staging Map.  There are a 
large number of vacant properties within the hamlet and these should be prioritized for 
development over other areas in order to allow services to be provided more efficiently. Non‐
contiguous development may be considered provided the developer pays for all costs associated 
with extensions of services.   

102



 
  Final Draft   

 
 

22 

5 Maps and Diagrams 
The following maps and diagrams are included in this section: 

• Plan Boundaries 
• Man Made Constraints 
• Environmental Considerations 
• Parks, Open Spaces and Facilities 
• Roads and Access 
• Water 
• Sanitary 
• Stormwater 
• Development Staging

103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



Agenda Item # 7. e) 
 

 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:   CAO  

 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning and Development 

Title: PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 895-13 Hamlet of La Crete Area Structure Plan  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Area Structure Plans have progressed well, and input has been received from both 
Council and the public. The input received has been incorporated into the ASPs, 
creating a comprehensive 20 year planning document that reflects the desires of the 
community while directing the growth of the community based on current planning 
principles. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
To implement an updated growth plan for the Hamlet of La Crete, which better reflects 
the needs of the community. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
There are no additional costs involved with adopting the ASPs, however there may be 
additional costs incurred in future budgets to implement some of the strategies.   
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
The public hearings were advertised in the local papers, progress updates have been 
included in the County Image, and notifications were posted on Facebook. Planning 
staff will communicate the changes to developers as they come in. 
 

115



 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion 1 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 895-13 being the Hamlet of La Crete Area 
Structure Plan. 
 
Motion 2 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 895-13 being the Hamlet of La Crete Area 
Structure Plan. 
 

116



 1 

Mackenzie County 
 

PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 

BYLAW 895-13 
 

Order of Presentation 
 
 

  This Public Hearing will now come to order at    . 
 
  Was the Public Hearing properly advertised? 
 
  Will the Development Authority    , please outline  

the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his 
submission. 

 
  Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use 

Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment?  If yes, please read them. 
 

  Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the 
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s) 
making their presentation? 
 

  This Hearing is now closed at    . 
 
 
REMARKS/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\eva\council\pubhear.doc 

117



BYLAW NO. 895-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO ENACT THE 
HAMLET OF LA CRETE AREA STRUCTURE PLAN 

 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act provides that a Council may adopt an area 
structure plan, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
advisable to update the Area Structure Plan for all land within the designated boundary of 
the Hamlet of La Crete to provide for the orderly development of the community 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the following: 
 

i) Bylaw No. 013/95, Hamlet of La Crete Area Structure Plan is hereby 
rescinded. 

 
ii) That the attached Area Structure Plan, effecting the land within the 

corporate boundary of the Hamlet of La Crete, be designated as the La 
Crete Area Structure Plan. 

 
 
READ a first time this 24th day of April, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this _____ day of _________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this _____ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 
 

 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 

118



Final Draft 

   

 

 

 

 

16/07/13 
1102‐01‐00 

119



 
  Final Draft 

1 

Contents 
1  Purpose and Scope .................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1  Introduction .......................................................................................................................... 1 

1.2  Background Report ............................................................................................................... 1 

1.3  Mackenzie County Municipal Development Plan (2009) ..................................................... 3 

1.4  Community Consultation ...................................................................................................... 4 

2  Creating a Vision ....................................................................................................................... 5 

2.1  Land Use Concept ................................................................................................................. 6 

2.2  Land Use Distribution ........................................................................................................... 8 

3  Achieving the Vision .................................................................................................................. 9 

3.1  General Development Policies ............................................................................................. 9 

3.2  Residential Policies ............................................................................................................. 10 

3.3  Commercial Development Policies ..................................................................................... 12 

3.4  Industrial Development Policies ......................................................................................... 16 

3.5  Open Space Development Policies ..................................................................................... 17 

3.6  Institutional and Community Services Policies ................................................................... 19 

3.7  Servicing Policies ................................................................................................................ 20 

3.8  Roads and Access Policies .................................................................................................. 21 

4  Making it Work ....................................................................................................................... 23 

4.1  Transformative Public Projects ........................................................................................... 23 

4.2  Planning Processes ............................................................................................................. 24 

4.3  Development Sequence ..................................................................................................... 25 

5  Maps and Diagrams ................................................................................................................. 26 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

120



 
  Final Draft 

2 

Tables 
Table 1 Land Use Statistics ............................................................................................................................ 8 

Table 2 Unit and Population Estimates ......................................................................................................... 8 

 

 
Figures 
Figure 1 Location ........................................................................................................................................... 2 

Figure 2: Land Use Concept .......................................................................................................................... 7 

Figure 3 Plan Boundaries ............................................................................................................................ 27 

Figure 4 Man Made Constraints.................................................................................................................. 28 

Figure 5 Environmental Considerations ...................................................................................................... 29 

Figure 6 Parks, Open Spaces and Facilities ................................................................................................. 30 

Figure 7 Roads and Access .......................................................................................................................... 31 

Figure 8 Road Diagrams .............................................................................................................................. 32 

Figure 9 Water ............................................................................................................................................ 33 

Figure 10 Sanitary ....................................................................................................................................... 34 

Figure 11 Stormwater ................................................................................................................................. 35 

Figure 12 Development Staging .................................................................................................................. 36 

 

121



 
Final Draft 

1 

1 Purpose and Scope 
This Area Structure Plan (Plan) has been prepared for the Hamlet of La Crete at the request of 
Mackenzie County (County), a Specialized Municipality with both urban and rural areas within its 
jurisdiction.    

1.1 Introduction 

La Crete is a fast growing community.  Growth scenarios indicate that within 20‐years its 
population could more than double.  This population growth rate coincides with an expectation 
that industrial and commercial growth will continue.  The purpose of the Plan is to provide a 
framework for future subdivision, servicing, and development of the hamlet that builds on the 
existing community strengths to create an urban environment that provides a high quality of 
residential, employment and recreational opportunities.    

The Plan is primarily based on policy direction from the County Municipal Development Plan 
Bylaw 735‐09.  It sets out a vision and specifies actions and policies needed to achieve that vision 
based on the requirements of the Municipal Government Act (MGA).  The MGA requires an Area 
Structure Plan to identify: 

• Sequence of development for the plan area; 

• Land uses proposed, either generally or with respect to specific parts of the area;  

• Density of population proposed either generally or with respect to specific areas; 

• General location of major transportation routes and public utilities; and, 

• Other matters council considers necessary. 

Area Structure Plans are long‐term “living documents.”  As the land use, socio‐demographic and 
economic context changes it is not uncommon for plans to receive review and amendments.  
Despite such changes, the vision of this Plan should remain consistent.   However, it is anticipated 
that more detailed components may be amended in accordance with hamlet and County needs. 

The policies and actions identified in this Plan are meant to influence the Mackenzie County Land 
Use Bylaw, development standards, neighbourhood area plans, subdivision design, and 
development approvals to ensure that the long term vision for growth determined through this 
planning process is achieved. 

1.2 Background Report 

Along with the Plan, a background report was prepared.  This report contains most of the analysis 
undertaken to identify the vision, goals and policies for the Plan.  This includes a review of the 
planning context; an update of demographic considerations; review of existing land uses, natural 
features, facilities and infrastructure; and identification of opportunities associated with the 
same.   

   

122



123



 
Final Draft 

3 

1.3 Mackenzie County Municipal Development Plan (2009) 

The Municipal Development Plan (MDP) defines the vision, principles, objectives, and policies of 
the County as well as objectives and policies for hamlets.  By doing so, a foundation for the 
preparation of more detailed land use plans within existing hamlets is established.     

1.3.1 Objectives for Hamlet Growth 

Expanding the role of hamlets as service centres for surrounding rural areas is a common theme 
throughout the MDP and is a sound objective to achieving the overall vision for the County and a 
long term growth strategy for La Crete. 

Key objectives expressed in the MDP that provide a foundation for growth in La Crete include: 

• Plan for a positive growth rate; 

• Promote orderly and economic growth; 

• Provide a variety of housing types; 

• Plan for future subdivision and development of residential areas; 

• Facilitate growth of commercial and industrial areas; 

• Provide institutional, recreational, and cultural opportunities; 

• Optimize the use of existing services and infrastructure; and, 

• Strengthen the long term viability of La Crete. 

1.3.2 Policies for Hamlet of La Crete 

Key policies in the MDP that outline a long term growth strategy for La Crete include: 

• Review and update the existing Hamlet of La Crete Area Structure Plan; 

• Establishment of designated growth areas; 

• Support contiguous development;  

• Require Neighbourhood Structure Plans or Outline Plans for multi‐lot subdivision 
applications;  

• Promote the growth of a compact central business district; 

• Encourage industrial uses to be located within industrial parks and buffered from 
incompatible uses;  

• Encourage the grouping of major community facilities to create a focal point for the 
community;  

• Support initiatives that promote La Crete’s culture and heritage;  

• Identify multi‐family sites that accommodate a range of densities; and, 

• Ensure sufficient supply of zoned and serviced commercial and industrial lands in close 
proximity to the aerodrome.    

124



 
Final Draft 

4 

1.4 Community Consultation 

Community consultation formed the cornerstone for this Plan.  Early stakeholder consultation in 
La Crete helped focus the direction of this plan, while a public open house ensured wider input 
into the Plan’s vision, policies and concepts.  Results of this consultation can be found in the 
background report for this plan. 

Key points recorded during consultation were: 

1.4.1 Early Stakeholder Consultation 

• Vibrancy and growth are opportunities. 
• Pedestrian friendliness is an area for improvement. 
• Business areas could be improved by paving parking lots and improving neatness. 
• As community grows, there should be a separation of uses, particularly heavier industrial 

uses and residential. 
• Land for increasing retail supply would be beneficial. 
• Quality of development should be regulated (e.g. architectural controls).   
• The lake area should be kept natural. 
• Leap frog development is occurring and is not good from a service cost perspective. 
• Encourage development instead of land banking. 

1.4.2 Public Open Houses 

A Public Open House was held on May 22nd, 2013 at the Heritage Centre. 

• Display boards were presented to attendees that highlighted policies of the ASP and presented 
the land use concept, along with other maps. 

• Little consequential feedback was received during the open house.  Most discussion with the 
attendees focused on other matters being consulted on that evening. 

   

125



 
Final Draft 

5 

2 Creating a Vision 
The County has prepared this Plan to clarify, communicate and deliver its vision for the future 
development and redevelopment of La Crete. FO 

 

 

 

 

In order to implement the vision, the Plan seeks to achieve specific objectives which are identified 
below.  These objectives recognize and build on the La Crete policies of the MDP. 

• Guide interim and long‐term growth in a deliberate manner that coordinates with 
infrastructure provision and facilitates a complementary land use mix. 

• Promote development of a town centre as a walkable and mixed use precinct that can help 
strengthen community identity. 

• Expand residential development primarily to the west and south, integrating with existing 
recreational opportunities and providing key connections to commercial areas of town. 

• Recognize the changing needs of the community by allowing a range of housing choices, 
including multi‐family buildings. 

• Expand business land supply in order to support economic development and encourage well 
designed developments in high profile areas such as 100 Street and the town centre.  

• Protect natural areas that contribute to the rural character of La Crete.  

• Expand community facilities and services to meet increasing demands, including space for two 
new schools, the trail network and the Lake Tourangeau recreational area. 

• New development designs should reflect the northern climate. 

As part of delivering these objectives, the Plan must be consistent with existing municipal, 
provincial, and federal policies, regulations and plans for the area.  To illustrate the intent of the 
Land Use Concept, plans for municipal services, roadways and staging have been prepared. 

 

In  20‐years  La  Crete  is  envisioned  to  be  a  vibrant  community  serving  as  a  cultural  and 
commercial centre for the surrounding agricultural community while providing a high quality 
of life for all ages through a diversity of housing, recreation and employment opportunities in 
a northern rural setting. 

126



 
Final Draft 

6 

2.1  Land Use Concept 

The Land Use Concept integrates the natural and man‐made considerations of the Plan area with 
the needs of the community while meeting all relevant policy guides and regulatory requirements.   

The land use areas displayed in the Land Use Concept are conceptual.  They are intended to 
provide a broad road map for future development.  Further planning through Conceptual 
Schemes or Neighbourhood Area Structure Plans and Outline Plans may revise the designation 
and area of land uses.  Substantial deviations from this concept will require amendments to the 
Plan; however, if the intent of the concept is preserved amendments may not be necessary.   

The Land Use Concept recognizes the established development pattern within the existing 
hamlet, and integrates compatible and complementary land uses to create a complete community 
while maintaining a distinct rural hamlet character.   

Where the land use area identified in the Land Use Concept does not follow a property, road or 
significant natural feature, or where there is uncertainty regarding the location of the boundary, 
the specific boundary location may be determined at the time of subdivision or development, 
through legal survey and/or supporting technical documents.  

   

127



128



 
Final Draft 

8 

2.2 Land Use Distribution 

The tables below display the land use statistics for the 2033 Land Use Concept. Net developable 
area includes only undeveloped areas identified in the Plan for development, while the gross 
developable area includes the entire hamlet area. 

Table 1 Land Use Statistics 

  Area (ha)  % of NDA 

Gross Developable Area  1724   

Existing Developed Areas  564   

Net Developable Area (NDA)    100% 

Future Residential  357.57  31% 

Residential  141.08  12% 

Industrial  88.14  8% 

Commercial  167.23  14% 

Open Space (assumed 10% NDA)  116  10% 

Stormwater Management Facilities (assumed 5% NDA)  58  5% 

Roads and Access (assumed 20% NDA)  232  20% 
 

Table 2 Unit and Population Estimates 

  Net Area (ha)  Units/Net ha  Units  People/Unit  Population 

Existing Hamlet 
Residential  239.33  3.52  844  2.85  2408 

New Hamlet 
Residential  141.08  10.1  1425  2.85  4061 

Total  743.419    2,269  ‐  6,469 

 
Note: these statistics are intended for discussion purposes and are subject to change. 

   

129



 
Final Draft 

9 

3 Achieving the Vision 
This section sets out policies to guide development in a manner that can achieve the 20‐year 
vision for La Crete, as well as fulfill the requirements of the MGA. 

3.1 General Development Policies 

The following policies reflect the intent of the vision across the hamlet and also speak to 
development processes that can help ensure that the vision is implemented. 

All Areas 1. Mackenzie County may require the following when a land use or 
development is proposed for lands adjacent to a pipeline right‐of way:  

1. Provisions to clearly identify the edge of the pipeline right‐of‐way; 

2. Restrictions on the development of that portion of the property 
closest to the pipeline right‐of‐way; and 

3. An emergency response plan relating to the pipeline right‐of‐way. 

All Areas 2. Development should strive to maintain the natural drainage pattern of the 
land to reduce impacts from development.   

All Areas 3. New multi‐lot development should be in accordance with a Conceptual 
Scheme (or Outline Plan or Neighbourhood Area Structure Plan).  

All Areas 4. Developers should be encouraged to retain existing trees during design and 
development in order to maintain the rural character of La Crete. 

All Areas 5. The planning area is considered to have high potential to contain 
archaeological, paleontological and/or historic period resources.  A Historic 
Resource Impact Assessment may be required prior to development.  All 
development proposals should be referred to the Historic Resources 
Management Branch for review and will require an application for Historical 
Resources Act clearance. 

All Areas 6. Conceptual Schemes, Neighbourhood Structure Plans or Outline Plans 
should be generally consistent with the Land Use Concept; however: 

1. They may deviate from the Land Use Concept provided the objectives 
of this Plan are maintained. 

2. They may deviate from the Land Use Concept when a new site specific 
constraint is identified that requires a change. 

3. Amendments to this Plan may be required. 

All Areas 7. Developers may be required to prepare an emergency plan to address 
recommendations in the Fire Smart: Protecting Your Community from 
Wildfire manual published by Partners in Protection.   

All Areas 8. Development should consider winter design (e.g. quality lighting design, 
pedestrian shelter, snow management, passive solar design of buildings).  

130



 
Final Draft 

10 

3.2 Residential Policies 

This section outlines policies for all residential areas, and those for specific residential areas. 

3.2.1 Policies Applying to All Residential Areas 

The following policies reflect the general intent of the vision and apply in all residential areas. 

All Residential A. Home based businesses are encouraged, provided they do not alter 
the residential character of a property. 

All Residential B. Connectivity between neighbourhoods should be encouraged through 
the provision of streets that are designed to support safe pedestrian, 
cycle and vehicle movements. 

All Residential C. Residential intensification is encouraged through subdivision of lots in 
existing developed areas and through development of multi‐family 
dwellings. 

All Residential D. Multi‐family developments should reflect the following provisions: 

1. Multi‐family residential development is primarily encouraged 
within a ten minute walk of the Town Centre Area. 

2. Infill should be contextual and enhance the streetscape through 
landscaping and built form and mass which reflects that of 
nearby structures and properties. 

3. Multi‐family developments should offer a suitable transition 
from adjacent single‐detached residential dwellings, such as 
landscaping or architectural treatments.  

4. Multi‐family development should be designed to encourage a 
pedestrian friendly streetscape. 

5. Crime Prevention through Environmental Design should be 
considered when buildings and sites are designed. 

   

131



 
Final Draft 

11 

3.2.2 Hamlet Residential Area 

The majority of the residential lands are located in the west and south of the current built area.  
There are also residential areas identified for lands east of 100 Street.  The predominant dwelling 
type is anticipated to be low density residential (i.e. single detached dwellings, manufactured 
homes).  Variety in residential building types is encouraged within a short walk to the Town 
Centre Area, which is permissive of higher density residential typologies.     

 

Hamlet Residential A. Single‐family detached dwellings will be the primary development in 
this area, however duplex and row houses are suitable in appropriate 
locations. 

Hamlet Residential B. Mobile homes should be constructed in areas separate from “stick‐
built” single family detached homes in future development. 

Hamlet Residential C. Single‐family detached homes in future development areas should be 
placed on a lot t in a manner that reflects typical setbacks of nearby 
residential developments in the community. 

Hamlet Residential D. Infill housing should be designed to ensure the front yard setback is 
consistent with those buildings on adjacent properties. 

    

3.2.3 Country Residential Area 

There are two pockets of Country Residential development in the hamlet, characterised by large 
lots, open spaces with landscaping including trees and low profile buildings. The MDP does not 
identify the north‐western Country Residential pocket for expansion.  The eastern pocket of 
Country Residential is identified in the MDP to expand over the balance of the two quarter 
sections it currently occupies.  No other Country Residential development is identified within the 
hamlet boundaries, though the MDP does identify Country Residential for areas west, south and 
northeast of the hamlet. 

 

Country Residential A. New country residential development should be consistent with 
existing country residential development in terms of servicing, lot 
areas, and landscaping. 

Country Residential B. Wherever possible when there are existing trees on a property they 
should be preserved. 

Country Residential C. No new country residential areas should be created other than those 
identified in the Land Use Concept. 

   

132



 
Final Draft 

12 

3.3 Commercial Development Policies 

Commercial uses are concentrated along 100 Street, the town centre area, and east along 94 
Avenue and Township Road 1062.  There are three types of commercial lands identified: hamlet 
town centre, highway commercial and general commercial.   

3.3.1 Town Centre Area 

The Plan recognizes an opportunity to establish a centrally located multi‐use destination that 
could over time evolve to become the commercial and cultural ‘heart’ of La Crete.  Within a short 
walk of the Town Centre Area are parks, existing and future school sites and neighbourhood 
commercial uses, and existing residential.  Support for residential intensification in this area and 
within a 10‐minute walk west of 100 Street can encourage the growth of a walk‐up market, 
important to ensure a vibrant town centre emerges with viable commercial uses. 

Town Centre A. Development within the Town Centre Area should incorporate design 
elements that encourage high quality public realm, recreation, and 
pedestrian connectivity.   

Town Centre B. Commercial uses and multi‐family developments are appropriate in 
this area provided they are designed to support a main street 
character, including the following elements: 

a. Buildings should maintain a consistent setback along a public 
street. 

b. The space between a building and the street should be landscaped 
to encourage a high level of public amenity and a visually pleasing 
streetscape. 

c. In order to promote a consistent street wall (defined by individual 
building massing), the location of parking should not be between 
the front façade of a building and the street. 

d. Vehicle crossings of sidewalks should be minimized through the 
use of rear lanes for parking lot access, and where this is not 
possible shared accesses and common parking areas used by 
adjacent properties. 

e. Minimum off ‐street parking requirements should be substantially 
relaxed in the Town Centre for new development to encourage a 
pedestrian friendly town centre environment.  In some cases 
parking requirements may be waived entirely. 

f. Changes in use for already established buildings may be deemed 
to meet parking requirements as set out in the Land Use Bylaw. 

g. New building and site design should emphasize creating a 
pedestrian friendly environment, including windows and doors in 
street‐facing ground floor walls and the articulation of building 
mass to create visual interest and reduce the bulk of larger 
structures. 

133



 
Final Draft 

13 

h. New development located next to a residential district should 
address a transition between residential and commercial uses 
through landscaping and architectural treatments 

i. Building mass and arrangement should enable solar access to 
sidewalks and public areas during winter months. 

Town Centre C. Residential intensification is supported in this area, though if new 
development faces onto 100 Avenue the ground floor level should 
include commercial uses.  

Town Centre D. Recreational, cultural and institutional uses are encouraged to locate 
in the town centre to help develop a critical mass of uses that can 
support a vibrant commercial centre. 

Town Centre E. Public open spaces such as a market garden or small parks are 
encouraged.  Sunlight access year round and low impact design 
features should be considered during site selection and design. 

Town Centre F. The streetscape in the town centre should incorporate elements such 
as wide sidewalks, benches, bike racks, pedestrian scale lighting, 
planters and street trees to enhance the pedestrian experience. 

Town Centre G. At the discretion of the County, parking areas should be paved, 
incorporating low impact design features. 

 

3.3.2 Highway Commercial Area  

Highways create attractive locations for commercial businesses due to relatively higher levels of 
visibility and access.  The commercial uses are anticipated to be in the form of large scale 
commercial developments (i.e. box stores, power centre, etc) that serve a regional market 
catchment.   It is suggested that an enclosed mall should not be permitted in the Highway 
Commercial Area until such a time as the town centre is well established as this would likely 
preclude the growth of the town centre. 

When development applications are made for specific sites in the highway commercial area, they 
should be required to demonstrate the relation between the next nearest buildings and the 
proposed development.   Traffic and pedestrian circulation routes on site need to be specified and 
rationalized amongst adjacent properties.  

Highway Commercial A. Sites should be designed in a comprehensive manner that integrates 
with existing and future development opportunities on surrounding 
sites, including consideration of building design, mass, transportation 
and site operation.  This may require cooperation amongst adjacent 
property owners through a Concept Scheme, Neighbourhood 
Structure Plan or Outline Plan process to create attractive and 
functional commercial areas.  Joint access, drainage and parking 
easement agreements may be required to facilitate cooperative use 
and development.   

134



 
Final Draft 

14 

Highway Commercial B. Development should provide pedestrian and bicycle amenities, 
including walkways from the main street frontage to main entrances 
of commercial buildings, and conveniently located bicycle parking. 

Highway Commercial C. New developments are encouraged to enter into shared parking 
agreements to meet minimum parking standards. Parking should 
mainly be provided to the side and rear of new developments. 

Highway Commercial D. New developments should be subject to landscaping and appearance 
requirements to ensure that these areas are aesthetically pleasing.   

Highway Commercial E. Development of properties adjacent to residential areas should 
address potential land use conflicts through building orientation, 
landscaped buffers, lighting design, architectural treatments and 
operational requirements.   

Highway Commercial F. A property developed with multiple commercial buildings should be 
designed as a comprehensive development, considering the relation 
between the appearance and operational characteristics of the 
different buildings and their individual uses. 

Highway Commercial G. Low impact design features should be incorporated into development. 

   

135



 
Final Draft 

15 

3.3.3 General Commercial 

General Commercial uses have a larger commercial footprint than those identified for the Town 
Centre Area and do not need direct exposure to a high traffic route for their business, although 
good access to the road network is desirable.  These uses could include retail with accessory 
warehouses or shops, large office buildings, motels and hotels, automotive equipment and vehicle 
services, bus depot, equipment rentals facility, exhibition grounds, home improvement centre, 
lumber yard, manufactured homes sales and service, recreational vehicle storage, recycling 
facility, and similar uses.   

 

General Commercial A. Development of properties adjacent residential areas should address 
potential conflicts through building orientation, lighting design, 
architectural treatments and operational plans.  Additionally, 
landscaped buffer areas may be required at the interface.   

General Commercial B. New developments should be subject to landscaping and appearance 
requirements to ensure that the view of these areas is aesthetically 
pleasing.   

General Commercial C. Development should provide pedestrian and bicycle amenities, 
including walkways from the main street frontage to main entrances 
of commercial buildings, and conveniently located bicycle storage. 

General Commercial D. New developments are encouraged to enter into shared parking 
agreements to meet minimum parking standards.  

General Commercial E. Low impact design features should be incorporated into 
developments. 

 
   

136



 
Final Draft 

16 

3.4 Industrial Development Policies 

There are two industrial areas addressed by this section: Industrial and Light Industrial. 

The light industrial area is used as a buffer between the Industrial Area and nearby land uses 
which are potentially sensitive to nuisance (e.g. noise, dust, odours, gases, particulate substances, 
toxic substances).  It is not expected that industrial uses involved with manufacturing or resource 
processing will be developed within the Light Industrial Area.    

The Industrial area is expected to accommodate manufacturing, processing, assembly, 
distribution, service and repair, and similar uses.  Typical uses in this area will carry out a portion 
of their operations in an outdoor area and are not compatible with residential uses.     

 

Industrial A. Industrial uses should not be permitted to locate in the light industrial 
area if they are incompatible with residential uses as this area serves 
as an intermediate area between nearby residential uses. 

Industrial B. Light industrial uses should be compatible with nearby residential 
land uses. 

Industrial C. All industrial sites should be developed in a manner that minimizes 
the potential impacts on adjacent or nearby properties.  Methods to 
ensure industrial developments do not negatively impact adjacent 
properties and roadways may include the construction of landscaped 
berms, architectural treatments, landscaping and fencing, distance 
separation, the retention or planting of native vegetation, and the on 
site treatment of stormwater. 

Industrial D. All development may require visual and noise buffering depending on 
the nature of the use. 

   

137



 
Final Draft 

17 

3.5 Open Space Development Policies 

Open space, both formally landscaped and natural, is an essential component of the physical 
structure of the Land Use Concept.    

3.5.1 Open Spaces 

Along with protecting sensitive areas, Natural Areas form part of the Land Use Concept’s open 
space system.  It is anticipated that the following lands may ultimately be dedicated: 

• Lands around Lake Tourangeau and areas of residual forest that coincide with parks 
identified in the Land Use Concept or MDP. 

• Areas identified as environmental reserves for stormwater management facilities 
during subdivision processes. 

Natural Areas are intended to be left in their natural state including topography and vegetation.  
Low impact recreational uses (i.e. trails and benches) are appropriate within the Natural Areas.  
Additionally, complementing community infrastructure (i.e. stormwater management facilities, 
small parks integrated with existing landscaping) may also be appropriate. 

At the time of subdivision the Natural Area lands should be dedicated as Environmental Reserve. 

3.5.2 Parks 

Parks are strategically located within the plan area to maximize their benefits to residents. 
Generally, a park will be accessible to all residents of the neighbourhood within a short walk from 
each dwelling.  Parks should be landscaped and where appropriate should have recreation 
facilities (i.e. trails, playgrounds, fields).    

School and park sites should be dedicated as Municipal Reserve at the time of subdivision.   

3.5.3 Open Space and Parks Policies 

Open Space A. Areas of steep slopes and potentially environmentally sensitive lands should 
be deemed undevelopable and be identified at time of subdivision. 
 

Open Space B. Natural Areas in the plan area should remain in their natural state with 
exceptions only for developments related to or supporting recreation, such 
as trails, natural interpretation sites and parks. 

 
Open Space C. Stormwater management facilities (SWMF) are intended to be multi‐

purpose in that they also function as open space and amenity areas.  
SWMFs should generally have a naturalized landscaping aesthetic with low 
intensity recreation opportunities built into their design.  The recreation 
facilities may include trails, benches, and open access (no fences) to the 
facilities.  To complement and be fully integrated into the community it is 
important that all SWMF integrate recreational opportunities into their 
design. 

138



 
Final Draft 

18 

 
Open Space D. At the time of subdivision the stormwater management facilities will be 

dedicated as Public Utility Lots.  Those stormwater management facilities 
that incorporate recreational opportunities and benefit the community may 
receive municipal reserve credit for up to 20% of their area.  

 
Open Space E. Developers may be required to establish caveats on the title of privately 

owned lands that are adjacent to or are a part of significant natural areas 
as a method of protecting environmental features from development, or to 
establish environmental reserve easements as provided for in the Municipal 
Government Act. These caveats and environmental reserve easements may 
address lands that would otherwise qualify as environmental reserve. 
Mackenzie County may also establish conservation easements as provided 
for in the Alberta Land Stewardship Act. 

 
Open Space F. Mackenzie County should accept the full 10% of municipal reserve entitled 

to the County according to the Municipal Government Act in the form of 
land, cash in‐ lieu of land or a combination of both. Future municipal reserve 
dedications may be used to further the development of the proposed 
recreational trail system, or to develop a park site within or near the plan 
area with the intention of providing a recreation facility for the existing or 
planned residential population. Trails which form part of the circulation 
network should be considered part of the road dedication. 

 
Open Space G. Mackenzie County may require that municipal reserve dedications in 

residential areas be in the form of land or cash‐in‐lieu. Where there are 
multiple land owners in an area,  some land owners may be requested to 
provide more than their share of the 10% reserve dedication, while others 
may be requested to pay ‘money in lieu’ of dedicating land to compensate 
those land owners who provided the land so that in effect every developer 
makes a similar contribution of 10%.   

 
Open Space H. The landscaping of public parks and open space should include species 

which are sustainable in local climate conditions. 
 
Open Space I. Substantial natural water bodies that are potentially subject to flooding or 

are environmentally significant should be dedicated as Environmental 
Reserve.  

 
   

139



 
Final Draft 

19 

3.6 Institutional and Community Services Policies 

Institutional land uses include developments such as schools, emergency services, municipal 
services, cemeteries, places of worship, and community health services.  These land uses can 
provide valuable cultural, social and health services to the community and surrounding areas 
 

Facilities  A. The County should encourage the development of institutional land uses 
that provide cultural, social or health services to residents.  This includes a 
library and associated open space in the Town Centre Area and a new 
recreational centre (as demand requires) located in a General Commercial 
Area. 

Facilities  B. The County should consult with and work with the Fort Vermilion School 
District to facilitate the acquisition of the lands identified for two school 
sites. 

Facilities  C. The County may permit the development of institutional land uses in areas 
identified for industrial, commercial or residential land uses where adjacent 
existing and planned development is compatible.  High traffic generating 
uses should be required to locate near streets capable of accommodating 
the traffic effects. 

Facilities  D. The County should provide for the development of emergency services such 
as fire stations, police stations and ambulance services as needed.  Care 
should be taken to ensure that these uses do not create land use conflicts 
with residential uses.  

Facilities  E. Emergency services providers should be consulted on all subdivision 
applications, Concept Plans, or similar planning application. 

Facilities  F. Development within the Plan area should integrate Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design principles in the design of public and private 
spaces.  

140



 
Final Draft 

20 

3.7 Servicing Policies 

Services identified in this Plan are conceptual, and therefore it is anticipated that more detailed 
land use and subdivision plans will be completed in the future to provide further required detail 
to the concepts.  

 
Servicing  A. All development should be serviced by municipal water and wastewater. 

Servicing  B. Infrastructure should be designed to accommodate lands outside of the Plan 
boundaries where required by the County. 

Servicing  C. Municipal services should be provided by a developer at their cost, including 
extensions to adjacent sites where deemed useful by the County. 

Servicing  D. Production and distribution capacity for power and natural gas service in 
Mackenzie County should not be considered as limiting factors to 
development.   

Servicing  E. A servicing study to the satisfaction of the County may be required to be 
completed prior to developing any lands. 

Servicing  F. Developers are encouraged to explore the most cost efficient servicing 
options available. 

Servicing  G. Developers should take into consideration the long‐term operation and 
maintenance cost to the County when evaluating servicing options.  

Servicing  H. The layout of municipal utilities is likely to be subject to refinement at the 
subdivision stage. 

Servicing  I. All water services should be metered and designed for peak servicing 
requirements and adequate fire suppression needs. 

Servicing  J. Where desirable, stormwater management facilities and utility corridors 
should accommodate passive recreation opportunities. 

Servicing  K. A developer may be required to provide rights‐of way for shallow services. 

Servicing  L. Provision of services should be in accordance with an Infrastructure Master 
Plan for La Crete. 

   

141



 
Final Draft 

21 

3.8 Roads and Access Policies 

As this Plan incorporates residential, commercial and industrial development, future 
transportation networks both within the plan area and connecting to adjacent lands should be 
able to accommodate a wide variety of vehicles, volumes and traffic use patterns. The Roads and 
Access Map of this Plan generally describes how current, upgraded and new roadways can service 
existing and planned developments.  

3.8.1 New Road Profiles 

There are two new road profiles that should be considered to help achieve the vision put forward 
in this Plan.   

The town centre road profile is intended to improve the walking environment through the town 
centre to support a pedestrian friendly environment.  This includes wider sidewalks, street trees, 
and pedestrian scale street lights. 

The green link roads are intended to be developed with shared paths down one side of the street.  
These links are intended to provide connections for active modes to major parks, schools and the 
town centre.  In some cases these roads will need retrofitting when funding and improvement 
projects permit, however in new areas they should be developed in full.  Where a green link is 
identified but retrofitting is not possible for some time, the County should provide additional 
signage to indicate the presence of active mode users on the street and also provide wayfinding 
signs so that active mode users can easily navigate their way through the trail system. 

3.8.2 Trail Network 

Trails are a critical component of the open space network, and will provide much needed 
connectivity and recreational opportunities.  The trail network also contributes to maintaining the 
rural character of La Crete.  The Roads and Access Map identifies key trails to maintain and others 
to be created during new development and redevelopment.  Trail rights of way within a Municipal 
Reserve should be a minimum of four metres wide, with the trail surface a minimum of two 
metres wide. 

3.8.3 Roads and Access Policies 

Roads and Access  A. All roadways, intersections and accesses should be developed to 
Mackenzie County standards. 

Roads and Access  B. Developers in the commercial areas should be encouraged to share 
accesses and parking lots with adjacent developments and these 
agreements may be registered against the property titles of 
participants. 

Roads and Access  C. The local road system should allow for a number of vehicular and 
pedestrian route alternatives linking community destinations. 

142



 
Final Draft 

22 

Roads and Access  D. Where possible local roads should be aligned to allow for dwellings to 
benefit from solar orientation. 

Roads and Access  E. Developers should install at their cost paved roads, sidewalks and 
trails to the satisfaction of the County. 

Roads and Access  F. The County should require all benefitting developers to contribute 
proportionally to the cost of road upgrades. 

Roads and Access  G. The County should work with Alberta Transportation and other 
relevant agencies to incorporate a dangerous goods route that can 
adequately service planned developments. 

Roads and Access  H. The County may consider deviation from the transportation network 
without amending the Plan if the deviation is to avoid creating 
isolated undevelopable parcels, enable safer intersection design, or 
achieve an identifiable better outcome. 

Roads and Access  I. The “Green Link” and “Town Centre” road profiles should be used to 
inform the road standard for the areas of the transportation network 
identified in the Roads and Access Map of this Plan for their use. 

Roads and Access  J. The road and access network of the Plan area should facilitate the 
prominence of the Hamlet Core as the community hub.   

   

143



 
Final Draft 

23 

4 Making it Work 
The implementation strategy addresses three primary areas of action: transformative projects, 
planning processes, and development sequence. 

4.1 Transformative Public Projects 

Sometimes projects led by the public sector can alter the nature of the community in which they 
are developed. They are intended to help alter the current direction development is going in 
order to achieve a vision that does not necessarily reflect continuing with the present nature of 
development outcomes.  

4.1.1 Town Centre Actions 

La Crete does not currently have a defined town centre with pedestrian‐scale built form, public 
amenity areas and pedestrian friendly street areas that supports a cultural centre to La Crete.  The 
County can support the development of a town centre though their capital improvement projects 
and also through amending the land use bylaw to help ensure that buildings and uses located in 
the town centre area support the vision for a pedestrian friendly commercial centre.   

The Plan proposes that a new town centre district be added to the Land Use Bylaw, with design 
controls on new development to ensure they deliver pedestrian friendly outcomes in keeping with 
a town centre concept.  Additionally, capital improvements can be undertaken to support 
development of a town centre.  These include the new library programmed for around 2017 and 
streetscape upgrades that can be done in an ad hoc manner as funds permit, so long as a cohesive 
streetscape plan is being implemented.  The addition of a public open space, such as a plaza or 
market square, associated with the library would help add a focal point to the centre of La Crete, 
which can support an increased community identity and sense of place.  The intent is that over 
time people will be encouraged to regularly frequent the town centre, with the fringe benefit of 
supporting nearby businesses. 

Actions for consideration: 

1. Add a new town centre district to the Land Use Bylaw that includes design controls to 
support the development of a pedestrian friendly town centre. 

2. Attempt to identify and acquire land in the town centre area for a library. 

3. Attempt to develop a market square or plaza in the town centre area. 

4. Attempt to influence Canada Post to relocate their post office to a town centre site. 

5. Work with owners of brownfield sites to redevelop into a commercial use or landscape for 
a park to promote the beautification of the town centre. 

6. Use a new street design standard for the town centre area and create a streetscape 
master plan for this area to be implemented over time. 

144



 
Final Draft 

24 

4.1.2 Trail Network and “Green” Streets Actions  

The current recreational trail network is a prominent recreation feature in the community and 
helps give the hamlet its identity.  It provides a way for residents to interact with the rural natural 
setting in which the hamlet is situated and helps the hamlet maintain a rural character.   

The Plan proposes to expand the trail network throughout the town along key street corridors to 
connect large open spaces and cultural activity areas, such as the town centre, schools and parks.   

The existing trail network could benefit from the development of key connections identified in 
this Plan.  These would help establish the trail network as a complete system.  Identifying this as a 
core element of La Crete’s character before substantial expansion of the hamlet occurs will assist 
in fully integrating this feature in new developments. 

Actions for consideration: 

1. Implement the proposed street network design for the Green Streets as new development 
occurs and redevelopment opportunities are presented. 

2. Include funding contributions from developers to assist with costs of expanding the trail 
network. 

4.1.3 Brownfield Properties  

It would be beneficial for the County to work with the owners of brownfield sites to remediate 
them to an appropriate standard for commercial development.  An alternative to commercial 
development could be to beautify the properties through landscaping and creation of walking 
paths, providing environmental issues are safe for passive recreation use of the sites. 

Actions for consideration: 

1. Approach the owners of the brownfield properties to investigate options for 
redevelopment or passive uses (e.g. landscaped open spaces). 

2. Pursue funding to redevelop these properties from Federation of Canadian Municipalities 
Green Municipal Fund, Alberta Municipal Sustainability Initiative and others as applicable 
to assist in funding the re‐development and feasibility assessment of these properties. 

4.2 Planning Processes 

4.2.1 Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws 

This Plan has been prepared to be generally consistent with the MDP and other overarching land 
use planning documents that affect the Plan area.  However, to ensure consistency between plans 
the following is suggested: 

• Repeal Hamlet of La Crete Area Structure Plan (2005). 

145



 
Final Draft 

25 

• Update the Land Use Bylaw to reflect any differences between the Plan’s Land Use 
Concept and the current land use districts. 

• Review this Plan on a periodic basis. 

4.2.2 Conceptual Schemes 

The Plan addresses future development in conceptual terms.  Prior to development and at the 
discretion of the County, an application for subdivision and development may require the 
preparation of a Conceptual Scheme as defined in the MGA (a site specific Neighbourhood 
Structure Plan or Outline Plan may achieve a similar result).  The boundary of these plans should 
be based on good planning practice and not necessarily land ownership.  These documents would 
ensure consistency with the Plan and identify servicing details.   

4.2.3 Municipal Reserve Credit 

To create a complete and functional community, cooperation and a strategy is required to ensure 
that parks and school sites are located in appropriate locations to serve future residents.  To 
accomplish this where there are multiple land owners in an area, it is often a requirement for 
some land owners to provide more than their share of the 10% reserve dedication, while others 
are requested to pay ‘money in lieu’ of dedicating land to compensate those land owners who 
provided the land so that in effect every developer makes a similar contribution of 10%.  Thus to 
implement the Plan, a reserve dedication process that involves over‐dedication in some cases and 
compensation in others is important to ensure that the open space provision is distributed 
effectively throughout the hamlet as it grows. 

4.3 Development Sequence 

Development of lands within the Plan should follow a general practice of contiguous expansion.  It 
is generally anticipated that future development will occur in areas adjacent to existing 
development. Additionally, the sequencing and extent of development will largely be governed by 
the availability of services (water and sanitary) to accommodate the expansion of the community 
and timing will be at the behest of the development industry as demand for new units develops 
over time.  

A suggested development sequence is identified in the Development Staging Map.   

   

146



 
Final Draft 

26 

5 Maps and Diagrams 
The following maps and diagrams are included in this section: 

• Plan Boundaries 
• Man Made Constraints 
• Environmental Considerations 
• Parks, Open Spaces and Facilities 
• Roads and Access 
• Road Diagrams 
• Water 
• Sanitary 
• Stormwater 
• Development Staging 
• Plan Boundaries 

   

147



148



149



150



151



152



 
Final Draft 

32 

Figure 8 Road Diagrams 

 

 

   

153



154



155



156



157



158



Agenda Item # 7. f) 
 

 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:   CAO  

 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning and Development 

Title: PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 898-13 Fort Vermilion Industrial Area Structure Plan  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Area Structure Plans have progressed well, and input has been received from both 
Council and the public. The input received has been incorporated into the ASPs, 
creating a comprehensive 20 year planning document that reflects the desires of the 
community while directing the growth of the community based on current planning 
principles. 
 
The Industrial ASPs all deviate to some degree from the direction provided within the 
MDP. While most of the principles are in compliance with the MDP, the general land use 
for this area is hamlet residential according to the MDP. In order to ensure that the 
ASPs are consistent with the MDP, a MDP amendment is necessary. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
To implement a new direction of rural industrial growth planning for the area around Fort 
Vermilion. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
There are no additional costs involved with adopting the ASPs, however there may be 
additional costs incurred in future budgets to implement some of the strategies.   
 
 
 

159



 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

COMMUNICATION: 
 
The public hearings were advertised in the local papers, progress updates have been 
included in the County Image, and notifications were posted on Facebook. Planning 
staff will communicate the changes to developers as they come in. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion 1 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 898-13 being the Fort Vermilion Industrial Area 
Structure Plan. 
 
Motion 2 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 898-13 being the Fort Vermilion Industrial Area 
Structure Plan. 
 
Motion 3 
 
That administration amend the Municipal Development Plan to ensure consistency with 
the Area Structure Plans, and bring back to Council in a timely manner.  

160



 1 

Mackenzie County 
 

PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 

BYLAW 898-13 
 

Order of Presentation 
 
 

  This Public Hearing will now come to order at    . 
 
  Was the Public Hearing properly advertised? 
 
  Will the Development Authority    , please outline  

the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his 
submission. 

 
  Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use 

Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment?  If yes, please read them. 
 

  Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the 
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s) 
making their presentation? 
 

  This Hearing is now closed at    . 
 
 
REMARKS/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\eva\council\pubhear.doc 

161



BYLAW NO. 898-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO ENACT THE 
FORT VERMILION INDUSTRIAL AREA STRUCTURE PLAN 

 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act provides that a Council may adopt an area 
structure plan, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
advisable to adopt an Area Structure Plan for all land within the designated boundary as 
indicated in the Area Structure Plan to provide for the orderly development of the area 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the following: 
 

i) That the attached Area Structure Plan, effecting the lands as indicated in 
the attached Area Structure Plan, be designated as the Fort Vermilion 
Industrial Area Structure Plan. 

 
 
 
READ a first time this 24th day of April, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this _____ day of _________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this _____ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 

162



Final Draft 

   

 

 

 

29/07/2013 

1102‐02‐00 
163



 

 
i 

Final Draft 

Contents 
1  Purpose and Scope .................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1  Background Report ............................................................................................................... 1 

1.2  Municipal Development Plan ............................................................................................... 2 

1.3  Community Consultation ...................................................................................................... 3 

2  Creating a Vision ....................................................................................................................... 5 

2.1  Vision .................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.2  Land Use Concept ................................................................................................................. 6 

3  Achieving the Vision .................................................................................................................. 7 

3.1  General Development Policies ............................................................................................. 7 

3.2  Limited General Industrial .................................................................................................... 8 

3.3  Highway Commercial .......................................................................................................... 10 

3.5  Country Residential ............................................................................................................ 12 

3.6  Agriculture and Rural Development ................................................................................... 13 

3.7  Natural Areas and Open Space ........................................................................................... 14 

3.8  Stormwater, Water and Wastewater Servicing .................................................................. 15 

3.9  Shallow Utilities .................................................................................................................. 17 

3.10  Roads and Access ............................................................................................................... 18 

3.11  Fire Smart ........................................................................................................................... 19 

4    Implementation ...................................................................................................................... 20 

4.1    Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws ........................................................... 20 

 
   

164



 

 
ii 

Final Draft 

List of Figures 

Figure 1: Location ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

Figure 2: Boundary ...................................................................................................................................... 22 

Figure 3: Development Considerations ...................................................................................................... 23 

Figure 4: Land Use Concept ........................................................................................................................ 24 

Figure 5: Roads and Access ......................................................................................................................... 25 

Figure 6: Servicing Concept ......................................................................................................................... 26 

Figure 7: Development Sequencing ............................................................................................................ 27

165



 

 
1 

Final Draft 

1 Purpose and Scope 
The Fort Vermilion Industrial Area Structure Plan (Plan) has been prepared for a 960 hectare area 
of land directly south of the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion at the request of Mackenzie County.   

The Plan is intended to provide a framework for future subdivision, servicing, and development of 
land in order to ensure a supply of heavy and light industrial lands.   This Plan is one of four 
industrial plans being prepared concurrently in the County for industrial land uses.  The location is 
illustrated in Figure 1: Location.   

The Plan is primarily based on Council direction and policies from the Municipal Development 
Plan Bylaw 735‐09.  It sets out a vision and specifies actions and policies needed to achieve that 
vision based on the requirements of the Municipal Government Act (MGA).  The MGA requires an 
Area Structure Plane to identify: 

• Sequence of development for the Plan area; 

• Land uses proposed for the area, either generally or with respect to specific parts of the 
area;  

• Density of population proposed for the area either generally or with respect to specific 
parts of the area; 

• General location of major transportation routes and public utilities; and 

• Other matters Council considers necessary. 

Area Structure Plans are long‐term “living documents.”  As the land use, socio‐demographic and 
economic context changes it is not uncommon for plans to be reviewed and amended.  Despite 
such changes, the vision of this Area Structure Plan should remain consistent.   However, it is 
anticipated that more detailed components may be amended in accordance with County needs 
on an ongoing basis. 

The policies and actions identified in this Plan are intended to influence the Mackenzie County 
Land Use Bylaw, development standards, Outline Plans, subdivision design, and development 
approvals to ensure that the long term vision for growth determined by this process is achieved. 

1.1 Background Report 
Along with the Plan, a background report has been prepared.  The Mackenzie County Industrial 
Area Structure Plans Background Report contains most of the analysis undertaken to identify the 
vision, goals and policies for this Plan and three other industrial plans.  This includes a review of 
the planning context; review of existing land uses, natural features, facilities and infrastructure; 
and identification of opportunities associated with the same.   

166



 

 
2 

Final Draft 

1.2 Municipal Development Plan 

As the highest level municipal planning document for the County, the Mackenzie County 
Municipal Development Plan (MDP) is a primary factor in determining the policy direction of the 
Plan.   

1.2.1 Objectives for Industrial Development 

The MDP addresses future industrial growth and development in the County.  Key objectives 
expressed in the MDP involving industrial development include: 

• Facilitate industrial developments that support agriculture; 

• Support a concentrated pattern of industrial development; 

• Emphasize the forestry sector as a key component of Mackenzie County’s economy and 
facilitate its continued growth and diversification;   

• Support Mackenzie County’s role as a centre for oil and gas exploration and development 
in the surrounding fields;   

• Promote and diversify Mackenzie County’s economy by emphasizing manufacturing, 
transportation, and the supply of industrial goods and services; 

• Minimize the negative impacts of rural industrial development; and, 

• Ensure all industrial areas in Mackenzie County are attractive and feasible. 

 

   

167



 

 
3 

Final Draft 

1.3 Community Consultation 

Community consultation forms the cornerstone of the vision, policies and actions identified in the 
Plan.  Early stakeholder consultation helped focus the direction of this Plan, while a public open 
house ensured wider input into the Plan’s vision, policies and concepts.  Results of this 
consultation can be found in the background report for this Plan. 

Key points recorded during public consultation were: 

1.3.1 Early Stakeholder Feedback 

• Stakeholders would like to see the land within the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion boundary 
built out before opening up and designating new land for development. 

• Lots should be large enough for large trucks to manoeuvre within the property. 

• Buildings should appear clean and well kept, architectural controls may be suitable as 
long as long as financial challenges on business owners are considered. 

• There is support for a tree line or treed buffer between Highway 88 and the industrial 
facilities to preserve rural character and create a cleaner looking development. 

• Power lines should be run underground to improve the visual appearance of the 
property on the site adjacent to the hamlet. 

• There should be a setback between residential uses and industrial uses to reduce noise 
and other impacts. 

• Most respondents feel that the County offers considerable opportunity for 
manufacturing development. 

1.3.2 Open House Feedback 

A public open house was held on May 24, 2013 at the Community and Cultural Complex in Fort 
Vermilion with 13 people attending.   

• Fort Vermilion was the industrial centre of the north, historically.   

• More people are needed to sustain services in the community. 

• Opposed to changing existing country residential properties along service road off Highway 
88 (SW corner of hamlet) to highway commercial uses. 

• Existing yard site development, or modular and manufactured homes should be able to 
become stick‐built permanent homes when the ASP is implemented. 

• Agricultural uses should not be discouraged. 

• Future industrial development should be dealt with on a case by case basis, instead of 
planning it comprehensively. 

168



 

 
4 

Final Draft 

• Existing uses should not be changed, rather wider permissions should be granted to 
accommodate industrial development while maintaining existing permissible uses. 

• This plan restricts future growth of the hamlet. 

• The hamlet has not changed in 225 years.  There is too much land being rezoned for 
industrial use.  The plan should be moved away from the hamlet. 

• Concern over capacity of hamlet water and sewer system to handle demand from new 
development. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   

169



 

 
5 

Final Draft 

2 Creating a Vision 
Mackenzie County has prepared this plan to clarify, communicate, and deliver its vision for future 
industrial development and redevelopment in the Plan area. 

2.1 Vision 
At build out the Plan area is envisioned to provide land for an efficient and diversified resource‐based 
industrial economy that generates long‐term benefits to County residents, businesses, and 
surrounding communities while recognizing opportunities for complementary types of development. 

In order to implement this vision, the Plan seeks to achieve specific objectives that recognize and build 
on the industrial policies of the MDP.  The objectives of this Plan are to: 

• Guide interim and long‐term industrial and resource‐based growth in a deliberate manner that 
coordinates with existing and planned infrastructure provisions. 

• Promote existing assets in and around the plan area, such as highways, airports, railways and 
major employment nodes that can be used to strengthen the local economy. 

• Protect existing rural residences, institutional uses and agricultural operations adjacent to the 
Plan area from potential land use conflicts. 

• Preserve (and where possible, enhance) important features of the natural environment. 

• Recognize the changing needs of the local economy by allowing a range of industrial 
subdivision options, including large and small lots and serviced and un‐serviced alternatives. 

• Ensure that development allows for the orderly expansion of municipal, provincial, and federal 
infrastructure, such as roads, airports, railways, water and waste water services, trails and 
community recreation facilities. 

• Provide a location for Country Residential development that minimizes land use conflicts. 

• Minimize impacts of industrial development on nearby hamlet residential uses. 

As a part of delivering these objectives, the Plan must be consistent with existing municipal, provincial, 
and federal policies, regulations and plans for the areas. 

   

170



 

 
6 

Final Draft 

2.2  Land Use Concept 
The Land Use Concept generally identifies the intended future land uses and integrates natural 
and man‐made considerations (as illustrated in Figure 3: Development Considerations) with the 
needs of the County, while meeting relevant policy guides and regulatory requirements.   

The land use areas illustrated in Figure 4: Land Use Concept are conceptual.  They are intended to 
provide a broad road map for future development.  Further planning through Outline Plans, or a 
similar planning mechanism, may refine the designation and area of land uses.  Major deviations 
from this concept will require amendments to the Plan. 

The Land Use Concept recognizes the established development pattern within the surrounding 
area, and integrates compatible land uses to foster a distinct rural industrial character.  The Land 
Use Bylaw should be in general accordance with the Land Use Concept and may need to be 
updated to reflect the identified land uses. 

Policies affecting the land use designations of the Land Use Concept are described in Section 3: 
Development Policies.  The breakdown of developable areas from the Land Use Concept is included in 
the following table. 

 

Table 1 Land Use Statistics 

  Area (ha)  % of GDA 

Gross Developable Area  962  100% 

     

Net Developable Areas     

Country Residential  240  25.0% 

 Industrial  490  51% 

Institutional  35  3.6% 

Agricultural and Rural  177  18.4% 

Note: Rounding may cause inconsistencies in column totals. 

 

Based on the total area of the Country Residential we anticipate a potential development of 180 units, 
which is based on the MDP lot formation rate of 0.93/ha.  At complete build out this results in a total 
potential population of 514 within the Plan area, based on a 2.85 persons per unit rate identified in the 
2011 Census.  

   

171



 

 
7 

Final Draft 

3 Achieving the Vision 
This section sets out policies to guide development in a manner that can achieve the vision for the 
Plan, as well as fulfill the requirements of the MGA. 

3.1 General Development Policies 

The following policies reflect the intent of the vision for the Plan and apply to all areas of the Plan. 

All Areas 1. Mackenzie County supports the clustering of similar and complementary 
industrial uses and supports the sharing of information, products and 
linkages to resource and transportation networks within clusters. 

All Areas 2. The County should encourage orderly sequences of development, 
following a contiguous pattern consistent with the economical use and 
extension of existing services.   

All Areas 3. Development should maintain the natural drainage pattern of the land 
to reduce impacts from development.  A stormwater management plan 
may be required for any development.   

All Areas 4. Detailed biophysical, geotechnical, hydrological, and similar studies have 
not been completed as part of this high level planning process.  The 
County should consider requiring such studies along with applications for 
development. 

All Areas 5. Developers should be encouraged to retain existing trees during design 
and development in order to maintain environmental habitat and local 
landscapes, particularly in buffer areas and beside adjacent roads. 

All Areas 6. The planning area is considered to have high potential to contain 
archaeological, paleontological and/or historic period resources.  A 
Historic Resource Impact Assessment may be required prior to 
development.  All development proposals should be referred to the 
Historic Resources Management Branch for review and will require an 
application for Historical Resources Act clearance. 

All Areas 7. Outline Plans should be generally consistent with the Land Use Concept; 
however: 

1. They may deviate from the Land Use Concept provided the 
objectives of the Plan are maintained. 

2. They may deviate from the affected Land Use Concept when a site 
specific constraint is identified that requires a change. 

3. Amendments to this Plan may be required. 

   

172



 

 
8 

Final Draft 

3.2 Limited General Industrial  

The Limited General Industrial Area is intended to provide for the development of a mix of light and 
heavy industrial uses, with limits on the types and levels of nuisances (e.g. noise, dust, odours, gases, 
particulate substances, toxic substances) these uses create to ensure compatibility with surrounding 
sensitive uses, such as the Hamlet of Fort Vermillion and existing Country Residential development. 

Within the Limited General Industrial Area heavy industrial uses such as manufacturing, processing, 
assembly, distribution, service and repair may be developed on lands that are setback away from 
existing or planned land uses that are potentially sensitive to industrial nuisances.  With the 
aforementioned limitation of permissible levels of nuisance, heavy industrial uses such as 
manufacturing, processing, assembly, distribution, service and repair should be developed in the Plan 
area.  

Within the Limited General Industrial Area light industrial uses should be encouraged to locate so as to 
provide a buffer between heavy industrial areas and nearby land uses that are potentially sensitive to 
nuisance, such as Country Residential.  Examples of light industrial uses include agricultural machinery 
sales and service, automotive equipment and vehicle services, contractor’s business and yard, outdoor 
storage, some oil and gas services and warehousing and similar uses.  In general, these uses should 
generate few offsite impacts.    

3.2.1 Limited General Industrial Area Policies 

Limited General Industrial 1. No industrial uses that will create a hazard or negatively impact 
on the quality of life of Fort Vermilion residents should be 
permitted. 

Limited General Industrial 2. As shown in Figure 4: Land Use Concept, heavy industrial uses 
should be located in areas that are away from existing or planned 
residential areas.  Industrial uses may consist of activities that 
generally require a large amount of land for outdoor storage 
space and may or may not conduct industrial activities outdoors. 
These uses are expected to emit odours, noise, particulate matter, 
and light due to the character of their operations that can cause 
negative impacts on nearby sensitive land uses. 

Limited General Industrial 3. Industrial uses should be developed in a manner that minimizes 
the potential impacts on adjacent or nearby properties. Methods 
to ensure industrial developments do not negatively impact 
adjacent properties and roadways may include the construction of 
landscaped berms, architectural treatments, landscaping and 
fencing, distance separation, and the retention or planting of 
native vegetation and onsite treatment of stormwater. 

Limited General Industrial 4.  Light industrial uses should be located adjacent to existing or 
planned residential areas in order to serve as a transitional area 
between residential uses and heavy industrial uses.  

   

173



 

 
9 

Final Draft 

Limited General Industrial 5.   Landscaping should be required adjacent to Highway 88.  This 
landscaping should be of sufficient depth and massing to screen 
views from passersby and to maintain the rural character of the 
area. 

Limited General Industrial 6.  Mackenzie County should require that all future Limited General 
Industrial development is serviced by municipal water and sanitary 
systems where practical and available. 

 

 

 

   

174



 

 
10 

Final Draft 

3.3 Highway Commercial  

Highways create attractive locations for commercial businesses due to relatively higher levels of 
visibility and access.  Highway commercial uses are anticipated to be in the form of traffic oriented 
commercial uses that cater to a regional market catchment.   Highway Commercial uses are located 
along Highway 88 east of Range Road 131A and west of 45 Street. 

3.3.1 Highway Commercial Policies 

Highway Commercial 1.     Sites should be designed in a comprehensive manner that integrates with 
existing and future development opportunities on surrounding sites, 
including consideration of building design, mass, transportation and site 
operation.  This may require cooperation amongst adjacent property 
owners through a Conceptual Scheme or similar area plan to create 
attractive and functional commercial areas.  Joint access, drainage and 
parking easement agreements may be required to facilitate cooperative 
use and development.   

Highway Commercial 2.  New developments should be subject to landscaping and appearance 
requirements to ensure that these areas are aesthetically pleasing.  

Highway Commercial 3.  Site design should take account of and create a compatible interface 
with any adjacent development and the surrounding environment.  

Highway Commercial 4.        Development of properties adjacent to residential areas should address 
potential land use conflicts through building orientation, landscaped 
buffers, lighting design, architectural treatments and operational 
requirements.    

Highway Commercial 5.  Low Impact Design (LID) features should be incorporated into 
developments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

175



 

 
11 

Final Draft 

3.4     Institutional Area 

The Institutional Area recognizes the importance of the Mackenzie Applied Research Association’s 
research station to the County and the Fort Vermilion community.  Agriculture and Agri‐food Canada 
has operated this research station for many years. The station is an operating research farm with land, 
buildings and research equipment. The Mackenzie Applied Research Association has been using the 
station alongside federal and provincial researchers investigating crops for a northern environment.  
The County is committed to ensuring the use on this property remains a Research Station. 

3.4.1     Institutional Area Policies 

Institutional Area 1.   The County should work with Mackenzie Applied Research Association, 
Agriculture and Agri‐food Canada to promote the continued use of this facility 
as a Research Station. 

Institutional Area 2.   Should this facility cease to operate, the County should pursue an opportunity 
to promote the adaptive re‐use of the property for tourism purposes or for 
another suitable institutional use. 

 

   

176



 

 
12 

Final Draft 

3.5 Country Residential  

Within the Plan area are nodes of existing rural residential developments.  This form of residential 
development in this portion of Mackenzie County is an attractive option for some residents because it 
provides a land‐base suitable for rural activities such as small scale agricultural operations, home‐
based business opportunities, and outdoor recreation, while also remaining in close proximity to major 
social and commercial services. 

Although the long range vision for the Plan is to support industrial development, existing Country 
Residential uses should be protected from negative impacts of new industrial development and new 
Country Residential developments should be encouraged as identified in the Land Use Concept.    

3.5.1 Country Residential Policies 

Country Residential 1. Country Residential developments should be permitted within the Plan 
area only where identified by the Land Use Concept. 

Country Residential 2. Future multi‐lot Country Residential subdivisions within the Plan area 
should be guided by an Outline Plan. 

Country Residential 3. Mackenzie County should not allow access to Country Residential 
properties from Highway 88. 

Country Residential 4. It is intended that new residential uses be prohibited from industrial 
areas of the plan.  However, existing residential yard sites and 
manufactured homes should be permitted to develop into single family 
dwellings. 

   

177



 

 
13 

Final Draft 

3.6 Agriculture and Rural Development 

Portions of the Plan adjacent to the west and east of the Hamlet of Fort Vermilion are identified for 
Agricultural and Rural Development.  In the near term these lands are expected to support rural land 
uses, such as farming, ranching, rural residences, outdoor recreation and similar uses.  In the long 
term, though perhaps not within the lifetime of this Plan, these areas are expected to serve as future 
development areas for the Hamlet’s expansion. 

3.6.1  Agricultural and Rural Development Policies 

Agricultural and Rural Areas 1. Agricultural and rural uses within the Plan should be compatible 
with existing and planned industrial uses and other nearby uses. 

Agricultural and Rural Areas 2. Intensive livestock operations should not operate within these 
areas. 

Agricultural and Rural Areas 3. These areas should serve for the future expansion of the hamlet of 
Fort Vermilion, not for additional industrial development. 

   

178



 

 
14 

Final Draft 

3.7 Natural Areas and Open Space 

Open spaces, both formally landscaped and natural, are essential components to the physical 
structure of the Land Use Concept.  Open spaces can add to and also help retain the rural 
character of the plan area as development takes place.  The benefits that can be achieved with 
open space include: 

• Lending a rural character to the industrial development; 

• Visual transition and noise/odour buffering between uses; and, 

• Habitat and corridors for local wildlife. 

At the time of development or subdivision, natural areas may be identified through the 
preparation of technical studies and reports prepared by qualified professionals, as required by 
the County and paid for by the developer.  Where suitable, natural areas should be dedicated as 
Environmental or Municipal Reserve or protected through similar measures. 

3.7.1 Natural Area and Open Space Policies 

Natural Areas 1. In accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Government Act, upon 
subdivision of any land within the Plan area the County should require that 
any portion of lands that meet the definition of Environmental Reserve  as 
outlined in the MGA be dedicated as Environmental Reserve or otherwise 
protected.  

Natural Areas 2.  Any land within the Plan that becomes subject to an Environmental 
Reserve Easement should remain in its natural state in accordance with 
the provisions of the Municipal Government Act. 

Natural Areas 3.  Mackenzie County should require the 10% of Municipal Reserve entitled to 
the County for subdivisions within the plan area in accordance with the 
Municipal Government Act as land or cash in lieu. 

Natural Areas 4.  Mackenzie County may consider the deferral of Municipal Reserve dedications 
to other lands owned by the same developer.  

 

   

179



 

 
15 

Final Draft 

3.8 Stormwater, Water and Wastewater Servicing 

Currently, municipal services for water and wastewater are available through the Hamlet of Fort 
Vermilion directly north of the Plan boundary.   

Stormwater, water and wastewater facilities identified in this Plan are conceptual, and therefore 
it is anticipated that landowners and developers will address detailed future servicing options for 
land use developments within the Plan area by submitting Outline Plans (or similar area plans) 
and development and subdivision applications.  It is anticipated that developments in the Plan 
area will be serviced by municipal water and wastewater, wherever practical and that stormwater 
management facilities will be incorporated into site development and subdivision design.  

It is expected that developments in the Plan area should contribute proportionately to the 
installation and expansion of municipal services from which they benefit. 

3.8.1 Water and Wastewater Servicing Policies 

Servicing  1. Mackenzie County should require that development be serviced by onsite 
water and sanitary systems, until such time as municipal services are 
available and cost effective. 

Servicing  2. All development should be connected to municipal water and/or 
wastewater systems wherever practical. 

Servicing  3. Infrastructure should be designed to accommodate lands outside of the Plan 
boundaries where requested by the County. 

Servicing  4. Municipal services should be provided by a developer at their cost. 

Servicing  5. Preparation of a servicing study to the satisfaction of the County may be 
required to developing any lands. 

Servicing  6. Developers are encouraged to explore the most cost efficient servicing 
options available. 

Servicing  7. Developers should take into consideration the long‐term operation and 
maintenance cost to the County when evaluating servicing options.  

Servicing  8. The layout of municipal services is likely to be subject to refinement at the 
subdivision stage. 

Servicing  9. All water services should be metered and designed for peak servicing 
requirements and adequate fire suppression needs. 

   

180



 

 
16 

Final Draft 

3.8.2 Stormwater Servicing Policies 

Servicing  10. A stormwater management plan should be required for all new industrial 
developments. 

Servicing  11. The stormwater management plan should encourage the design of 
landscaping that reduces the need for water and incorporates alternative 
designs that promote water conservation. 

Servicing  12. Stormwater management facilities (SWMFs) should be incorporated in the 
initial planning stages for any portion of the Plan area and be designed to 
improve water quality and to control runoff from future development. 

Servicing  13. SWMFs should be designed to avoid pollution entering existing stormwater 
systems, drainage courses and natural areas. 

Servicing  14. Developments should strive to retain stormwater on‐site and discharge at a 
post development rate that does not exceed pre‐development release rates. 

Servicing  15. Naturally occurring wetlands and low‐lying areas are preferred as locations 
for stormwater retention facilities however locations for SWMFs are subject 
to provincial legislation, regulation, policy and procedures.   

Servicing  16. All design and installation of SWMFs should be in compliance with provincial 
legislation, regulation, policy and procedures. 

Servicing  17. All costs associated with construction of SWMFs shall be borne by the 
developer. 

Servicing  18. All costs associated with the maintenance of SWMFs in industrial areas 
should be borne by the benefitting developers. 

 

181



 

 
17 

Final Draft 

3.9 Shallow Utilities 

It is anticipated that more detailed land use and subdivision plans will be completed in the future 
to identify specific shallow utility design and requirements.   Northern Lights Gas Co‐op and ATCO 
are the main utility service providers in the Plan area. 

3.9.1 Shallow Utilities Policies 

Shallow Utilities  1. The County will work with utility providers to ensure production and 
capacity for power and natural gas services are not a constraint to 
development. 

Shallow Utilities  2. Where desirable, utility corridors should accommodate passive recreation 
opportunities such as multi‐use trails. 

Shallow Utilities  3. A developer may be required to provide rights‐of way for shallow services. 

Shallow Utilities  4. Development should not be rejected based on the absence of power and 
natural gas services.  

 

   

182



 

 
18 

Final Draft 

3.10 Roads and Access 

As this Plan incorporates residential, agricultural and industrial development, future roads and 
access both within the Plan area and connecting to adjacent lands need to be able to 
accommodate a wide variety of vehicles, volumes and traffic patterns. The Land Use Concept and 
Figure 5: Roads and Access describes how current, upgraded and new roadways can service 
existing and planned developments.  

3.10.1 Roads and Access Policies 

Roads and Access 1. All roadways, intersections and accesses should be developed to 
Mackenzie County standards. 

Roads and Access 2. The County should require all benefitting developers to contribute 
proportionally to the cost of road upgrades. 

Roads and Access 3. The County should work with Alberta Transportation and other relevant 
agencies to incorporate a dangerous goods route that can adequately 
serve planned developments. 

Roads and Access 4. The County may consider deviation from the Plan’s road and access 
network if the deviation is to avoid creating isolated undevelopable 
parcels, enable safer intersection design, or achieve an identifiable better 
outcome. 

Roads and Access 5.  All new development should be accessed from the internal transportation 
network, with the exception of the Highway Commercial Area which 
should have two access points from Highway 88 onto a service road 
running east west along the front of the commercial properties. 

183



 

 
19 

Final Draft 

3.11  Fire Smart 

As the Plan area develops over time, it will be important to ensure that emergency preparedness 
and fire prevention is incorporated into the site design of future industrial businesses. 

The proximity of the Plan area to existing natural areas, combined with the presence of densely 
treed areas throughout the Plan area highlights the fact that forest fires are a real and tangible 
threat.  The ability of local emergency services to provide effective fire protection is dependent, in 
large part, on future development patterns and onsite preventative measures. 

3.11.1 Fire Smart Policies 

Fire Smart 1.   Mackenzie County should require developers to prepare an emergency 
preparedness plan as a part of a subdivision or as part of an Outline Plan for 
multi‐lot industrial subdivisions and also for individual industrial development as 
appropriate.  This plan should address applicable recommendations contained in 
the Fire Smart Guide Book for the Oil and Gas Industry, produced by the Alberta 
Partners in Protection, including: 

• Vegetation removal/conversion/reduction; 

• Siting and orientation of buildings; 

• Siting and orientation of flarestacks; 

• Siting and orientation of power lines; 

• Siting and orientation of roads and emergency routes; 

• External building materials (i.e. siding and roofing materials); 

• Storage of flammable materials; and, 

• Notification and communication with applicable provincial, municipal 
and emergency response agencies. 

 
Fire Smart 2.  Developers may be required to prepare an emergency plan as part of a 

subdivision plan, Conceptual Plan, Outline Plan, or similar plan for residential and 
community uses.  The emergency plan would address recommendations in the 
Fire Smart: Protecting your Community from Wild Fire manual published by 
Partners in Protection.   

184



 

 
20 

Final Draft 

4    Implementation 
This implementation strategy addresses planning processes and suggests a development 
sequence. 

4.1   Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws 

The Plan has been prepared to be generally consistent with the MDP.  To achieve consistency 
between plans and existing policy documents, the following is required: 

• Amend the MDP to re‐designate the Plan area to Rural Industrial from Hamlet 
Residential.   

• Amend the Land Use Bylaw to reflect any differences between the Land Use Concept 
and the current land use districts.  A delay in completing this task runs the risk of an 
increase in Country Residential development during the interim, increasing the 
opportunity for land use conflicts. 

4.2   Outline Plans 

The Plan addresses future development in conceptual terms.  Prior to development, and at the 
discretion of the County, an application for subdivision and development may require the preparation 
of an Outline Plan or similar area planning mechanism.  The boundary of future area plans should be 
based on good planning practice and not necessarily land ownership.     

4.3   Municipal Reserve 

Mackenzie County requires that 10% of all subdivision areas be dedicated as Municipal Reserve, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Government Act.  To create a complete and functional 
community, cooperation and a strategy is required to ensure that Municipal Reserve is located in 
appropriate locations to serve future residents.  To accomplish this where there are multiple land 
owners in an area, some land owners are often required to have to provide more than their share of 
the 10% reserve dedication, while others are requested to pay ‘money in lieu’ of dedicating land to 
compensate those land owners who provided the land so that in effect every developer makes a 
similar contribution of 10%.  The County should take Municipal Reserve dedications through the cash‐
in‐lieu option if the land is not required.  These funds should be used for new or upgraded recreation 
facilities in nearby areas of the County, such as the Hamlet of Fort Vermillion. 

4.4  Conceptual Development Sequence 

Conceptual Development Sequencing is shown in Figure 7.  Development staging should follow a 
general practice of contiguous expansion and it is anticipated that future development will 
generally occur in areas adjacent to existing industrial developments and major transportation 
corridors.  However, while the various industrial Plans being developed concurrently provide a 
large amount of industrial land supply throughout the County, the sequencing and extent of 
development within the boundaries of this Plan will largely be governed by the market demand 
for industrial land locally.  Therefore, non‐contiguous development may be considered, provided 
the developer pays for service extension costs to the satisfaction of the County. 

 

185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



Agenda Item # 7. g) 
 

 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:   CAO  

 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning and Development 

Title: 
PUBLIC HEARING 
Bylaw 900-13 Mackenzie Highway Industrial Area Structure 
Plan  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Area Structure Plans have progressed well, and input has been received from both 
Council and the public. The input received has been incorporated into the ASPs, 
creating a comprehensive 20 year planning document that reflects the desires of the 
community while directing the growth of the community based on current planning 
principles. 
 
The Industrial ASPs all deviate to some degree from the direction provided within the 
MDP. While most of the principles are in compliance with the MDP, the locations 
indicated for Industrial development have not all been followed. In order to ensure that 
the ASPs are consistent with the MDP, a MDP amendment is necessary. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
To implement a new direction of rural industrial growth planning for the area south of 
High Level 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
There are no additional costs involved with adopting the ASPs, however there may be 
additional costs incurred in future budgets to implement some of the strategies.   
 
 
 

195



 
Author: B. Peters Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

COMMUNICATION: 
 
The public hearings were advertised in the local papers, progress updates have been 
included in the County Image, and notifications were posted on Facebook. Planning 
staff will communicate the changes to developers as they come in. 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
Motion 1 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 900-13 being the Mackenzie Highway Industrial 
Area Structure Plan. 
 
Motion 2 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 900-13 being the Mackenzie Highway Industrial 
Area Structure Plan. 
 

196



 1 

Mackenzie County 
 

PUBLIC HEARING FOR LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 

BYLAW 900-13 
 

Order of Presentation 
 
 

  This Public Hearing will now come to order at    . 
 
  Was the Public Hearing properly advertised? 
 
  Will the Development Authority    , please outline  

the proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment and present his 
submission. 

 
  Does the Council have any questions of the proposed Land Use 

Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  Were any submissions received in regards to the proposed Land 
Use Bylaw Amendment?  If yes, please read them. 
 

  Is there anyone present who would like to speak in regards of the 
proposed Land Use Bylaw Amendment? 
 

  If YES: Does the Council have any questions of the person(s) 
making their presentation? 
 

  This Hearing is now closed at    . 
 
 
REMARKS/COMMENTS: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
f:\eva\council\pubhear.doc 

197



BYLAW NO. 900-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO ENACT THE 
MACKENZIE HIGHWAY INDUSTRIAL AREA STRUCTURE PLAN 

 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act provides that a Council may adopt an area 
structure plan, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
advisable to adopt an Area Structure Plan for all land within the designated boundary as 
indicated in the Area Structure Plan to provide for the orderly development of the area 
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the following: 
 

i) That the attached Area Structure Plan, effecting the lands as indicated in 
the attached Area Structure Plan, be designated as the Mackenzie 
Highway Industrial Area Structure Plan. 

 
 
 
READ a first time this 24th day of April, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this _____ day of _________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this _____ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 
 
 

 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 

198



Final Draft 

   

 

 

 

 

29/07/13 

1102‐02‐00 

199



 

 
i 

Final Draft 

Contents 
1  Purpose and Scope .................................................................................................................... 1 

1.1  Background Report ............................................................................................................... 1 

1.2  Municipal Development Plan ............................................................................................... 2 

1.3  Community Consultation ...................................................................................................... 3 

2  Creating a Vision ....................................................................................................................... 4 

2.1  Vision .................................................................................................................................... 4 

2.2  Land Use Concept ................................................................................................................. 5 

3  Achieving the Vision .................................................................................................................. 6 

3.1  General Development Policies ............................................................................................. 6 

3.2  Industrial Development ........................................................................................................ 7 

3.3  Country Residential .............................................................................................................. 9 

3.4  Natural Areas and Open Spaces ......................................................................................... 10 

3.5   Stormwater, Water and Wastewater Servicing .................................................................. 11 

3.6  Shallow Utilities .................................................................................................................. 13 

3.7  Roads and Access ............................................................................................................... 14 

3.8  Fire Smart ........................................................................................................................... 15 

4  Implementation ...................................................................................................................... 16 

4.1  Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws ........................................................... 16 

4.2  Outline Plans ....................................................................................................................... 16 

4.3  Municipal Reserve .............................................................................................................. 16 

4.4  Conceptual Development Sequence .................................................................................. 17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

200



 

 
ii 

Final Draft 

List of Figures 

Figure 1: Location ........................................................................................................................................ 18 

Figure 2: Boundary ...................................................................................................................................... 19 

Figure 3: Development Considerations ...................................................................................................... 20 

Figure 4: Land Use Concept ........................................................................................................................ 21 

Figure 5: Roads and Access ......................................................................................................................... 22 

Figure 6: Conceptual Development Sequencing ......................................................................................... 23 

201



 

 
1 
 

Final Draft 

1 Purpose and Scope 
The Mackenzie Highway Industrial Area Structure Plan (Plan) has been prepared for a 2840 
hectare area of land south west of the Town of High Level at the request of Mackenzie County.    

The Plan is intended to provide a framework for future subdivision, servicing, and development of 
land in order to ensure a supply of heavy and light industrial lands which benefit from access to 
Highway 35 and CN rail.   This Plan is one of four industrial plans being prepared concurrently in 
the County for industrial land uses.  The location of the plan area is illustrated in Figure 1: 
Location. 

The Plan is primarily based on Council direction and policies from the Municipal Development Plan 
Bylaw 735‐09.  It sets out a vision and specifies actions and policies needed to achieve that vision 
based on the requirements of the Municipal Government Act (MGA).  The MGA requires an Area 
Structure Plan to identify: 

• Sequence of development for the Plan area; 

• Land uses proposed for the area, either generally or with respect to specific parts of the 
area;  

• Density of population proposed for the area either generally or with respect to specific 
parts of the area; 

• General location of major transportation routes and public utilities; and 

• Other matters Council considers necessary. 

Area Structure Plans are long‐term “living documents.”  As the land use, socio‐demographic and 
economic context changes it is not uncommon for plans to be reviewed and amended.  Despite such 
changes, the vision of this Area Structure Plan should remain consistent.   However, it is anticipated 
that more detailed components may be amended in accordance with Hamlet and County needs on an 
ongoing basis. 

The policies and actions identified in this Plan are intended to influence the Mackenzie County Land 
Use Bylaw, development standards, Outline Plans, subdivision design, and development approvals to 
ensure that the long term vision for growth determined by this process is achieved. 

1.1 Background Report 
Along with the Plan, a background report has been prepared.  The Mackenzie County Industrial Area 
Structure Plans Background Report contains most of the analysis undertaken to identify the vision, 
goals and policies for this Plan and three other industrial plans.  This includes a review of the planning 
context; an update of economic and demographic considerations; review of existing land uses, natural 
features, facilities and infrastructure; and identification of opportunities associated with the same.   

202



 

 
2 
 

Final Draft 

1.2 Municipal Development Plan 

As the highest level municipal planning document for the County, the Mackenzie County Municipal 
Development Plan (MDP) is a primary factor in determining the policy direction of the Plan.   

1.2.1 Objectives for Industrial Development 

The Mackenzie County MDP addresses future industrial growth and development in the County.  Key 
objectives expressed in the MDP involving industrial development include: 

• Facilitate industrial developments that support agriculture; 

• Support a concentrated pattern of industrial development; 

• Emphasize the forestry sector as a key component of Mackenzie County’s 
economy and to facilitate its continued growth and diversification;  

• Support Mackenzie County’s role as a centre for oil and gas exploration and 
development in the surrounding fields;   

• Promote and diversify Mackenzie County’s economy by emphasizing 
manufacturing, transportation, and the supply of industrial goods and services; 

• Minimize the negative impacts of rural industrial development; and, 

• Ensure all industrial areas in Mackenzie County are attractive and feasible. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

203



 

 
3 
 

Final Draft 

1.3 Community Consultation 

Community consultation forms the cornerstone of the vision, policies and actions identified in the 
Plan.  Early stakeholder consultation helped focus the direction of this Plan, while a public open 
house ensured wider input into the Plan’s vision, policies and concepts.  Results of this 
consultation can be found in the background report for this Plan. 

Key points recorded during public consultation were: 

1.3.1 Early Stakeholder Feedback 

• Lots should be large enough for large trucks to manoeuvre within the property. 

• Buildings should appear clean and well kept, architectural controls may be suitable as 
long as long as financial challenges on business owners are considered. 

• There is support for a tree line or treed buffer between Highway 35 and the industrial 
facilities to preserve rural character and create a cleaner looking development. 

• Power lines should be run underground to improve the visual appearance of the 
development. 

• Setbacks could be used to minimize impacts of industrial development or nearby 
existing residences. 

• There should be a setback between residential uses and industrial uses to reduce nose 
and other impacts. 

• Municipal services should be extended to the new industrial areas. 

• Most respondents feel that the County offers considerable opportunity for 
manufacturing development. 

1.3.2 Open House Feedback 

An open house was held in High Level on May 23, 2013 with 12 people in attendance.   

• Existing yard site development, or modular and manufactured homes should be able 
to become stick‐built permanent homes when the ASP is implemented. 

• Smaller agricultural operations should be permitted uses. 

• Plan area should be smaller. 

• Concern over impacts from industrial uses on nearby residences. 

• All areas should be heavy industrial. 

   

204



 

 
4 
 

Final Draft 

2 Creating a Vision 
Mackenzie County has prepared this plan to clarify, communicate, and deliver its vision for future 
industrial development and redevelopment in the Plan area. 

2.1 Vision 

At build out, the Plan is envisioned to be an area that provides for an efficient and diversified resource‐
based industrial economy that generates a long‐term benefit to County residents, businesses, and 
surrounding rural communities. 

In order to implement this vision, the Plan seeks to achieve specific objectives that recognize and build 
on the industrial policies of the MDP.  The objectives of this plan are to: 

• Guide interim and long‐term industrial and resource‐based growth in a deliberate 
manner that coordinates with existing and planned infrastructure provisions. 

• Promote existing assets in and around the plan area, such as highways, airports, 
railways, major employment nodes that can be used to strengthen the local economy. 

• Protect existing rural residences, institutional uses and agricultural operations adjacent 
to the plan area from potential land use conflicts. 

• Preserve (and where possible, enhance) important features of the local environment. 

• Recognize the changing needs of the local economy by allowing a range of industrial 
subdivision options, including large and small lots and serviced and un‐serviced 
alternatives. 

• Ensure that development within the plan area allows for the orderly expansion of 
municipal, provincial, and federal infrastructure, such as roads, airports, railways, water 
and waste water services, trails and community recreation facilities. 

As a part of delivering these objectives, the Plan must be consistent with existing municipal, provincial, 
and federal policies, regulations and plans for the areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

205



 

 
5 
 

Final Draft 

2.2 Land Use Concept 

The Land Use Concept generally identifies the Plan area’s future land uses and integrates natural and 
man‐made considerations (as illustrated in Figure 3: Development Considerations) with the needs of 
the County, while meeting all relevant policy guides and regulatory requirements.   

The land use areas illustrated in Figure 4: Land Use Concept are conceptual.  They are intended to 
provide a broad road map for future development.  Further planning through Outline Plans, or a 
similar planning mechanism, may refine the designation and area of land uses.  Major deviations from 
this concept will require amendments to the Plan. 

The Land Use Concept recognizes the established development pattern within the surrounding area, 
and integrates compatible land uses to maintain a distinct rural industrial character.  The Land Use 
Bylaw should be in general accordance with the Land Use Concept and may need to be updated to 
reflect the identified land uses. 

Policies affecting the land use designations of the Land Use Concept are described in Section 3: 
Development Policies.  The breakdown of developable areas from the Land Use Concept is included in 
the following table. 

 

Table 1 Land Use Statistics 

  Area (ha)  % of GDA 

Gross Developable Area  2578  100% 

     

Net Developable Areas     

Light Industrial  447  17% 

General Industrial  2001  78% 

Natural   129  5% 

Note: Rounding may cause inconsistencies in column totals. 

 

   

206



 

 
6 
 

Final Draft 

3 Achieving the Vision 
This section sets out policies to guide development in a manner that can achieve the vision for the 
Plan, as well as fulfill the requirements of the MGA. 

 

3.1 General Development Policies 

The following policies reflect the intent of the vision for the Plan and apply to all areas of the Plan. 

All Areas 1. Mackenzie County supports the clustering of similar and complementary 
industrial uses and supports the sharing of information, products and linkages 
to resource and transportation networks within clusters. 

All Areas 2. The County should encourage orderly sequences of development, following a 
contiguous pattern consistent with the economical use and extension of 
existing services.   

All Areas 3. Development should maintain the natural drainage pattern of the land to 
reduce impacts from development.  A stormwater management plan may be 
required for any development.   

All Areas 4. Detailed biophysical, geotechnical, hydrological, and similar studies have not 
been completed as part of this high level planning process.  The County should 
consider requiring such studies along with applications for development. 

All Areas 5. Developers should be encouraged to retain existing trees during design and 
development in order to maintain environmental habitat and local landscapes, 
particularly in buffer areas and beside adjacent roads. 

All Areas 6. The planning area is considered to have high potential to contain 
archaeological, paleontological and/or historic period resources.  A Historic 
Resource Impact Assessment may be required prior to development.  All 
development proposals should be referred to the Historic Resources 
Management Branch for review and will require an application for Historical 
Resources Act clearance. 

All Areas 7. Outline Plans shall be generally consistent with the Land Use Concept; 
however: 

1. They may deviate from the Land Use Concept provided the 
objectives of the Plan are maintained. 

2. They may deviate from the affected Land Use Concept when a site 
specific constraint is identified that requires a change. 

3. Amendments to this Plan may be required. 

 

 

 

207



 

 
7 
 

Final Draft 

3.2 Industrial Development  

The majority of the Plan is intended for industrial development.  Within the industrial development 
areas, both light and heavy industrial uses may be developed.   

The General Industrial Area is intended primarily to be developed with heavy uses such as 
manufacturing, processing, assembly, distribution, service and repair on lands that are setback away 
from existing land uses that are potentially sensitive to industrial nuisances.  Typical uses in this area 
will carry out a portion of their operations outdoors and are not necessarily compatible with 
residential uses.  Examples include heavy industrial uses such as manufacturing, processing, assembly, 
distribution, service and repair.  The Footner Forest Products facility is one example of such a use 
already in operation. 

Light Industrial Areas are intended to provide a transition between General Industrial Areas and 
nearby land uses that are potentially sensitive to the level of nuisance generated by heavy industry 
(e.g. noise, vibration, dust, odours, gases, particulate substances, toxic substances).  Examples of light 
industrial uses include agricultural machinery sales and service, automotive equipment and vehicle 
services, contractor’s business and yard, outdoor storage, some oil and gas services and warehousing 
and similar uses.  In general, these uses will generate few offsite impacts.    

3.2.1 General Industrial Area Policies 

General Industrial 1.  As shown in Figure 4: Land Use Concept, heavy industrial uses 
should be located in areas that are away from existing residential 
uses.  Heavy industrial uses may consist of activities that generally 
require a large amount of land for outdoor storage space and may 
or may not conduct industrial activities outdoors. Examples of 
these uses include heavy manufacturing, oilfield services, 
construction, warehousing, and outdoor storage yards.  These uses 
are expected to emit odours, noise, particulate matter, and light 
due to the character of their operations that can cause negative 
impacts on nearby sensitive land uses. 

General Industrial 2.   Industrial uses in this area should be developed in a manner that 
minimizes the potential impacts on adjacent or nearby properties. 
Methods to ensure industrial developments do not negatively 
impact adjacent properties and roadways may include the 
construction of landscaped berms, architectural treatments, 
landscaping and fencing, distance separation, and the retention or 
planting of native vegetation and onsite treatment of stormwater. 

General Industrial 3.  Landscaping should be required adjacent to Highway 35.  It should be 
of sufficient depth and massing to screen views from passersby and to 
maintain the rural character of the area. 

 

208



 

 
8 
 

Final Draft 

3.2.2 Light Industrial Area Policies 

Light Industrial 1.  Light industrial uses should be developed in a manner that minimizes 
the potential impacts on adjacent or nearby properties. Methods to 
ensure industrial developments do not negatively impact adjacent 
properties and roadways may include the construction of landscaped 
berms, architectural treatments, landscaping and fencing, distance 
separation, and the retention or planting of native vegetation. 

Light Industrial 2.  As shown in Figure 4: Land Use Concept, light industrial uses should be 
located in areas that are adjacent to existing residential uses. Light 
Industrial uses are intended to be more compatible with nearby 
residential development than industrial uses in the General Industrial 
Area. 

Light Industrial 3.  Landscaping should be required adjacent to Highway 35.  It should be of 
sufficient depth and massing to screen views from passersby and to 
maintain the rural character of the area. 

Light Industrial 4.  The construction of landscaped berms on the boundary of Industrial 
lands may be required to act as a visual and noise buffer for existing 
residential areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

209



 

 
9 
 

Final Draft 

3.3 Country Residential  

Within the Plan area are nodes of existing Country Residential developments.  This large lot, low 
density form of rural residential development is an attractive option for some residents because it 
provides a land‐base suitable for rural activities such as small scale agricultural operations, home‐
based business opportunities, and outdoor recreation, while also remaining in close proximity to major 
social and commercial services. 

Mackenzie County recognizes that the long range vision for the Plan area is to support industrial 
development; therefore, the long term transition of Country Residential to industrial uses is supported.  
However, during the transition period existing residential use of these properties should be protected 
from interference caused by new industrial uses.  New industrial uses should be developed and 
operated in a manner that mitigates negative impacts and potential land use conflicts with Country 
Residential uses. 

 

3.3.1 Country Residential Policies 

Country Residential 1. No new Country Residential developments should be permitted within 
the Plan. 

Country Residential 2. No new subdivisions for Country Residential within existing Country 
Residential parcels should be permitted within the Plan. 

Country Residential 3. Mackenzie County should support the redesignation of Country 
Residential lands to a designation that supports industrial development.   

Country Residential 4. It is intended that new residential uses be prohibited from industrial 
areas of the plan.  However, existing residential yard sites and 
manufactured homes should be permitted to develop into single family 
dwellings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

210



 

 
10 
 

Final Draft 

3.4 Natural Areas and Open Spaces 

Open spaces, both formally landscaped and natural, are essential components to the physical 
structure of the Land Use Concept.  Open spaces can add to and also help retain the rural character 
of the Plan area as development takes place.  The benefits that can be achieved with Open Space 
include: 

• Lending rural character to the industrial development. 

• Visual transition and noise/odour buffering between uses. 

• Habitat and corridors for local wildlife. 

At the time of development or subdivision, additional areas may be identified through the 
preparation of technical studies and reports prepared by qualified professionals, as required by the 
County and paid for by the developer. Where suitable, natural areas should be dedicated as 
Environmental Reserve or Municipal Reserve, or protected through similar measures. 

 

3.4.1 Natural Areas and Open Spaces Policies 

Natural Areas 1. In accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Government Act, upon 
subdivision of land the County should require that any portion of lands 
that meet the definition of Environmental Reserve  as outlined in the 
Municipal Government Act be dedicated as Environmental Reserve or 
otherwise protected.  

Natural Areas 2.  Any land within the Plan that becomes subject to an Environmental 
Reserve Easement should remain in its natural state in accordance with 
the provisions of the Municipal Government Act. 

Natural Areas 3.  Mackenzie County should require the 10% of Municipal Reserve entitled to 
the County for subdivisions within the plan area in accordance with the 
Municipal Government Act as land or cash in lieu. 

Natural Areas 4.  Mackenzie County may consider the deferral of Municipal Reserve dedications 
to other lands owned by the same developer. 

 

 

 

 

 

211



 

 
11 
 

Final Draft 

3.5   Stormwater, Water and Wastewater Servicing  

Currently, municipal services for water and wastewater are available through the Town of High 
Level north east of the Plan boundary but require an extension of services to the Plan area.  

Stormwater, water and wastewater facilities identified in this Plan are conceptual, and therefore 
it is anticipated that landowners and developers will address detailed future servicing options for 
land use developments within the Plan area with Outline Plans and development and subdivision 
applications.   It is anticipated that developments in the Plan area will be serviced by onsite 
private services until such time as municipal water and wastewater services are available, and 
that stormwater management facilities will be incorporated into site development and 
subdivision design.  

It is expected that developments in the Plan area should contribute proportionately to the 
installation and expansion of municipal services from which they benefit. 

 

3.5.1 Water and Wastewater Servicing Policies 

 
Servicing  1. All development should be connected to municipal water and/or 

wastewater.  On site or truck in/out services are suitable until such time as 
municipal services are available. 

Servicing  2. Infrastructure should be designed to accommodate lands outside of the Plan 
boundaries where requested by the County. 

Servicing  3. Municipal services should be provided by a developer at their cost. 

Servicing  4. A servicing study may be required to be completed to the satisfaction of the 
County prior to developing any lands. 

Servicing  5. Developers are encouraged to explore the most cost efficient servicing 
options available. 

Servicing  6. Developers should take into consideration the long‐term operation and 
maintenance cost to the County when evaluating servicing options.  

Servicing  7. The layout of municipal utilities is likely to be subject to refinement at the 
subdivision stage. 

Servicing  8. When municipal services are available, all water services should be metered 
and designed for peak servicing requirements and adequate fire suppression 
needs. 

 

 

 

 

212



 

 
12 
 

Final Draft 

3.5.2 Stormwater Servicing Policies 

Servicing  9. A stormwater management plan should be required for all new industrial 
developments. 

Servicing  10. The stormwater management plan should encourage the design of 
landscaping that reduces the need for water and incorporates alternative 
designs that promote water conservation. 

Servicing  11. Stormwater management facilities (SWMFs) should be incorporated in the 
initial planning stages for any portion of the Plan area and be designed to 
improve water quality and to control runoff from future development. 

Servicing  12. SWMFs should be designed to avoid pollution entering existing stormwater 
systems, drainage courses and natural areas. 

Servicing  13. Developments should strive to retain stormwater on‐site and discharge at a 
post development rate that does not exceed pre‐development release rates. 

Servicing  14. Naturally occurring wetlands and low‐lying areas are preferred as locations 
for stormwater retention facilities however locations for SWMFs are subject 
to provincial legislation, regulation, policy and procedures.   

Servicing  15. All design and installation of SWMFs should be in compliance with provincial 
legislation, regulation, policy and procedures. 

Servicing  16. All costs associated with construction of SWMFs should be borne by the 
benefitting developers. 

Servicing  17. All costs associated with the maintenance of SWMFs should be borne by the 
benefitting developers. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

213



 

 
13 
 

Final Draft 

3.6 Shallow Utilities  

It is anticipated that more detailed land use and subdivision plans will be completed in the future 
to identify specific shallow utility design and requirements.   Northern Lights Gas Co‐op and ATCO 
are the main utility service providers in the Plan area. 

 

3.6.1 Shallow Utilities Policies 

Shallow Utilities  1. The County will work with utility providers to ensure production and 
capacity for power and natural gas services are not a constraint to 
development. 

Shallow Utilities  2. Where desirable utility corridors should accommodate passive recreation 
opportunities such as multi‐use trails. 

Shallow Utilities  3. A developer may be required to provide rights‐of way for shallow services. 

Shallow Utilities  4. Development should not be rejected based on the absence of power and 
natural gas services.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

214



 

 
14 
 

Final Draft 

3.7 Roads and Access  

As this Plan incorporates residential and industrial development, future roads and access both 
within the plan area and connecting to adjacent lands need to be able to accommodate a wide 
variety of vehicles, volumes and traffic patterns. The Land Use Concept and Figure 5: Roads and 
Access describes how current, upgraded and new roadways can service existing and planned 
developments.  

 

3.7.1 Roads and Access Policies 

Roads and Access 1.  All roadways, intersections and accesses should be developed to 
Mackenzie County standards. 

Roads and Access 2.  The County should require all benefitting developers to contribute 
proportionally to the cost of road upgrades. 

Roads and Access 3.  The County should work with Alberta Transportation and other relevant 
agencies to incorporate a dangerous goods route that can adequately 
serve planned developments. 

Roads and Access 4.  The County may consider deviation from the Plan’s road and access 
network if the deviation is to avoid creating isolated undevelopable 
parcels, enable safer intersection design, or achieve an identifiable better 
outcome. 

Roads and Access 5.  All new development should be accessed from the internal transportation 
network.  Individual lots will not have direct access to Highway 35. 

Roads and Access 5.  The County should work with developers and CN Rail in the Plan area to provide 
safe and efficient road crossings of the existing railway. 

Roads and Access 6.  The County should promote the CN Rail network as a key regional 
transportation connection. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

215



 

 
15 
 

Final Draft 

3.8 Fire Smart 

As the Plan area develops over time, it will be important to ensure that emergency preparedness 
and fire prevention is incorporated into the site design of future industrial businesses. 

The proximity of the Plan area to existing natural areas, combined with the presence of densely 
treed areas throughout the Plan area highlights the fact that forest fires are a real and tangible 
threat.  The ability of local emergency services to provide effective fire protection is dependent, in 
large part, on future development patterns and onsite preventative measures. 

 

3.8.1 Fire Smart Policies 

Fire Smart 1.   Mackenzie County should require developers to prepare an emergency 
preparedness plan as a part of a subdivision or as part of an Outline Plan for 
multi‐lot industrial subdivisions and also for individual industrial development as 
appropriate.  This plan should address applicable recommendations contained in 
the Fire Smart Guide Book for the Oil and Gas Industry, produced by the Alberta 
Partners in Protection, including: 

• Vegetation removal/conversion/reduction; 

• Siting and orientation of buildings; 

• Siting and orientation of flarestacks; 

• Siting and orientation of power lines; 

• Siting and orientation of roads and emergency routes; 

• External building materials (i.e. siding and roofing materials); 

• Storage of flammable materials; and, 

• Notification and communication with applicable provincial, municipal 
and emergency response agencies. 

 

Fire Smart 2.  Developers may be required to prepare an emergency plan as part of a subdivision 
plan, Conceptual Plan, Outline Plan, or similar plan for residential and community 
uses.  The emergency plan would address recommendations in the Fire Smart: 
Protecting your Community from Wild Fire manual published by Partners in 
Protection. 

 

216



 

 
16 
 

Final Draft 

4 Implementation 
The implementation strategy addresses planning processes and development sequence for the Plan 
area. 

 

4.1 Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws 

The Plan has been prepared to be generally consistent with the MDP.  To achieve consistency between 
plans and existing policy documents, the following is required:  

• Review and update the Mackenzie County and Town of High Level Inter Municipal 
Development Plan (IMDP) as necessary. The IMDP also states that all development 
applications (including the Plan) within the IMDP area shall be determined by the 
Inter Municipal Planning Commission. 

• Amend the MDP to re‐designate the Plan area to Rural Industrial. 

• Amend the Land Use Bylaw to reflect any differences between the Land Use Concept 
and the current land use districts.  A delay in completing this task runs the risk of an 
increase in Country Residential development during the interim, increasing the 
opportunity for land use conflicts. 

Also, all applications for subdivision and development within the Mackenzie County and High 
Level Inter‐Municipal Development Plan area should be determined by the Inter‐Municipal 
Planning Commission.  This includes approval of this Plan. 

 

4.2 Outline Plans 
The Plan addresses future development in conceptual terms.  Prior to development, and at the 
discretion of the County, an application for subdivision and development may require the preparation 
of an Outline Plan or similar area planning mechanism.  The boundary of future area plans should be 
based on good planning practice and not necessarily land ownership.     

 

4.3 Municipal Reserve  

Mackenzie County requires that 10% of all subdivision areas be dedicated as Municipal Reserve, in 
accordance with the provisions of the Municipal Government Act.  To create a complete and functional 
community, cooperation and a strategy is required to ensure that Municipal Reserve is located in 
appropriate locations to serve future residents.  To accomplish this where there are multiple land 
owners in an area, it is often necessary for some land owners to have to provide more than their share 
of the 10% reserve dedication, while others are requested to pay ‘money in lieu’ of dedicating land to 
compensate those land owners who provided the land so that in effect every developer makes a 
similar contribution of 10%.  The County should take Municipal Reserve dedications through the cash‐
in‐lieu option of the land is not required.  These funds should be used for new or upgraded recreation 
facilities in nearby areas of the County. 

217



 

 
17 
 

Final Draft 

4.4 Conceptual Development Sequence 

Conceptual Development Sequencing is shown in Figure 6.  Development staging should follow a 
general practice of contiguous expansion and it is anticipated that future development will 
generally occur in areas adjacent to existing industrial developments and major transportation 
corridors.  However, while the various industrial Plans being developed concurrently provide a 
large amount of industrial land supply throughout the County, the sequencing and extent of 
development within the boundaries of this Plan will largely be governed by the market demand 
for industrial land locally.  Therefore, non‐contiguous development may be considered, provided 
the developer pays for service extension costs to the satisfaction of the County. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



Agenda Item # 9. a) 
 
 

Author: John Klassen Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: John Klassen, Director of Environmental Services & 
Operations 

Title:  Fee for Sewer Camera Services  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
As the demand grows for sewer camera services within the County administration feels 
there is a need to implement a fee for this type of service. Currently we have fees for 
the following equipment: 
 
EQUIPMENT AND LABOUR 
 
Item Amount GST 

Sewer Auger $20.00 per hour 
$100.00 per 24 hours Applicable 

Water Line Thawing Unit $20.00 per hour 
$100.00 per 24 hours Applicable 

Sanding Unit & Tandem Truck $110.00/hour 
(minimum charge1 hr) Applicable 

Alberta Agriculture’s Irrigation Pump/Pipe 
$300.00/48 hours 
$100.00/each additional 24 
hours 

Applicable 

Labour  $25.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

Weed Eater $30.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

35 HP Tractor Mower 6’ $50.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

75 HP Tractor Mower 15’ $75.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

 

227



Agenda Item # 9. a) 
 
 

Author: John Klassen Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

Note: County equipment that is not listed in this bylaw will be charged according to the 
current Alberta Roadbuilders and Heavy Equipment Association Equipment Rental 
Rates Guide. 
 
 
Fees and Deposits  
 
Description Fee Amount 

Application fee for new account move in $20.00 
 

Transfer from one account to another $20.00 
 

Reconnection of account due to non-payment of account $50.00 

Fee for services required upon the request of the customer 
within the one (1) working day requirement $50.00 

Fee for hamlet water and/or sewer service tie-in  $100.00 

Fee for hamlet water and/or sewer main tie-in $500.00 plus cost of 
installation 

Fee for rural water tie-in 
Summer $8,000.00 

Winter (Nov 1-May 1) 
$9,000.00 

Fee for rural water multi-lot subdivision $2,800.00/lot 

Fee for water meter testing. Refundable if variance of meter 
reading is greater than 3%. $100.00 

Fee for county employee services, including regular working 
hours and overtime hours, required to construct, repair, 
inspect, or service where the responsibility for work was borne 
by the developer, consumer or corporation 

$50.00/hr. 

Fee for after hour emergency call out of County employee for 
services born by the consumer  $75.00 

Deposit for cardlock $100.00 for residential 
$500.00 for commercial 

 
 
In consultation with a private company that does this kind work it was confirmed that the 
rate we might apply under our current bylaw is substantially lower than the private 
sector, the rate that they charge is, $125/hour with a minimum charge of $300. This is 
based on 2 operators, the vehicle, and the camera plus any other equipment and tools 
(generator, adjustment tools for the camera) 
 
 
 
 

228



Agenda Item # 9. a) 
 
 

Author: John Klassen Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
Administration suggests that the County create a sewer camera fee that is higher than 
the private sector to avoid being direct competition in that field. A suggested rate may 
be in the area of $150/Hr and minimum charge of $350. 
 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
NA 
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
NA 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That the fee schedule bylaw be brought back to Council with the inclusion of a sewer 
camera rate of $150/hr and a minimum charge of $350.  
 
 
 
 

229



230



Agenda Item # 10. a) 
 

Author: John Klassen Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: John Klassen, Director of Environmental Services & 
Operations 

Title:  Traffic Control on 109th Street & 100th Avenue (La Crete) 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
A number of collisions have occurred at this location and requested by some members 
of the public for administration to take this up with Council to discuss the option of 
installing a 4 way stop at this intersection. (Please see attached) 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
For discussion. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
The funding could come from the 2013 general operating budget. 
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
For discussion. 
 
 
 
 

231



232



Agenda Item # 11. a) 

 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by:   CAO  

 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Byron Peters, Director of Planning and Development 

Title: 
Bylaw 914-13 Land Use Bylaw Amendment Application to 
rezone Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M from Urban Fringe (UF) to 
Hamlet General (HG) (Hamlet of La Crete) 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Planning and Development Department has received a Land Use Bylaw 
Amendment Application to rezone Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M from Urban Fringe (UF) to 
Hamlet General (HG) in order to allow for the construction of a Shop/Large Garage.  
 
The current property zoning, Urban Fringe “UF” allows for the development of a Garage 
– Attached or Detached not exceed 100 sq m (1076 square feet). It does not allow for a 
shop as either a permitted or a discretionary use. 

 
The applicant is proposing to construct a 3000 square foot Shop. Even with a size 
variance to Garage – Detached this would not be allowed.  
 
Background History 
 
*At the time the first development permit application was received, Urban Fringe “UF” was called Urban 
Reserve “UR”  
 
On July 2011, the applicant was refused a development permit for an Ancillary building 
(Garage-Detached) on the same location for the following reasons: 

 
The subject lands are located within the Hamlet of La Crete. The Municipal 
Development Plan (MDP) shows the subject lands as being for Hamlet 
Residential purposes. The La Crete Area Structure Plan (ASP) shows the subject 
lands as being intended for residential purposes however the ASP also includes 
a conceptual design for the future development and subdivision of the lands. The 
Planning Department required the applicant to submit a surveyed plan showing 

233



 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by: B. Peters CAO  
 

the proposed building as it relates to the ASP layout (attached). The applicant 
provided the surveyed drawing and advised that if the permit is not approved, he 
will not construct the proposed building.  

 
On August 8, 2011 a REFUSED Development Permit was sent to the applicant stating 
these reasons:  
 
The Development Permit application has been refused for the following reasons: 
 

The Development Permit application is for an Ancillary Building (Detached Garage) 
with Height Variance in an Urban Reserve District (UR). An Ancillary Building is a 
permitted use in this zoning district provided this it meets the other requirements of 
the Land Use Bylaw.   
 

1. In accordance with the County Land Use Bylaw, no Ancillary Building shall be 
higher than 15 feet from grade to peak. The applicant requested a height 
variance of 7 feet,  

2. The proposed parcel exceeds the maximum Country Residential lot area 
(2.02 hectares/5.0 acres) as specified in the Urban Reserve District (UR), and 

3. The proposed location of the Ancillary Building (Detached Garage) with 
Height Variance does not comply with the La Crete Area Structure Plan (ASP) 
Community Concept Plan. 

 
Since this application, the Land Use Bylaw has undergone changes. A Garage-Attached 
now has its own definition (It’s no longer considered an “Ancillary Building”)   
and all uses in Urban Fringe are discretionary.  
 
"GARAGE" means either an ANCILLARY BUILDING/SHED or portion of the 
PRINCIPAL BUILDING, including a carport, used in conjunction with a dwelling 
principally for the private parking or storage of motor vehicles for personal transportation 
and recreation. A GARAGE is not a DWELLING UNIT and is not a SHOP. 
 
“GARAGE - DETACHED” means a GARAGE that is not a part of the PRINCIPAL 
BUILDING. A detached GARAGE shall not exceed 100 sq m (1076 square feet) with a 
maximum interior ceiling height of 3.7 m (12 feet) and a maximum height of one storey.  
 
7.25 GARAGES 

 
(a) Unless otherwise specified in this BYLAW, a residential GARAGE-

DETACHED within any HAMLET shall be limited to one per LOT. 
 

(b) In addition to complying with the other subsections of this section, any private 
GARAGE located in a HAMLET shall be positioned so that the vehicle 
entrance doors shall be no closer than 7.6 m (25 feet) to the property 
boundary upon which they open. No private GARAGE shall be located with 
the vehicle entrance doors facing the public utility lot and/or lane. 

 

234



 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by: B. Peters CAO  
 

(c) The vehicle entrance door in a HAMLET residential GARAGE shall not 
exceed 3.7 m (12 feet) in height. 

 
In the new proposed ASP for La Crete this area is still designated for residential 
development. The applicant did at the time of the original request submit a surveyors 
drawing showing where the proposed garage would be within the concept plan for this 
area. (See Attached). Neither the shop nor the existing house fit in any concept block.  
 
As a residential area, the shop does not fit, however the area is adjacent to a large 
Rural County residential development where shops are allowed. Due to this fact, 
consideration could be given for allowing this rezoning or consider adding “Shops” to 
the Discretionary Uses in the Urban Fringe District.   
 
Bylaw 9__-13 was presented to the Municipal Planning Commission (MPC) at their July 
25, 2013 meeting where the following motion was made: 
 

That the Municipal Planning Commission recommendation to Council for either 
the Approval of Bylaw 9__-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to rezone 
Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M from Urban Fringe (UF) to Hamlet General (HG), or to 
consider adding “Shops” to the Discretionary Uses in Urban Fringe District , 
subject to a Public Hearing. 

 
Bylaw number 914-13 has since been assigned to this application.  
 
OPTIONS 
 
OPTION 1: (Recommend approval of Rezoning) 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 9__-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to 
rezone Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M from Urban Fringe (UF) to Hamlet General (HG) in 
order to allow for the construction of a Shop/Large Garage, subject to public hearing 
input.  
 
OPTION 2: (Recommend approval of Adding Shop to Urban Fringe) 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 914-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to add 
“Shops” to Section 8.27 A of the Land Use Bylaw, subject to public hearing input.  
 
OPTION 3: (Recommend refusal) 
That Bylaw 9__-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to rezone Plan 992 0983; 
Block 1; Lot 1 from Hamlet Country Residential 2 (HCR2) to Public/Institutional (P) be 
Refused.  
 

235



 
Author: L. Lambert Reviewed by: B. Peters CAO  
 

 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 914-13, being a Land Use Bylaw amendment to add 
“Shops” to Section 8.27 A of the Land Use Bylaw, subject to public hearing input.  
 

236



BYLAW NO. 914-13 (Option 1) 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO AMEND THE 
MACKENZIE COUNTY LAND USE BYLAW 

 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has a Municipal Development Plan adopted in 2009, and 
 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has adopted the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw in 
2004, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
desirable to amend the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw to accommodate a shop.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as: 
 
Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M 

 
be rezoned from Urban Fringe “UF” to Hamlet General “HG” as outlined in 
Schedule “A” hereto attached.  

 
 
READ a first time this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 

 
 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 

237



BYLAW No. 914-13 
 

SCHEDULE “A” 
 

1. That the land use designation of the following property known as: 
 

Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M 
 

within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Urban Fringe “UF” to Hamlet 
General “HG”, to accommodate a Shop.  

 
 

 
 
 
 
FROM: Urban Fringe “UF” 
 
TO:  Hamlet General “HG” 
 

238



BYLAW NO. 914-13 (Option 2) 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF  
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

TO AMEND THE 
MACKENZIE COUNTY LAND USE BYLAW 

 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has a Municipal Development Plan adopted in 2009, and 
 
WHEREAS, Mackenzie County has adopted the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw in 
2004, and 
 
WHEREAS, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the Province of Alberta, has deemed it 
desirable to amend the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw to accommodate the 
development of a shop.  
 
NOW THEREFORE, THE COUNCIL OF THE MACKENZIE COUNTY, IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA, DULY ASSEMBLED, HEREBY ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

1. That the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw Section 8.27 URBAN FRINGE “UF” 
be amended to: 

 
8.27 URBAN FRINGE “UF” 
 

The general purpose of this LAND USE DISTRICT is to control DEVELOPMENT 
around urban centers to those uses which requires a larger Lot or parcel on 
which to operate, to protect future growth areas for urban centers, and to 
minimize conflicts between urban and rural uses in accordance with an approved 
INTER-MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN and/or MUNICIPAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN.   

 
A. DISCRETIONARY USES 
 
a) ANCILLARY BUILDING/SHED 
b) BED AND BREAKFAST BUSINESS 
c) CHURCH 
d) COMMUNICATION TOWER 
e) CEMETERY 
f) DWELLING – SINGLE FAMILY 
g) EXTENSIVE AGRICULTURE 
h) FARM SUBDIDIARY BUSINESS 
i) GARAGE – ATTACHED 

239



j) GARAGE – DETACHED  
k) GARDEN SUITE 
l) HOME BASED BUSINESS 
m) INSTITUTIONAL USE 
n) INTENSIVE AGRICULTURE 1  
o)  KEEPING OF LIVESTOCK 
p)  MANUFACTURING FIRM 
q) MANUFACTURED HOME – SINGLE WIDE 
r) MANUFACTURED HOME – DOUBLE WIDE 
s) MANUFACTURED HOME – MODULAR 
t) SHOP 
u) TEMPORARY/PORTABLE UNIT 
v) VETERNIRAY CLINIC  

 
 
 
READ a first time this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this ___ day of __________, 2013. 
 
 

 
 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
 

 

240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



Agenda Item # 12. a) 

 
Author: A. Kilpatrick Review Date:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Alison Kilpatrick, Director of Corporate Services   

Title: Bylaw 912-13 Fee Schedule Bylaw  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Council establishes various fees for services in the County’s Fee Schedule Bylaw. 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
Bylaw 912-13 is presented to Council to incorporate Bylaw 911-13, Business License 
Bylaw, which was passed by Motion 13-07-499 on July 16, 2013. 
 
Administration was directed by Motion 13-07-500 to bring the Fee Schedule bylaw to 
the next Council meeting, incorporating the business license fees as presented. 
 
Please review the attached Fee Schedule bylaw. 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
N/A 
 
COMMUNICATION:  
 
N/A 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION 
 
Motion 1: (requires 2/3) 
 
That first reading be given to Bylaw 912-13 being the Fee Schedule Bylaw for 
Mackenzie County. 
 

257



Agenda Item # 12. a) 

 
Author: A. Kilpatrick Review Date:  CAO  
 

Motion 2: (requires 2/3) 
 
That second reading be given to Bylaw 912-13 being the Fee Schedule Bylaw for 
Mackenzie County. 
 
Motion 3: (requires unanimous) 
 
That consideration be given to proceed to third reading of Bylaw 912-13 being the Fee 
Schedule Bylaw for Mackenzie County. 
 
Motion 4: (requires 2/3) 
 
That third reading be given to Bylaw 912-13 being the Fee Schedule Bylaw for 
Mackenzie County. 
 

258



BYLAW NO. 912-13 
 

BEING A BYLAW OF THE 
MACKENZIE COUNTY 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
TO ESTABLISH A FEE SCHEDULE FOR SERVICES 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Government Act, Revised 
Statutes of Alberta, 2000, Chapter M-26, requires fees to be established by bylaw. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Council of Mackenzie County, in the province of Alberta, duly 
assembled, enacts as follows:  
 
1. SHORT TITLE 

 
This bylaw may be cited as the “Fee Schedule Bylaw” 
 

2. That the fees for services be approved as follows: 
 
ADMINISTRATION 
 

Item Amount GST 

Photocopying $0.25/sheet Applicable 

Laminating (up to 11 x 17”) $10.00 per page  Applicable 

Tax Certificates $25.00 N/A 

Email, fax or written confirmation of 
assessment by legal description (legal 
description to be provided by a requestor in 
writing)   

$25.00/per request Applicable 

Compliance Certificates $50.00 N/A 

Land Titles 

As per Alberta Government 
rates in force at the time of 
the request plus 25% for 
administration 

Applicable 

County Ownership Maps $25.00 Applicable 

County Ownership Map  
Booklet –Laminated 
Individual Pages - Laminated 

 
$50.00 
$10.00 
 

Applicable 

Hamlet Maps $10.00 Applicable 

259



Bylaw 912-13  Page 2 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

 

Item Amount GST 

Aerial Photos 

Size 8.5 x 11 to 11 x 17”: 
black & white - $5.00 
color - $10.00; 
 
Size over 11 x 17 up to 30 x 
41.5” 
black & white - $50.00 
color - $100.00 

Applicable 

Boardroom Rental 
(no charge to non-profit community groups) $50.00/day Applicable 

Council or other Board Minutes $5.00/set Applicable 
 

260



Bylaw 912-13  Page 3 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

BUSINESS LICENSES 
 

Item Amount GST 

Fees: 
Annual Business License (ABL) – First Year 
(2013) – Optional $0.00 N/A 

ABL – Second Year (2014) – Mandatory $50.00 N/A 

ABL – Amendment  $25.00 N/A 

ABL – Replacement $25.00 N/A 

Penalties: 

No ABL (false information, etc.) – 1st Offence $250.00 N/A 

No ABL (false information, etc.) – 2nd Offence $500.00 N/A 

Failure to Comply with ABL – 1st Offence $250.00 N/A 

Failure to Comply with ABL – 2nd Offence $500.00 N/A 

Failure to Display ABL $50.00 N/A 
 

261



Bylaw 912-13  Page 4 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

DEVELOPMENT 
 

Item Amount GST 

Area Structure Plan $25.00 Hard Copy Applicable 

Municipal Development Plan $50.00 Hard Copy Applicable 

Land Use Bylaw $50.00 Hard Copy Applicable 

General Municipal Standards Manual $50.00 Hard Copy Applicable 

File Search $50.00 Applicable 

Business Certificate $50.00 N/A 

Written Zoning Confirmation  Request $25.00 Per Lot Applicable 

Compliance Request – Residential $50.00 Per Lot Applicable 

Compliance Request – Commercial/Industrial $75.00 Per Lot Applicable 

Revised Letter of Compliance (within 3 months) 50% of Full Price Applicable 

Rush Compliance Request (1-3 Business 
Days) Double Listed Price Applicable 

Municipal Development Plan Amendment $2,000.00 N/A 

Area Structure Plan Amendment $2,000.00 N/A 

Land Use Bylaw Amendment $700.00 N/A 

Land Use Bylaw Rezoning $400.00 N/A 

Road Closure Bylaw $400.00 N/A 

Bylaw Amendment Advertising & Notification 
Cost 

Invoice According to Cost + 
5% Administration Fee Applicable 

Development Permit - Other than Commercial 
or Industrial – Permitted Use $50.00 N/A 

Development Permit - Other than Commercial 
or Industrial – Permitted Use with Variance $75.00 N/A 

Development Permit - Other than Commercial 
or Industrial – Discretionary Use $75.00 N/A 

Development Permit - Other than Commercial 
or Industrial – Discretionary Use with Variance $75.00 N/A 

262



Bylaw 912-13  Page 5 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Development Permit – Commercial and 
Industrial – Permitted Use $100.00 N/A 

Development Permit – Commercial and 
Industrial – Permitted Use with Variance $125.00 N/A 

Development Permit – Commercial and 
Industrial – Discretionary Use $125.00 N/A 

Development Permit – Commercial and 
Industrial – Discretionary Use with Variance $125.00 N/A 

Development Permit after Legal Counsel 
Intervention 

Permit Cost Plus Legal Fee 
Cost  NA 

Development Permit Time Extension $50.00 N/A 

Development Prior to Development Permit 
Issuance $250.00 Fine N/A 

Subdivision and Development Appeal (refundable 
if appeal is successful) $250.00 N/A 

Subdivision Time Extension (Single Lot)  $250.00 N/A 

Subdivision Time Extension (Multi-Lot) $500.00 N/A 

Subdivision or Boundary Adjustment 
Application 
(all or a portion of the subdivision application may be 
refundable at the discretion of the MPC)  

$700 + $200/lot created N/A 

 
Note: Stop Orders will be issued and delivered to the site and/or the individual(s) conducting 
unauthorized development requiring all construction to cease immediately and to remain ceased 
until such time as the necessary Development Permit has been applied for and approved.   

263



Bylaw 912-13  Page 6 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES 
 
BUILDING PERMIT FEES 
 
RESIDENTIAL HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

Main Floor (basement included) $0.65/sq ft $0.55/sq ft 

Additional Storey’s $0.40/sq ft $0.30/sq ft 
Garages (Attached/Detached)/Sheds (over 200 
sq ft) $0.40 sq/ft $0.30/sq ft 

Additions $0.50/sq ft $0.40/sq ft 
Relocation of a Building on a Basement or 
Crawlspace $0.60/sq ft $0.50/sq ft 

Placement of House/Modular/Mobile 
Home/Garage/Addition only $175.00 $150.00 

Major Renovations (Any Structural Change) $0.50/sq ft $0.40 sq ft 

   

Fireplaces/Wood Burning Appliances $175.00 $150.00 

Decks (Greater Than 2 Feet Above Grade) $175.00 $150.00 

Minimum Residential Building Permit Fee $175.00 $150.00 
 
COMMERCIAL/ INDUSTRIAL/ INSTITUTIONAL  

$6.00 per $1,000 of project value 

Minimum fee is $300.00 
Notes:  1. Project value is based on the actual cost of material and labour. 

2. Verification of cost may be requested prior to permit issuance. 
 

* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  
 

264



Bylaw 912-13  Page 7 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 
INDUSTRIAL CAMP FEES 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  
 

BUILDING FEE 

1 to 50 person capacity $500.00 

51 to 100 person capacity $750.00 

101 to 200 person capacity $1,250.00 

201 to 250 person capacity $2,000.00 

251 to 300 person capacity $3,000.00 

PLUMBING FEE 

1 to 50 person capacity $150.00 

51 to 100 person capacity $200.00 

101 to 200 person capacity $300.00 

201 to 250 person capacity $450.00 

251 to 300 person capacity $650.00 

ELECTRICAL FEE 

1 to 50 person capacity $250.00 

51 to 100 person capacity $300.00 

101 to 200 person capacity $400.00 

201 to 250 person capacity $550.00 

251 to 300 person capacity $750.00 

GAS FEE 

1 to 50 person capacity $250.00 

51 to 100 person capacity $300.00 

101 to 200 person capacity $400.00 

201 to 250 person capacity $550.00 

251 to 300 person capacity $750.00 

PRIVATE SEWAGE FEE 

1 to 50 person capacity $250.00 

51 to 100 person capacity $300.00 

101 to 200 person capacity $400.00 

201 to 250 person capacity $550.00 

251 to 300 person capacity $750.00 

265



Bylaw 912-13  Page 8 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 
ELECTRICAL PERMIT FEES 
 

 
DESCRIPTION HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

Mobile/Modular Home Connection only $100.00 $75.00 
Temporary and Underground Services (125 
amps or less) Contractor Required $75.00 

 
* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

 
OTHER THAN NEW RESIDENTIAL 

INSTALLATION COST HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

$0 – 300 $85.00 $75.00 

$301 – 500 $95.00 $85.00 

$501 – 1,000 $105.00 $95.00 

$1,001 – 1500 $115.00 $105.00 

$1,501 – 2,000 $125.00 $115.00 

$2,001 – 2,500 $135.00 $120.00 

$2,501 – 3,000 $140.00 $125.00 

$3,001 – 3,500 $147.00 $130.00 
 

RESIDENTIAL INSTALLATIONS  

Square footage of area to be wired HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

Up to 1200 $190.00 $160.00 

1201 to 1500 $250.00 $190.00 

1501 to 2000 $285.00 $240.00 

2001 to 2500 $315.00 $260.00 

2501 to 3000 $340.00 $280.00 

3001 to 3500 $365.00 $300.00 

3501 to 4000 $380.00 $320.00 

4001 to 5000 $400.00 $350.00 

266



Bylaw 912-13  Page 9 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

INSTALLATION COST HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

$3,501 – 4,000 $156.00 $135.00 

$4,001 – 4,500 $173.00 $144.00 

$4,501 – 5,000 $177.00 $148.00 

$5,001 – 5,500 $191.00 $159.00 

$5,501 – 6,000 $200.00 $167.00 

$6,001 – 6,500 $207.00 $173.00 

$6,501 – 7,000 $216.00 $180.00 

$7,001 – 7,500 $225.00 $188.00 

$7,501 – 8,000 $234.00 $195.00 

$8,001 – 8,500 $242.00 $202.00 

$8,501 – 9,000 $251.00 $209.00 

$9,001 – 9,500 $260.00 $217.00 

$9,501 – 10,000 $269.00 $224.00 

$10,001 – 11,000 $276.00 $230.00 

$11,001 – 12,000 $285.00 $238.00 

$12,001 – 13,000 $294.00 $245.00 

$13,001 – 14,000 $303.00 $253.00 

$14,001 – 15,000 $311.00 $259.00 

$15,001 – 16,000 $329.00 $265.00 

$16,001 – 17,000 $338.00 $274.00 

$17,001 – 18,000 $345.00 $282.00 

$18,001 – 19,000 $354.00 $288.00 

$19,001 – 20,000 $365.00 $295.00 

$20,001 – 21,000 Contractor required $303.00 

$21,001 – 22,000 Contractor required $305.00 

$22,001 – 23,000 Contractor required $313.00 

$23,001 – 24,000 Contractor required $320.00 

$24,001 – 25,000 Contractor required $328.00 

$25,001 – 26,000 Contractor required $334.00 

267



Bylaw 912-13  Page 10 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

INSTALLATION COST HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

$26,001 – 27,000 Contractor required $342.00 

$27,001 – 28,000 Contractor required $349.00 

$28,001 – 29,000 Contractor required $357.00 

$29,001 – 30,000 Contractor required $363.00 

$30,001 – 31,000 Contractor required $369.00 

$31,001 – 32,000 Contractor required $374.00 

$32,001 – 33,000 Contractor required $380.00 

$33,001 – 34,000 Contractor required $387.00 

$34,001 – 35,000 Contractor required $392.00 

$35,001 – 36,000 Contractor required $398.00 

$36,001 – 37,000 Contractor required $403.00 

$37,001 – 38,000 Contractor required $409.00 

$38,001 – 39,000 Contractor required $415.00 

$39,001 – 40,000 Contractor required $420.00 

$40,001 – 41,000 Contractor required $427.00 

$41,001 – 42,000 Contractor required $432.00 

$42,001 – 43,000 Contractor required $438.00 

$43,001 – 44,000 Contractor required $444.00 

$44,001 – 45,000 Contractor required $449.00 

$45,001 – 46,000 Contractor required $455.00 

$46,001 – 47,000 Contractor required $460.00 

$47,001 – 48,000 Contractor required $467.00 

$48,001 – 49,000 Contractor required $473.00 

$49,001 – 50,000 Contractor required $478.00 

$50,001 – 60,000 Contractor required $529.00 

$61,001 – 70,000 Contractor required $587.00 

$70,001 – 80,000 Contractor required $644.00 

$80,001 – 90,000 Contractor required $702.00 

$90,001 – 100,000 Contractor required $759.00 

268



Bylaw 912-13  Page 11 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

INSTALLATION COST HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

$100,001 – 110,000 Contractor required $788.00 

$110,001 – 120,000 Contractor required $830.00 

$120,001 – 130,000 Contractor required $874.00 

$130,001 – 140,000 Contractor required $917.00 

$140,001 – 150,000 Contractor required $960.00 

$150,001 – 160,000 Contractor required $1,003.00 

$160,001 – 170,000 Contractor required $1,047.00 

$170,001 – 180,000 Contractor required $1,089.00 

$180,001 – 190,000 Contractor required $1,133.00 

$190,001 – 200,000 Contractor required $1,175.00 

$200,001 – 210,000 Contractor required $1,205.00 

$210,001 – 220,000 Contractor required $1,262.00 

$220,001 – 230,000 Contractor required $1,305.00 

$230,001 – 240,000 Contractor required $1,348.00 

$240,001 – 250,000 Contractor required $1,392.00 

$250,001 – 300,000 Contractor required $1,520.00 

$300,001 – 350,000 Contractor required $1,664.00 

$350,001 – 400,000 Contractor required $1,808.00 

$400,001 – 450,000 Contractor required $1,952.00 

$450,001 – 500,000 Contractor required $2,095.00 

$500,001 – 550,000 Contractor required $2,239.00 

$550,001 – 600,000 Contractor required $2,383.00 

$600,001 – 650,000 Contractor required $2,527.00 

$650,001 – 700,000 Contractor required $2,670.00 

$700,001 – 750,000 Contractor required $2,814.00 

$750,001 – 800,000 Contractor required $2,958.00 

$800,001 – 850,000 Contractor required $3,102.00 

$850,001 – 900,000 Contractor required $3,245.00 

$900,001 – 950,000 Contractor required $3,389.00 

269



Bylaw 912-13  Page 12 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 

INSTALLATION COST HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

$950,001 – 1,000,000 Contractor required $3,533.00 
 

* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  
 
ANNUAL ELECTRICAL PERMIT PROCESS  
 
An Annual Electrical Permit may be issued to an establishment that employs a full time qualified 
Electrician or hires an electrical contractor to perform minor electrical upgrades or renovations 
(an electrical project value of less than $10,000.00) on the premises identified on the permit 
application. Installations over $10,000.00 in job value require a separate electrical permit. 
 
The establishment shall maintain a current and accurate two-year record of all electrical upgrades 
or renovations and shall make it available to Mackenzie County upon request.  The establishment 
is responsible for the electrical work required to satisfactorily complete the electrical installation 
covered by the permit. 
 
A single Annual Electrical Permit may be issued to cover all minor electrical upgrades or 
renovations performed during a full calendar year or for a lesser period of time when required. 
The permit fee shall be based on a full calendar year. 
 
ANNUAL ELECTRICAL PERMIT FEES 
Rating of Establishment 

(KVA) Fee 

100 or less $300.00 

101 to 2,500 $300.00 plus $15.00 per 100 KVA over 100 KVA 

2,501 to 5,000 $660.00 plus $12.00 per 100 KVA over 2,500 KVA 

5,001 to 10,000 $960.00 plus $9.00 per 100 KVA over 5,000 KVA 

10,001 to 20,000 $1,410.00 plus $6.00 per 100 KVA over 10,000 KVA 

Over 20,000 $2,010.00 plus 3.00 per 100 KVA over 20,000 KVA 
 

* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

270



Bylaw 912-13  Page 13 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 

 
RESIDENTIAL INSTALLATIONS 

Number of Outlets HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

1 $85.00 $75.00 

2 $105.00 $85.00 

3 $125.00 $105.00 

4 $156.00 $130.00 

5 $195.00 $163.00 

6 $215.00 $179.00 

7 $234.00 $195.00 

8 $252.00 $210.00 

9 $273.00 $228.00 

10 $293.00 $244.00 

11 $305.00 $254.00 

12 $318.00 $265.00 

13 $330.00 $275.00 

14 $344.00 $287.00 

15 $356.00 $297.00 

16 $371.00 $309.00 

17 $383.00 $319.00 

18 $396.00 $330.00 

19 $408.00 $340.00 

20 $422.00 $352.00 

Add $15.00 per outlet over 20 
 

* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

GAS PERMIT FEES 

271



Bylaw 912-13  Page 14 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 
GAS PERMIT FEES 
 
RESIDENTIAL PROPANE TANK SET HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

Propane Tank Set  $90.00 $75.00 

Additional Propane Tanks  $15.00/tank $15.00/per tank 

Temporary Heat $100.00 $75.00 
 
Grain Dryer Contractor Required $250.00 
 
NON- RESIDENTIAL PROPANE TANK SET HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

Propane Tank Set  Contractor Required $75.00 

Additional Propane Tanks  Contractor Required $15.00/per tank 

Gas/Propane Cylinder Refill Center Contractor Required $150.00 
 

 
* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

REPLACEMENT OF NON-RESIDENTIAL 
APPLIANCES FEE 

First Appliance  
Add $15.00 for each additional appliance $70.00 

272



Bylaw 912-13  Page 15 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 

GAS PERMIT FEES 
 

NON-RESIDENTIAL INSTALLATIONS 

BTU Input HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

0-100,000 Contractor Required $75.00 

100,001-110,000 Contractor Required $85.00 

110,001-120,000 Contractor Required $95.00 

120,001-130,000 Contractor Required $125.00 

130,001-140,000 Contractor Required $135.00 

140,001-150,000 Contractor Required $145.00 

150,001-170,000 Contractor Required $150.00 

170,001-190,000 Contractor Required $155.00 

190,001-210,000 Contractor Required $160.00 

210,001-230,000 Contractor Required $165.00 

230,001-250,000 Contractor Required $170.00 

250,001-300,000 Contractor Required $175.00 

300,001-350,000 Contractor Required $180.00 

350,001-400,000 Contractor Required $190.00 

400,001-450,000 Contractor Required $195.00 

450,001-500,000 Contractor Required $200.00 

500,001-550,000 Contractor Required $205.00 

550,001-600,000 Contractor Required $210.00 

600,001-650,000 Contractor Required $220.00 

650,001-700,000 Contractor Required $230.00 

700,001-750,000 Contractor Required $240.00 

750,001-800,000 Contractor Required $250.00 

800,001-850,000 Contractor Required $260.00 

850,001-900,000 Contractor Required $270.00 

900,001-950,000 Contractor Required $280.00 

950,001-1,000,000 Contractor Required $290.00 

Add $8.00 for each 100,000 BTU (or portion thereof) over 1,000,000 BTU 
 

* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

273



Bylaw 912-13  Page 16 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 
GAS PERMIT FEES 
 
NON-RESIDENTIAL INSTALLATIONS 

TEMPORARY HEAT 

BTU Input OWNER CONTRACTOR 

0 to 250,000 Contractor Required $75.00 

250,001 to 500,000 Contractor Required $125.00 

Over 500,000 Contractor Required $125.00 plus $10.00 per 100,000 BTU 
(or portion thereof) over 500,000 BTU 

 
* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

 
REPLACEMENT GAS APPLIANCES 

BTU Input OWNER CONTRACTOR 

0 to 400,000 Contractor Required $80.00 

400,001 to 1.000,000 Contractor Required $150.00 

Over 1,000,000 Contractor Required $150.00 plus $5.00 per 100,000 BTU (or 
portion thereof) over 1,000,000 BTU 

274



Bylaw 912-13  Page 17 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 

PLUMBING PERMIT FEES 
 

RESIDENTIAL INSTALLATIONS 

Number of Fixtures HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

1 $85.00 See contractor fees 

2 $95.00 See contractor fees 

3 $105.00 See contractor fees 

4 $115.00 See contractor fees 

5 $125.00 See contractor fees 

6 $135.00 See contractor fees 

7 $140.00 See contractor fees 

8 $149.00 See contractor fees 

9 $164.00 See contractor fees 

10 $176.00 See contractor fees 

11 $186.00 See contractor fees 

12 $195.00 See contractor fees 

13 $204.00 See contractor fees 

14 $215.00 See contractor fees 

15 $224.00 See contractor fees 

16 $234.00 See contractor fees 

17 $245.00 See contractor fees 

18 $252.00 See contractor fees 

19 $263.00 See contractor fees 

20 $273.00 See contractor fees 

Add $8.00 for each fixture over 20 
* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

275



Bylaw 912-13  Page 18 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 
PLUMBING PERMIT FEES 
 

 
* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  

Number of Fixtures CONTRACTOR 

1 $75.00 

2 $85.00 

3 $90.00 

4 $95.00 

5 $105.00 

6 $110.00 

7 $115.00 

8 $124.00 

9 $137.00 

10 $147.00 

11 $155.00 

12 $163.00 

13 $170.00 

14 $179.00 

15 $187.00 

16 $195.00 

17 $204.00 

18 $210.00 

19 $219.00 

20 $228.00 

21 $234.00 

22 $242.00 

23 $248.00 

24 $254.00 

25 $262.00 

Number of Fixtures CONTRACTOR 

26 $268.00 

27 $274.00 

28 $282.00 

29 $288.00 

30 $294.00 

31 $302.00 

32 $309.00 

33 $314.00 

34 $322.00 

35 $329.00 

36 $335.00 

37 $342.00 

38 $349.00 

39 $357.00 

40 $362.00 

41 $369.00 

42 $377.00 

43 $382.00 

44 $389.00 

45 $397.00 

46 $402.00 

47 $409.00 

48 $417.00 

49 $422.00 

50 $429.00 

276



Bylaw 912-13  Page 19 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 

PLUMBING PERMIT FEES 
 

Add $1.00 for each fixture over 100 
 

* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560  
 

Number of Fixtures CONTRACTOR 

51 $435.00 

52 $440.00 

53 $445.00 

54 $450.00 

55 $457.00 

56 $463.00 

57 $467.00 

58 $473.00 

59 $478.00 

60 $484.00 

61 $488.00 

62 $494.00 

63 $500.00 

64 $505.00 

65 $510.00 

66 $515.00 

67 $522.00 

68 $527.00 

69 $532.00 

70 $537.00 

71 $543.00 

72 $549.00 

73 $553.00 

74 $559.00 

75 $564.00 

Number of Fixtures CONTRACTOR 

76 $570.00 

77 $574.00 

78 $580.00 

79 $587.00 

80 $592.00 

81 $594.00 

82 $597.00 

83 $599.00 

84 $602.00 

85 $604.00 

86 $608.00 

87 $610.00 

88 $613.00 

89 $617.00 

90 $618.00 

91 $620.00 

92 $623.00 

93 $627.00 

94 $629.00 

95 $632.00 

96 $635.00 

97 $638.00 

98 $639.00 

99 $642.00 

100 $645.00 

277



Bylaw 912-13  Page 20 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 
PRIVATE SEWAGE TREATMENT SYSTEMS 
 
DESCRIPTION OF WORK HOMEOWNER CONTRACTOR 

Holding Tanks and Open Discharges $200.00 $200.00 
Fields, Mounds, Sand Filters, Treatment Tanks, 
etc $275.00 $275.00 

 
* SCC Levy is 4% of the permit fee with a minimum of $4.50 and a maximum of $560 

 
 
OTHER CHARGES AND PAYMENTS 

 
Mackenzie County will collect all permit fees and no remuneration will be remitted to the 
contracted Safety Codes Agency until such time as the permit is closed in accordance with 
Mackenzie County’s Quality Management Plan (QMP).  The contracted Safety Codes Agency will 
invoice and return closed permits to the County on a monthly basis.  
 
Charges for additional services are as follows: 
 

DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE HOURLY CHARGE 

Appeal services $75.00 

Audit Representation No charge 

Code Seminars No charge 

Consultative Services $75.00 

Emergency Services $125.00 

Enforcement Services No charge 

Investigation Services $125.00 

Public Works Complaints No charge 
 
Additional Inspection Services  
 
In addition to addressing the needs of Mackenzie County’s Accreditation, the contracted Safety 
Codes Agency shall offer to the residents of the County the full spectrum of Inspection Services, 
including: 
 

• Wood Stove Inspections, 
• Progress Payment Inspections (Bank Inspections),  
• Private Home Inspections for real estate deals (all disciplines), 
• Insurance Inspections, 
• Electrical Equipment Approvals, 

278



Bylaw 912-13  Page 21 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

 
SAFETY CODES FEES (CONT) 
 

• New Code Book Sales, and  
• Code Seminars in all disciplines for local contractors.  

 
These types of inspections may not be required under County Accreditation but are, none the 
less, important services Mackenzie County’s residents need on a fairly regular basis. These fees 
shall be at a competitive rate and billed directly to the customer. 
 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
DESCRIPTION FEE 
Permit Cancellation – before plan review 
complete Complete refund minus $50  

Permit Cancellation – after plan review 
complete 65% of permit fee 

Amendments to Permit Application 
Any additional fees shall be payable and any 
decrease in permit fees over $20 shall be 
refunded   

Additional Inspection (within 100 km radius $75.00  

Additional Inspection (over 100 km radius) $125.00 

Permit Extension Requests 

Shall be provided in writing and must contain 
reason for request and additional time 
requested. Permit extensions, where granted, 
shall be provided in writing.  

279



Bylaw 912-13  Page 22 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

PUBLIC WORKS 
 
Item Amount GST 

Winter Maintenance Flags $20.00/up to 1/4 mile Applicable 

Senior/Handicapped Snowplow Flags 
(Where the Senior/Handicapped person lives in a rural 
residence where all other persons, excluding spouse or 
dependent, residing on the property are also Senior 
Citizens or Handicapped persons) 

No Charge N/A 

Dust Control Calcium Chloride $500/200 linear meters per 
application Applicable 

Dust Control for Seniors No Cost.   

 
 
EQUIPMENT AND LABOUR 
 
Item Amount GST 

Sewer Auger $20.00 per hour 
$100.00 per 24 hours Applicable 

Water Line Thawing Unit $20.00 per hour 
$100.00 per 24 hours Applicable 

Sanding Unit & Tandem Truck $110.00/hour 
(minimum charge1 hr) Applicable 

Alberta Agriculture’s Irrigation Pump/Pipe 
$300.00/48 hours 
$100.00/each additional 24 
hours 

Applicable 

Labour  $25.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

Weed Eater $30.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

35 HP Tractor Mower 6’ $50.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

75 HP Tractor Mower 15’ $75.00 per hour 
(minimum charge 1 hr.) Applicable 

 
Note: County equipment that is not listed in this bylaw will be charged according to the 
current Alberta Roadbuilders and Heavy Equipment Association Equipment Rental Rates 
Guide. 
 

280



Bylaw 912-13  Page 23 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

AIRPORTS 
 
Item Amount GST 

Fuel Flow Charge 

 
$0.045 per liter for each liter 
of aviation fuel dispensed 
 

Applicable 

Land lease fee for hangars and associated 
uses 

 
Fort Vermilion Airport –  
$1.25 per square meter 
annually; 
La Crete Airport –  
$1.30 per square meter 
annually 
 

Applicable 

Long Term Aircraft Parking (30 days or more) $250.00 annually (no power) Applicable 

Aircraft & Vehicle Parking $5.00 per day (power) Applicable 

Terminal Fees No charge N/A 

Landing Fees No charge N/A 

 
 

281



Bylaw 912-13  Page 24 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

SOLID WASTE 
 
Section 1: General Solid Waste Fees 
 
At Regional Landfill 

Current rate as set by the Mackenzie Regional Landfill Authority 

At Transfer Station 

½ ton pickup truck $10.00 

¾ ton pickup truck $15.00 

1 ton truck $25.00 

2 ton truck $30.00 

3 ton truck $35.00 

5 ton truck $100.00 

Trailers shorter than 8’ $10.00 

Trailers 8’ - 20’ $30.00 

Trailers over 20’ $50.00 

Untarped loads of commercial, construction, industrial and/or institutional material $50.00 

Trucks larger than 5 ton are to be directed to the regional landfill. 

 
Definitions: 
 

a) “Commercial waste” means any waste generated from businesses such as 
stores, garages, hotels, motels and restaurants. 

 
b) “Construction waste” waste generated due to construction/ 

demolition/renovation of property and or buildings. 
 
c) “Industrial waste” means any waste generated from an industry such as 

forestry and energy. 
 
d) “Institutional” is waste generated from institutions such as hospitals, schools, 

long-term care facilities and lodges. 
 
Note: Residential and farming garbage (not including construction waste) is exempt from 

charges.   
 
Note: Mackenzie County reserves the right to control the type and nature of refuse which may 

be deposited at the transfer station and no refuse may be deposited at the transfer station 
except in accordance with the transfer station operations manual. 

 

282



Bylaw 912-13  Page 25 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Section 2: Residential Waste Collection – Hamlet of La Crete 
 
Residential Waste  Fees 
Monthly Collection Waste $5.95 per month per residence  
One-Time Use Refuse Bin Tags $1.50 per tag 
Refuse Receptacle (including GST) $58.59 per residence 
Replacement of Waste Receptacle  At cost 
 
The fees are applicable to all residential properties identified in the County’s Hamlet 
Residential Waste Collection Bylaw. 
 

283



Bylaw 912-13  Page 26 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

PARKS  
 
Section 1: General Park Fees 
 

Day Use Overnight Weekly Group 
Camping 

Seasonal or 
Monthly 

Camping Stalls 

Marina Dock 
Rental 

 
Wadlin Lake 

No Charge $20 $120 

$50 basic fee  
 
plus 
$16/unit/day  
 
plus $250 
damage 
deposit 

Seasonal: 
 
May 1-Sept.30: 
$1,500 plus $250 
damage deposit 

$28/day with 
camping stall;  
 
$10/day without 
camping stall 

Machesis Lake 

No Charge $20 $120 N/A N/A N/A 

Hutch Lake 

No Charge $20 $120 N/A N/A N/A 

Zama Community Park 

No Charge 

Non-
Serviced: 
$10 
 
Partially 
Serviced: 
$15 
 
Fully 
Serviced: 
$20 

Non-
Serviced: 
$60 
 
Partially 
Serviced: 
$90 
 
Fully 
Serviced: 
$100 

N/A 

Monthly: 
 
Non-Serviced: 
$200 
 
Partially 
Serviced:  
$275 
 
Fully Serviced: 
$400 

N/A 

Tourangeau Lake 

No Charge N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Fort Vermilion Bridge Campsite 

No Charge N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

 
Note: Where available, the Group Camping Fee allows for reservation of shelter for renter’s use 
only.  Basic fee is applicable for shelter only (no R.V.s). 

284



Bylaw 912-13  Page 27 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Section 2: Penalties  
 
The voluntary payment, which may be accepted in lieu of prosecution for a contravention of any 
of the sections set out below, shall be the sum set out opposite the section number: 
 
Section 
(Municipal Parks 
Bylaw) 

Offence Penalty 

Section 3.1 (a) Fail to keep land in a clean/tidy condition $50.00 

Section 3.1 (b) Fail to comply with lawfully posted signs and/or notices $50.00 

Section 3.2 Fail to restore land to a clean/tidy condition when vacating 
park $50.00 

Section 3.3(a) Interfere with others quiet enjoyment of park $50.00 

Section 3.3(b) Deface/injure/destroy object in park $75.00 

Section 3.3(c) Excavate or remove plants/plant fixtures from a park $75.00 

Section 3.3(d) Remove park equipment $75.00 

Section 3.3(e) Unauthorized display signs/ads in park $25.00 

Section 3.3(f) Remove/damage etc. authorized signs/notices in park $50.00 

Section 3.3(g) Bathe/clean clothing/ fish/utensils etc. at/near drinking 
fountain/pump in park $25.00 

Section 3.4 Unauthorized construction in park $50.00 

Section 3.5 Unauthorized business in park $50.00 

Section 4.1 Failure to register when entering park $50.00 

Section 4.2 Failure to obtain camping permit $50.00 

Section 4.7 Camping in area not designated for that purpose $50.00 

Section 4.8 Alteration of camping permit $50.00 

Section 4.9 Failure to produce camping permit upon request $50.00 

Section 4.12/4.13 Unauthorized combination of vehicles in campsite $50.00 

Section 4.14 Camping more than fourteen consecutive days $50.00 

Section 4.18 Failure to vacate site cost 
recovery 

Section 4.21 Remain in day use area after 11:00 p.m. $50.00 

Section 6.1 Unlawfully enter/remain in park $50.00 

Section 7.1 Set, light, or maintain fire in unauthorized place $50.00 

Section 7.3 Set, light, or maintain fire after signs/notices have been 
erected prohibiting same $50.00 

285



Bylaw 912-13  Page 28 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Section 2: Penalties Cont’d 
 
Section 
(Municipal Parks 
Bylaw) 

Offence Penalty 

Section 7.4 Leave fire unattended/allow to spread $50.00 

Section 7.5 Deposit/dispose of hot coals/ashes etc. in unauthorized place $50.00 

Section 7.6 Fail to extinguish fire etc. before leaving $50.00 

Section 7.7 Remove firewood from a park $100.00 

Section 8.1 Operate off-highway vehicle where prohibited $50.00 

Section 8.2 Enter park when prohibited $50.00 

Section 8.3 Parking in a manner or location that impedes traffic $50.00 

Section 8.4 Exceed posted speed limit $50.00 

Section 9.1(a) Animal running at large $50.00 

Section 9.1(b) Animal in prohibited area $50.00 

Section 9.7 Bring/allow horse/pony etc. unauthorized into the park $100.00 

Section 10.1(a) Deposit waste matter in unauthorized area of park $50.00 

Section 10.1(b) Deposit waste water or liquid waste in unauthorized area $250.00 

Section 10.1(c) Dispose of commercial/residential waste in park $50.00 

Section 10.2 Fail to carry waste matter from areas in park without 
receptacles $50.00 

Section 11.3 Attempt to enter park within 72 hours of removal from a park $100.00 

Section 12.1 Discharging of firearm $100.00 

Section 12.2 Improper storage of firearm $75.00 

Section 12.3 Hang big game in park $50.00 
 
Note: 
Every person who contravenes a section of the Municipal Parks Bylaw is guilty of an offence 
and liable to the penalty as set out above or, on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding 
two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) or imprisonment for a term of not more than six (6) 
months or to both a fine and imprisonment (in accordance with Provincial Regulations). 
 

286



Bylaw 912-13  Page 29 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

TRAFFIC REGULATIONS  
 
Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 2: Parking 
 

Section Offence Fine 

Section 3(1)(a) Prohibited Parking – Emergency Exit Door $50.00 

Section 3(1)(b) Prohibited Parking – Entrance to Emergency Service $50.00 

Section 4(1) Park in No Parking Zone Prohibited by Traffic Control Device $30.00 

Section 4(2) Park in No Parking Zone During Prohibited Times $30.00 

Section 5 (2) Park in No Parking Zone Prohibited by Temporary Traffic 
Control Device $30.00 

Section 6 Stop in a No Stopping Zone Prohibited by Traffic Control 
Device $30.00 

Section 7(2) Park in a Disabled Person’s Parking Space $50.00 

Section 8(2) Park in Fire Lane $50.00 

Section 9 Park an Unattached Trailer on Highway $30.00 

 Park in Alley $30.00 

 
Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 3: Rules for Operation of Vehicles 
 

Section Offence Fine 

Section 11(1) Drive Tracking Vehicle on Highway Without Authorization $100.00 

Section 11(2) Fail to Produce Tracked Vehicle Authorization $50.00 
 
Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 4: Controlled and Restricted Highways 
 

Section Offence Fine 

Section 13(1) Operate / Park Heavy Vehicle in Prohibited Area $75.00 
 
Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 5: Miscellaneous 
 

Section Offence Fine 

Section 14 Proceed Beyond Designated Point Near Fire $50.00 

Section 15(1) Cause Damage to Street Furniture Court 

Section 15(2) Cause Damage to Highway Court 

Section 15(3) Damage Costs for Sections 14(1) / 14(2) amount 
expended 

 

287



Bylaw 912-13  Page 30 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

 
Note:  
Every person who contravenes a section of the Traffic Regulation Bylaw is guilty of an 
offence and shall forfeit and pay a penalty as set out above or on summary conviction to 
a fine not exceeding Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000.00) and/or imprisonment for not 
more than six (6) months. 
 
FIRE SERVICES FEES 
 
Provincial Roadways Incidents 
 
Item Amount 

Response fees including man power:  

Pumper Unit $400.00 per hour 

Ladder Unit (Aerial) $400.00 per hour 

Tanker Unit $400.00 per hour 

Rescue Unit $400.00 per hour 

Contracted Services (i.e water haulers, equipment, labour, etc.) Cost plus 15% 

Manpower Fee: (if only manpower is requested/needed)  

Officers $50.00 per man hour 

Firefighter $40.00 per man hour 

 
Other Incidents: 
 
Item Amount 

Response fees including man power:  

Pumper Unit $200.00 per hour 

Ladder Unit (Aerial) $200.00 per hour 

Tanker Unit $200.00 per hour 

Rescue Unit $200.00 per hour 

Contracted Services (i.e water haulers, equipment, labour, etc.) Cost plus 15% 

Consumable Items Cost plus 15% 

Manpower Fee: (if only manpower is requested/needed)  

Officers $25.00 per man hour 

Firefighter $20.00 per man hour 

 

288



Bylaw 912-13  Page 31 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Note:  
a) Travel time to and from the scene of an accident shall be free of charge; 

 
b) A residential invoice shall not exceed $5,000 per incident.  Residential means 

property that is not classed as farm land, machinery and equipment or non-
residential by the County’s assessor and as described in Municipal Government 
Act.  When a titled property has multiple structures such as a residential and non-
residential structure, a determination shall be made regarding origin of the fire by 
the Fire Chief.  If the fire originated from the residential structure, the $5,000 limit 
per incident shall apply. 

 
False Alarms 
 
Item Amount 

Response to False Alarm                         1st Call No charge 

(within same year as 1st Call) 2nd Call $100.00 

(within same year as 1st Call) 3nd Call $200.00 

(within same year as 1st Call) 4nd Call $300.00 

 
Other Fees 
 
Item Amount 

Violation Ticket*– 1st Offence $250.00 

Violation Ticket* – 2st  and Subsequent Offences $500.00 

Fire Works Permit (no charge to non-profit groups) $50.00 per permit 
Filling of Air Cylinders (breathing air) 

i) Small cylinder (30 min) 
ii) Cascade cylinder 

 

$25.00 
$100.00 

Water Flow Testing Reports $100.00 

  File Search (fire inspections and investigations) $35.00 per search 

Fire Permit No charge 

Fire Inspection Services Within the County $50.00 per hour plus 
expenses 

 Fire Inspection Services Outside of the County $75.00 per hour plus 
expenses 

Re-inspection with Outstanding Fire Code Violations $50.00 per visit 

Training course(s) to other individuals/groups Cost plus $15% 
administrative fee 

Expert Witness Services – Civil Litigation $25.00 per hour to a 
maximum of $350.00 per 

289



Bylaw 912-13  Page 32 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

day plus expenses 

Occupant Load Determination (no charge to non-profit groups) $100.00 per certificate 

*As specified in Fire Services Bylaw 
 
Note:  

a) Every person who violates a provision of Fire Services Bylaw is guilty of an offense 
and is punishable upon summary conviction, to a fine not exceeding two thousand 
dollars ($2,000.00) or to a term of imprisonment not exceeding one (1) year or to 
both. 

b) Nothing shall prevent a Peace Officer from: 
 

(i) immediately issuing a Violation Ticket for the mandatory Court appearance 
to any person who contravenes any provision of the Mackenzie County Fire 
Services Bylaw, or 

 
(ii) issuing a Voluntary Payment ticket in lieu of a mandatory Court appearance 

for $100.00. 
 

DOG CONTROL FEES 
 

Fees & Penalties General Dogs Dangerous 
Dogs 

Failure to obtain a valid license penalty  $35.00 $50.00 

Failure to wear a dog tag penalty $35.00   

Annual Fees    

− neutered male or spayed female  $10.00 $50.00 

− unneutered male or unspayed female  $25.00 $100.00 

Lifetime Fee    

− neutered male or spayed female  $50.00 $50.00 

− unneutered male or unspayed female  $200.00 $200.0 

Replacement for misplaced, lost, or stolen dog 
tag $5.00   

Failure to obtain a kennel license penalty $50.00   

Dog running at large – Handling fee    

1st offence  $50.00 $500.00 

2nd offence  $100.00 $1,000.00 

290



Bylaw 912-13  Page 33 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Fees & Penalties General Dogs Dangerous 
Dogs 

3rd offence and subsequent   $200.00 $1,500.00 

Bite a person penalty  $250.00 $1,000.00 

Injure a person penalty  $250.00 $1,000.00 

Chase of threaten a person penalty  $150.00 $1,000.00 

Bite, bark at, chase stock, bicycles, wheelchairs, 
or other vehicles penalty  $250.00 $1,000.00 

Bark, howl or disturb any person penalty   $50.00 

Worry or annoy any other animal penalty $50.00   

Damage to public or private property penalty  $50.00 $250.00 

Upset waste receptacles or scatter contents 
thereof (Section 1. (b) or Dog Control Bylaw)  $100.00   

Leave dog unattended in motor vehicle penalty  $50.00 $250.00 

Fail to provide water, food, shelter or proper 
care penalty $100.00   

Abuse or abandonment of dog penalty $250.00   

Dog in prohibited areas as set by Council 
penalty $100.00   

Failure to report dog with a communicable 
disease  penalty $100.00   

Failure to confine a dog with a communicable 
disease penalty $100.00   

Failure to keep dog confined for nor less than 
ten (10) days penalty $50.00   

Interfere or threaten an Animal Control Officer 
penalty $250.00   

Induce a dog or assist a dog to escape capture 
penalty $250.00   

Falsely represent him/herself as being in charge 
of a dog penalty $100.00   

Allow, or attempt to allow, a dog(s) to escape 
from a vehicle, cage, or lice trap penalty $100.00   

Remove or attempt to remove a dog from an 
Animal Control Officer penalty $250.00   

Unconfined female dog in heat penalty $50.00   

Failure to remove defecation $50.00   

Impoundment fees (to be verified with the 
veterinarian)  Amount 

expended 
Amount 

expended 

291



Bylaw 912-13  Page 34 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Fees & Penalties General Dogs Dangerous 
Dogs 

Veterinary fees (to be verified with the 
veterinarian)  Amount 

expended 
Amount 

expended 
Destruction of dog fees (to be verified with the 
veterinarian)  Amount 

expended 
Amount 

expended 
Failure to keep a dangerous dog(s) confined 
penalty   $500.00 

Improper pen or other structure penalty   $200.00 

Give false information when applying for 
dangerous dog license penalty   $500.00 

Failure to keep dangerous dog muzzled penalty   $500.00 

Failure to harness of leash a dangerous dog 
properly penalty    $500.00 

Failure to keep a dangerous dog under the 
control of an adult person penalty   $500.00 

 
No penalties will be levied for “dog at large: under part 4 section 18 or 22 if impoundment fee and 
handling fees are paid. 
 
Note: 

a) Any person who contravenes, disobeys, refuses or neglects to obey any 
provisions of this Bylaw is guilty of an offense and is liable on summary 
conviction to a fine not exceeding two thousand dollars ($2,000) in addition to 
any other fees according to Mackenzie County Fee Schedule Bylaw, and in 
default of payment to imprisonment for a term not exceeding ninety (90) days. 

 
WATER/SEWER RATES, PENALTIES, AND FEES AND DEPOSITS 
 
Water/Sewer Rates 
 
Rate Description Fixed Fee Consumption Fee 

Water Rates for 
Metered Users 

Up to February 29, 2012 - 
$30.67/month 
 
March 1 , 2012 - $28.76/month 

Up to February 29, 2012 -
$2.43/m3  
 
March 1, 2012 - $3.20/m3 

Water Rates for 
Cardlock Users 
(treated water) 

NA  
February 1, 2012 - $3.20/m3 

Water Rates for 
Cardlock Users 
(untreated water) 

NA  
February 1, 2012 - $2.38/m3 

Sewer Rate for 
Metered users 

 Up to February 29, 2012 – 
33.5% 
 
March 1, 2012 - 26% of the 
total water charge amount  

292



Bylaw 912-13  Page 35 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

  
Penalties 
 
One time 10% penalty will be charged on all current charges if the utility bill is not paid by 
the due date. 
 
Fees and Deposits  
 
Description Fee Amount 

Application fee for new account move in $20.00 
 

Transfer from one account to another $20.00 
 

Reconnection of account due to non-payment of account $50.00 

Fee for services required upon the request of the customer 
within the one (1) working day requirement $50.00 

Fee for hamlet water and/or sewer service tie-in  $100.00 

Fee for hamlet water and/or sewer main tie-in $500.00 plus cost of 
installation 

Fee for rural water tie-in 
Summer $8,000.00 

Winter (Nov 1-May 1) 
$9,000.00 

Fee for rural water multi-lot subdivision $2,800.00/lot 

Fee for water meter testing. Refundable if variance of meter 
reading is greater than 3%. $100.00 

Fee for county employee services, including regular working 
hours and overtime hours, required to construct, repair, inspect, 
or service where the responsibility for work was borne by the 
developer, consumer or corporation 

$50.00/hr. 

Fee for after hour emergency call out of County employee for 
services born by the consumer  $75.00 

Deposit for cardlock $100.00 for residential 
$500.00 for commercial 

 
(i) Deposits may be transferable from one service to another by the same 

consumer.  
 
(ii) The fee shall be retained by Mackenzie County and applied against any 

outstanding balance upon disconnection of the service.  In the event there is 
no outstanding balance or service charges remaining on the account upon 
disconnection of the service, Mackenzie County shall refund money to the 
customer within forty (40) days.  

 

293



Bylaw 912-13  Page 36 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

(iii) In any case money deposited with Mackenzie County as a guarantee deposit 
remains unclaimed for a period of five years after the account of the 
consumer so depositing has been discontinued, the amount of the deposit 
shall be transferred to the general revenue account of Mackenzie County.  

 
(iv) Mackenzie County remains liable to repay the amount of the deposit to the 

person lawfully entitled thereto for a period of ten years next following the 
discontinuance of the account but after the ten year period the deposit 
becomes the absolute property of Mackenzie County free from any claim in 
respect thereof.  

 
Meter Fees 

 
Size of Meter Cost of Meter and Install 
5/8” $400.00 

¾” Residential $440.00 

¾” Commercial  $520.00 

1” $620.00 

11/2” $980.00 

2” $1,260.00 

 
* 15% administrative fee is included in all meter costs.  
 
** The consumer will be given the option of paying the complete cost upon application, 
having the cost applied to their first water bill, or having the cost applied to their water bill 
in 6 equal payments.  
 
*** Meters of a greater size than identified above will be dealt with on an individual basis. 

 
Fines for Water/Sewer  
 
The voluntary payment, which may be accepted in lieu of prosecution for a contravention 
shall be the sum as set in the following table:  
 

DESCRIPTION PENALTY 
Failing to connect to Municipal Utility $2,500.00 

Failing to provide grease, oil & sand traps & maintain catch 
basins 

$1,000.00 

Interfering/Tampering with Municipal Utility  $2,500.00 

Operation or use of Municipal Utility without authorization $250.00 

Failing to allow County staff or agent to enter premises $250.00 

294



Bylaw 912-13  Page 37 
Fee Schedule Bylaw 
 

________ 

________ 

Failing to maintain water or sewer system $100.00 

Failure to use proper material $250.00 

Failure to install sewer backflow preventer  $150.00 

Failure to install cross connection control device $500.00 

Failure to execute proper tapping or backfilling $250.00 

Covering a water or sewer system prior to inspection $250.00 

Failure to uncover a water or sewer system at the request of 
an authorized employee after it has been covered 

$500.00 

Failure to report broken seal to County $50.00 

Obstruction of Fire Hydrants/Valves $100.00 

Illegal disposal of water $1,500.00 

Well or other source of water supply $250.00 

Illegal disposal in sewer or storm drainage system $2,500.00 

 
Note: A person who contravenes a provision of the Water and Sewer Bylaw is guilty of an 
offence and liable on summary conviction to the penalty as prescribed in this Bylaw or, on 
summary conviction to a fine not less than fifty ($50.00) dollars and not more than five 
thousand ($5,000.00) dollars, and in the event of a failure to pay the fine to imprisonment 
for a period not exceeding six (6) months.  
 
3. This Bylaw shall come into force and effect upon receiving third reading and shall 

repeal and replace Bylaw 883-13. 
 
In the event that this bylaw is in conflict with any other bylaw, this bylaw shall have 
paramountcy. 
 
READ a first time this ______ day of August, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this _____ day of August, 2013. 
 
READ a third time and finally passed this _____ day of August, 2013. 
 
 

 
Bill Neufeld 
Reeve 
 
 
 
Joulia Whittleton 
Chief Administrative Officer 

 

295



296



Agenda Item # 12. b) 
 

Author: D. Pawlik/A. Kilpatrick Review Date:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Alison Kilpatrick, Director of Corporate Services 

Title: Drake Energy Ltd. – Tax Roll 410991  

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
This Linear property went into receivership on May 26, 2012 and was placed in the 
hands of Ernst & Young, LLP.  On July 29, 2013, we received an assessment 
amendment for the Linear property bringing the assessment to zero.  This company is 
now defunct.  There is currently an outstanding balance of $56.06 on the tax roll made up 
of penalties from 2013 of $3.92 (January) and $19.45 (July) and $32.69 from prior years. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
Administration recommends that the penalties of 2013 totalling $23.37 be voided, and 
$32.69 from prior years be written off. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
Property Tax Write-offs, Operating Budget. 
 
 
COMMUNICATION:  
 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  (requires 2/3) 
 
That penalties of $19.45 and $3.92 from 2013 be voided, and the remaining penalties 
from prior years of $32.69 be written off, for tax roll 410991. 

297



298



Agenda Item # 13. a) 
 

Author: C. Gabriel Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Joulia Whittleton, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  Policy PW023 Rural Road Specification 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
Policy PW039 Rural Road, Access Construction and Surface Water Management was 
approved on December 11, 2012 and several policies were rescinded as they were 
incorporated into this new policy.  Policy PW023 Rural Road Specification was also 
incorporated into this new policy however was not rescinded. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
N/A 
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That Policy PW023 Rural Road Specification be rescinded as it was incorporated into 
Policy PW039 Rural Road, Access Construction and Surface Water Management. 
 

299



Municipal District of Mackenzie No. 23 
 

Title Rural Road Specification Policy No. PW023 
 
Legislation Reference Municipal Government Act, Section 18 
 
Purpose:   
 
To establish rural roads specifications. 
 
 
Policy Statement and Guidelines 
 
The Municipal District of Mackenzie hereby establishes rural road specifications 
according to the attached schedule.    
 
  

1. All major modifications (construction changes that increase the cost of the 
project by more than 10%) to road specifications shall be approved by 
council. 

 
2. All minor modifications to road specifications shall be approved by the 

Director of Operational Services.  
 
 
 
 
 

300



Page 2 of 3 
PW023 

 
 

 
 

ROAD SPECIFICATION - RURAL  

  Unit of 
Measure 

Paved  
Secondary 
Highway 
Equivalent 

Collector Local 
Road 

Low Volume 
Farm Access 

Forestry Road 

Examples     88 Connector 
Zama Access 

Blue Hills Rd   
West La Crete 
Rd Heliport Rd  
Rocky Lane Rd  
27th Baseline   
Wilson Prairie   
Ed Lizotte Loop   
Machesis Rd 

    

  

Short 
Description 
of Roadway 

              

Road top 
width 

meter 9 meter 
initial 

12 8 8 8 7 

Average 
Height of Fill meter N/A 1.0 min 1.0 min 0.9 0.6 0.3 min 

Normal Side 
Slope   4:1 5:1 5:1 4:1 4:1 3:1 

Normal 
Ditch Width meter 3 3 3 3 3 V-ditch up to 3 

meters 

Normal 
Backslope   4:1 4:1 4:1 4:1 4:1 3:1 

301



Page 3 of 3 
PW023 

 
 

Compaction 
@ 
Construction 

% of 
Standard 
Proctor 
Density 

100% 100% 95% 

93%;  
one 
packer 
on SP;   
no 
packer 
on 
Constr. 

93%                          
no packer on 
Constr. 

93% 

Moisture 
Content @ 
Construction 

% of 
Standard 
Proctor 
Density 

100% 100% 95% 95% 93% 93% 

Rate of 
Regravelling   N/A 500m3/mile 

for 3 yrs 
300m3 / mile for 
first 3 yrs  

200m3/
mile 200m3/mile 

150m3/mile at 
initial 
construction, 
then as needed 

Private 
Approach 
Radius  

meter 15 15 15 15 15 15 

Crown Rate   3% 4% 4% 4% 4% 4% 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 Date Resolution Number 
Approved December 19, 2001  01-708 
Amended August 31, 2005        05-415 
Amended   
 

302



Agenda Item # 13. b) 
 

Author: C. Gabriel Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Joulia Whittleton, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title:  AAMDC – MGA Consultation Workshops 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The Alberta Association of Municipal Districts & Counties (AAMDC) is hosting a series 
of consultation workshops across the province to gather input as a result of the review 
of the Municipal Government Act (MGA) by Alberta Municipal Affairs. 
 
A list of upcoming workshops and the proposed agenda are attached. 
 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
To provide input into the MGA consultation process. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
Travel/Subsistence – 2013 Operating Budget 
 
 
COMMUNICATION: 
 
N/A 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That Councillor _____________ be authorized to attend the AAMDC MGA Consultation 
Workshop on August 20, 2013 in Grimshaw. 
 

303



 

  

 

AAMDC Wants Your Input - Upcoming MGA Consultation Workshops 
As a member of the MGA Review Advisory Committee, the AAMDC is playing a significant role in 
helping Municipal Affairs provide an efficient and informative consultation process for the MGA 
Review. To ensure the interests and priorities of our members are represented, the AAMDC will 
host a series of consultation workshops across the province to gather input. Facilitated by 
AAMDC’s Advocacy staff, the intent of these sessions is to discuss elements of the MGA that 
could be improved and those that are beneficial and should be retained.  

This will be an opportunity for AAMDC members to discuss the functionality of the MGA and 
provide AAMDC with further direction to ensure the association is well positioned to contribute to 
the government-led consultations moving forward.   

Workshops will be held from 9:45 am to 3:00 pm at the following locations: 

 Tuesday, August 20 – Grimshaw (Grimshaw Legion Hall) 

 Thursday, August 22 - Hay Lakes (Hay Lakes Agriplex) 

 Friday, August 23 – Coaldale (Readymade Community Hall) 

These sessions are intended for elected officials and municipal staff of AAMDC’s 69 full member 
municipalities. Please RSVP your attendance, specifying location, to Cindy Carstairs at 
cindy.carstairs@aamdc.com by August 15, 2013.  

A draft backgrounder of the four board topics that will be used to guide discussions during the 
workshops is attached.  Advocacy staff are preparing resource materials that will support these 
discussions, which will be distributed as soon as possible.  

 

Enquiries may be directed to: 

Tasha Blumenthal 
Policy Analyst 
780.955.4094 

Kim Heyman 
Director of Advocacy and Communications 
780.955.4079 

 

Attachment 

July 24, 2013 

304

mailto:cindy.carstairs@aamdc.com


 

 

AAMDC MGA Consultation Workshops 
 PROPOSED AGENDA 

9:45 – 10:00 am Intros & Process 
10:00 – 10:45 am Rotation #1 
10:45 – 11:30 am Rotation #2 

11:30 am – 12:15 pm  Rotation #3  
12:15 – 1:00 pm LUNCH 

1:00 – 1:45 pm Rotation #4 
1:45 – 2:45 pm Roundtable 
2:45 – 3:00 pm Wrap Up 

 

 PROPOSED OUTLINE OF CONTENT 

Overview: 

 AAMDC’s intended outcome from these sessions 
o What’s working? (affirming the good) 
o What’s not? (identify province-wide themes supported by local examples) 
o Anything missing? 

 Differentiate between upcoming Government of Alberta consultations 
 Articulate our interpretation of the provincial interest in this review (look at the province’s 

goals/business plan and at Municipal Affairs) 
 Review purpose of the MGA –Is it still valid? Is anything missing? 

o Natural person powers 
o Variety of taxation options (are more needed) 
o Enabling vs. prescriptive  

 

Discussion Area 1 – Municipal Autonomy & Structures 

This discussion area would seek member input on issues impacting the autonomy of 
municipalities.  Specifically, the AAMDC anticipates creating a brief overview and questions 
covering topics that could include the follows: 

 Order of government (i.e. Equal engagement; different than NGO’s, business, etc.) 
 Receiving title to roads 
 Viability – summer villages/villages, changes to types of municipalities 
 Sustainability planning – is there a role for formalized plans?  
 MSS – should this be legislated? 
 Is dissolution the best tool (i.e. discussions regarding amalgamations, annexations, etc.) 

 

  

305



 

 

Discussion Area 2 – Sound Planning & Services 

This discussion area would seek member input on issues impacting various aspects of planning 
(land use and financial) as well as service delivery and cost sharing. Following a brief overview, 
questions could be proposed that include the following topics: 

 Land use planning 
o Annexations 
o Forced regionalization (CRP, CRB) 
o Alberta Land Stewardship Act – Land-Use Framework 
o Development along highways 

 
 General planning 

o Asset management plans 
o Extreme weather/emergency 

 
 Services 

o Defining core services  
o Cost sharing 
o Regional delivery 

 

Discussion Area 3 – Revenue Streams 

This discussion area would seek member input on issues impacting various aspects of revenue 
generation. After outlining the issues as we know them and our current positions (where 
applicable), we anticipate posing questions regarding: 

 Regulated assessment – linear (method) and M&E (exemption) 
 Split taxation rates 

o Intensive livestock 
 WDET 
 Off-site Levies 
 Other revenue streams 

o Non-legislated grant funding (ex. MSI – operating) 
o Sharing of provincial revenue sources 

 Education Tax 
 

Discussion Area 4 – Appeals, Complaints and Breaches 

The AAMDC is aware, through resolution and anecdotal discussions, of various issues related 
to appeals, complaints and breaches.  This discussion will outline those findings and pose 
questions related to those matters as to: 

 Assessment 
 Planning 
 Councillor conduct 
 Clarity of council (policy) and administrative roles 
 Council composition 

306



Agenda Item # 13. c) 
 

Author: W. Kostiw Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: William (Bill) Kostiw – Director of Infrastructure Development 
& Government Relations 

Title:  Rural Water New Connections 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
Several years ago the County installed a major water line from Fort Vermilion to La 
Crete.  The intent of this line was to provide water for industry, provide security by 
having the two hamlets connected and supply water to rural customers.  We seem to 
have really bogged down on the intent to provide rural hookups at this time.  The project 
is shuffling between staff and committee. 
 
OPTIONS & BENEFITS: 
 
The options are many but I think Council or CAO needs to give clear instructions to 
either the Directors or the Committee along with a definitive budget to get things 
moving. 
 
The option I recommend is that the Public Works Committee be authorized to engage 
our consulting engineers.  Either DCL or Genivar can assist us with the development of 
a staged plan.  The plan would be in stages with Stage 1 connecting from 7 mile corner 
south to junction of 697 then south to connect to the new line east of La Crete.  This 
would have the potential of 15 hookups plus 2 subdivisions and the golf course.  Stage 
2 would be recommended by the Committee.  The Committee would make final 
recommendation to Council on the plan including costs, hookups and methodology. 
 
The plan could be completed this fall with construction early 2014. 
 
 
COSTS & SOURCE OF FUNDING:  
 
The costs are estimated at $20,000 for the planning and construction would be in the 
2014 budget.  The funding would come from 2013 operating & maintenance. 
 

307



Author: W. Kostiw Reviewed by:  CAO  
 

COMMUNICATION: 
 
To be determined 
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That the Public Works Committee be instructed to develop a Rural Water Connection 
Plan, including alignment, costs and construction timing, for review by Council at the 
October 8, 2013 Council meeting. 
 
 

308



Agenda Item # 14. a) 
 

Author: C. Gabriel Review by:  CAO  
 

 

MACKENZIE COUNTY 
 

REQUEST FOR DECISION 
 
 

Meeting: Regular Council Meeting 

Meeting Date: August 12, 2013 

Presented By: Joulia Whittleton, Chief Administrative Officer 

Title: Information/Correspondence 

 
BACKGROUND / PROPOSAL: 
 
The following items are attached for your information, review, and action if required. 
  

• Action List  
• Correspondence – Alberta Transportation 2013-07-22 Re: Intersection 

Lighting 
 

• Correspondence – County of Grande Prairie 2013-08-06 Re: Grand Opening 
of the County of Grande Prairie Sportsplex 

 

• Correspondence – Anonymous Letter 2013-07-16 Re: Dog Cages in FV  
• Correspondence – Alberta Transportation 2013-07-11 Re: Northern Wheels in 

Action 
 

• Correspondence – Town of High Level 2013-06-25 Re: Air Ambulance  
• Correspondence – Northern Sunrise County 2013-07-02 Re: Air Ambulance  
• Correspondence – County of Northern Lights 2013-07-18 Re: Air Ambulance  
• Correspondence – Northern Sunrise County 2013-07-29 Re: 10th Anniversary 

Celebration BBQ 
 

• Correspondence – Edmonton Conservation Education Centre 2013-06-26 Re: 
50th Anniversary of Conservation Education Programming 

 

• Correspondence – Canadian Energy Pipeline Association 2013-07-10  
• Correspondence – Lieutenant Governor of Alberta 2013-08-02 Re: Ag Fair  
• Alberta Airports Management Association Newsletter – July 15, 2013  
• FV Interagency Committee Meeting Minutes & Summer Update  
• FV Recreation Board Meeting Minutes  
• Growing the North Conference Sponsorship  
• Mackenzie Municipal Services Agency Annual Seminar  
• AAMDC Annual Membership 2013-2014  

309



Author: C. Gabriel Review by:  CAO  
 

• Paddle Prairie Metis Settlement – 75th Anniversary  
 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
That the information/correspondence items be accepted for information purposes. 

310



Council Meeting Action List  Page 1 of 6 
16-Jul-13 

Mackenzie County 
Action List as of July 16, 2013 

 
Council Meeting Motions Requiring Action 

 
Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 
August 11, 2009 Council Meeting 
09-08-643 That administration pursue the federal government 

in order to acquire a portion of the land for the third 
phase of the Fort Vermilion Walking Trail project as 
discussed. 
 

Joulia  
Bill  

Ron P. 

In progress 

July 9, 2012 Council Meeting 
12-07-494 That administration proceed as discussed regarding 

the access to Plan 0023789, Block 1, Lot 1. 
 

Bill 
John  
Byron 

 

In progress 

August 22, 2012 Council Meeting 
12-08-550 That administration continue to work with Alberta 

Transportation to secure a long term lease in the 
Meander area. (gravel) 
 

Bill 
Ron P. 
Mark 

In discussion with AT 

September 11, 2012 Council Meeting 
12-09-582 That Mackenzie County allows implementation of 

volunteer User Steering Committees with a 
minimum of 5 members in lieu of Co-op’s and that 
administration draft a Terms of Reference for 
approval by Council. 
 

John  
Bill  

Joulia 

PW Committee 
 

October 30, 2012 Council Meeting 
12-10-731 That Council continues lobbying to have the Zama 

Access and Highway 88 Connector roads 
designated as primary highways and immediate 
upgrading. 
 

Joulia 
Bill  

In progress 
Letter sent to the Premier 
Rec’d response from AT 

December 11, 2012 Council Meeting 
12-12-857 That administration be authorized to proceed with 

negotiations to secure aggregate resources as 
recommended. 
 
 

Joulia 
Bill  

Ron P. 

In Progress 

January 15, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-01-014 That administration be authorized to negotiate a 

three year contract extension with Alberta 
Transportation for the operation and maintenance 
of the Tompkins Landing Ice Crossing. 
 

John In progress 

February 12, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-02-115 That the County enters into an agreement with 

Mackenzie Applied Research Association for the 
Federal Agriculture Site located in the Hamlet of 
Fort Vermilion and that the term coincides with the 
lease between the County and the Federal 

Bill K. 
Grant 
Joulia 

MOU is being drafted 

311



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council Meeting Action List  Page 2 of 6 
16-Jul-13 

Government. 
 

February 27, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-02-121 That administration continue to work towards 

expanding the Fort Vermilion Bridge Campground 
recreational area by applying for a lease with 
Alberta Environment & Sustainable Resource 
Development that encompasses both existing and 
future area. 
 

Ron P. In progress 

13-02-122 That an open house be held for the public to 
provide input on the future expansion of the Fort 
Vermilion Bridge Campground recreational area. 
 

Ron P. After lease is in place. 

March 12, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-03-150 That administration investigate the construction of 

rural water line connections to access more 
provincial funding. 
 

Joulia 
Bill K. 

In progress 

13-03-158 That administration proceed with obtaining legal 
advice to deal with the encroachment of the 
Manufactured Dwelling on Plan 042 2979, Block 24, 
Lot 8 in the Hamlet of La Crete. 
 

Byron Waiting for legal advice. 

13-03-165 That administration proceed with drafting an 
Antenna System Siting Protocol for review by 
Council. 
 

Byron In progress 

March 27, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-03-197 That the County’s potential membership in the 

Peace Library System be referred to the Mackenzie 
Library Board for further review and 
recommendation. 
 

Joulia Mackenzie Library Board 

April 9, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-04-225 That administration research options in getting the 

North Peace Water mapping survey completed. 
 

Bill K. Report by Sept. 2013 from 
AT 

13-04-234 That the First Nation Chief & Council’s be formally 
notified of monthly Council meetings and be invited 
to attend. 
 

Joulia In progress 

April 12, 2013 Special Council Meeting 
13-04-247 That a letter be sent to MLA Frank Oberle 

requesting an exemption on the timber salvage 
policy on recreational areas and non-profit leases. 
 

Joulia 
Bill K. 

In progress 

April 24, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-04-273 That administration investigate the farmland tax 

rates prior to the 2014 tax year. 
 

Alison 2014 Budget 

13-04-274 That a letter of support be provided to the 
Northwest Region FASD Society for their Supported 
Independent Living Program in the Mackenzie 
Region. 

Alison In progress 

312



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council Meeting Action List  Page 3 of 6 
16-Jul-13 

 
May 7, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-05-306 That Council approve in principal the Jubilee Park 

Committee proposal of improving La Crete Hill park 
and ask the Committee to work with administration 
regarding development. 
 

Ron P. Community Services 
Committee 
18-Jun-13 

13-05-319 That administration bring back a proposed Land 
Use Bylaw amendment for structure removals 
within Hamlets. 
 

Byron In progress 

13-05-320 That administration research options for identifying 
flood areas for subdivision approvals in rural areas. 
 

Byron In progress 

13-05-325 That August 26, 2013 be set as the auction date be 
set for the property under Roll 081648, Legal 
9624275.4,29, (to be determined from the tentative 
auction dates, above) to be held in the Council 
Chambers at 4511 – 46 Ave, Fort Vermilion, Alberta 
at 1:00 p.m. 
 

Alison August 26, 2013 

13-05-332 That administration develops a policy addressing 
dedication of reserves as per Division 7 of MGA for 
Council review and consideration. 
 

Byron Under Review 

May 28, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-05-375 That the Zama Access paving be the first capital 

priority for paving a road outside a hamlet boundary 
and that administration continue reviewing options 
and applying for provincial and/or federal grants as 
these may become available with intent to complete 
the paving of this road. 
 

Joulia 
Bill K. 

In progress 

13-05-379 That the utility rates be tabled to the first 2014 
budget meeting. 
 

Alison 2014 Budget 

13-05-380 That administration investigate the cost and 
implementation of photo radar and bring it back to 
Council. 
 

Ron P. In progress 
26-Aug-13 

13-05-391 That administration be authorized to negotiate the 
purchase price of the Fort Vermilion Research 
Station with the deposit funding coming from the 
Drainage Reserve and report back to Council. 
 

Joulia 
Bill 

In progress 

June 11, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-06-397 That the Fort Vermilion Recreation Board request 

for improvements to the Fort Vermilion Arena Park 
Playground be differed to the Community Services 
Committee for their review and recommendation. 
 

Ron P. In progress 
Community Services 

Committee 

13-06-413 That Mackenzie County commits in assisting 
acquiring the federal machinery currently located at 
the Fort Vermilion Research Station. 
 

Joulia 
Bill 

In progress 

313



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council Meeting Action List  Page 4 of 6 
16-Jul-13 

13-06-425 That the washout update be received for 
information and that administration issue an invoice 
reflecting the cost to repair the unauthorized works 
on County property. 
 

Alison  
John 

In progress 

June 26, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-06-435 That the County proceeds with issuing Cleanup 

Orders for all non-compliant properties in the 
Hamlet of Zama with the time schedule as 
presented. 
 

Ron P. 
Don 

Clean up letters issued 

13-06-436 That administration look into the options for banning 
ATV’s from the Hamlet of La Crete and look into 
options of contract peace officers. 
 

Ron P. Under Review 

13-06-445 That the original Area Structure Plan timeline be 
followed and that administration proceed to public 
hearing on all Area Structure Plans as amended. 
 

Byron In progress 

13-06-446 That administration respond to the Town of High 
Level indicating that the Mackenzie Highway 
Industrial Area Structure Plan has been amended 
by shifting the boundary further north, outside the 
Inter-municipal Development Area (IDP) area. 
 

Joulia In progress 

13-06-447 That administration proceed with drafting a Land 
Use Bylaw amendment to permit a minimum lot size 
of 55’ X 100’ for single family residential lots and a 
minimum lot size 60’ X 100’ for multiple family lots 
as well as altering the side yard setbacks to 
maximize useable yard area. 
 

Byron In progress 

13-06-451 That the County rebuild 1.5 miles of the Blue Hills 
Road with funding coming from the 2013 Gravel 
Budget at an estimated cost of $300,000. 
 

John K. 
Alison 

In progress 

13-06-454 That a Request for Proposal be issued for the chip 
seal project on the two miles of road north of La 
Crete. 
 

John K. RFP closes 07-Aug-13 

13-06-458 That administration proceed with finalizing the La 
Crete Enhanced Policing Memorandum of 
Understanding with amendments as discussed. 
 

Joulia In progress 

July 16, 2013 Council Meeting 
13-07-480 That the Atlas Landing Park Development be 

referred to the Community Services Committee. 
 

Ron P. Community Services 
Committee 

13-07-482 That the Sewage Lagoon Disposal Agreement be 
adopted as presented and the fees be researched 
and brought back to Council. 
 

John K.  

13-07-485 That a recommendation be made to Alberta 
Transportation to award the contract for the La 
Crete Lagoon Upgrades and Expansion project to 

  

314



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council Meeting Action List  Page 5 of 6 
16-Jul-13 

the lowest bidder based on Option #2 for revised 
scope of work and costs. 
 

13-07-487 That a supplementary application be submitted to 
Alberta Transportation under the Alberta Water and 
Waste Water Program for the La Crete Lagoon 
Upgrades and Expansion project for the amount in 
excess of the prior approval. 
 

Joulia  

13-07-493 
 

That the approaches at RR191 and RR193 south of 
and connecting to HWY697 be designated as the 
future collector roads approaches as per Policy 
PW039. 
 

John K.  

13-07-501 That administration brings the Fee Schedule bylaw 
to the next Council meeting, incorporating the 
business license fees as presented. 
 

Alison 26-Aug-13 

13-07-505 That administration be authorized to proceed with 
the Connector Industrial ASP as per the original 
boundaries only revising the zoning to 
accommodate landowner concerns, and for Footner 
Industrial ASP as per direction given in motion 13-
06-445, with funding being relocated from the Rural 
Addressing project. 
 

Byron  

13-07-518 That a letter be sent to Alberta Environment and 
Sustainable Resource Development expressing the 
County’s continuing interest in the agricultural land 
expansion West of High Level and how it 
corresponds with the County’s economic 
development and sustainability plans. 
 

Joulia In progress 

13-07-519 That the County requests letters of support from the 
Towns of High Level and Rainbow Lake for the 
future agricultural land expansion West of High 
Level. 
 

Joulia  

13-07-520 That Council request that the Minister of Health 
issue a formal directive to Alberta Health Services 
to reassess and reconsider the proposed new air 
ambulance model, and that the Health Quality 
Council of Alberta be involved in this review. 
 

Joulia 
Carol 

In progress 

13-07-524 That administration be authorized to proceed with 
the counter-offer for the La Crete Airport terminal 
lease as discussed. 
 

Joulia In progress 

13-07-525 That the proposal by the Mackenzie Applied 
Research Association be researched by 
administration and brought back to the next 
meeting. 
 

Joulia  

 

315



Motion Action Required Action By Status 
 

Council Meeting Action List  Page 6 of 6 
16-Jul-13 

Community Sustainability Plan – Action Items 
 
Tasks Responsibility Approximate Deadline 

Sustainable governance items: 

Citizen-engagement plan, formal avenues for active citizen 
involvement in strategic planning, long-term planning; 
undertake citizen satisfaction surveys; 

CAO  

Local elections – collect, keep and report to Council voter data 
from municipal elections (comparative between elections); Carol  

Review and/or establish Council Policy/Procedure on media 
communications, responding to citizens, contact with 
Government, etc.; 

CAO, Carol  

Establish a Council Library in the Corporate Office (make a 
variety of municipal government related books and magazines 
available); 

CAO, Carol Completed 

Service delivery items: 

Review standards for the services that are delivered and 
establish a formal process to review and evaluate compliance 
with those standards; 

Management Team  

Infrastructure items: 

Review and recommend options regarding an infrastructure 
management system; Management Team  

Review/develop a plan for maintaining municipal infrastructure; Management Team  

Economic vitality items: 

Bring options regarding establishing an annual business 
licensing; Byron  

Risk management items: 

Review and report to Council regarding a municipal service 
continuity plan; Management Team  

Review and report to Council regarding Occupational Health 
and Safety practices (inclusive of CORE certification status). CAO  

 

316



317



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

August 6, 2013 
 

Mayor or Reeve, Council and CAO, 
 
It is my pleasure to announce that the County of Grande Prairie will be celebrating the 
Grand Opening of the County of Grande Prairie Sportsplex. This feat would not have been 
possible if it wasn’t for your strong and ongoing support. We would be honoured to have 
you attend the Grand Opening ceremony and celebrate this important accomplishment with 
us.  
 
The Sportsplex is the largest construction project the County has undertaken, at a budget of 
$37 million. Operated by Nustadia Recreation, this world class facility serves as the 
recreational hub for our entire region to use and enjoy. It features two NHL sized ice rinks, a 
50,000 sq. ft indoor fieldhouse, 240 metre indoor track, a commercial gym operated by 
Motion Fitness, a retail outlet operated by Ernie’s Sports Experts, and a lounge and 
concession. Additionally, the eight outdoor irrigated athletic fields are set to open in 2014.  
 
The Grand Opening event will be taking place on September 8th, 2013 from 10 a.m. to 3 
p.m. at the Sportsplex located at 7407-108 Street Clairmont, Alberta, Canada. The day will 
feature activities, including: 

- Pancake breakfast at 10 a.m. 
- Live music  
- Ribbon cutting ceremony at 11 a.m. 
- Special guest appearance of Canadian former NHL Star Lanny McDonald 
- Hot dogs and beverages all day 
- Show ‘n’ Shine for cars, trucks and bikes 
- Petting zoo, face painting and bouncy castle for the kids 
- Drop in activities on the ice surface, indoor fieldhouse, and walking track 
- Fitness club tours 
- Draws and giveaways 
- STARS presentation at 1 p.m. 
- Photo opportunity with STARS helicopter 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

318



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Although the event is free-of-charge, we have chosen STARS as the beneficiary of any 
funds raised by donation during the event. 
 
We are extremely proud of the facility and look forward to your possible presence at the 
Grand Opening. If you wish to attend, please RSVP by August 26th to 
communications@countygp.ab.ca. If you have any questions, please contact the 
Communications department at 780-532-9722. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Leanne Beaupre  
Reeve 

319

mailto:communications@countygp.ab.ca


Admission is free, but cash 
donations of any amount
are encouraged!
100% of the proceeds
go to STARS
Air Ambulance

For more information call 780-830-7407 or email 
info@cgpsportsplex.com  www.cgpsportsplex.com 

• Pancake breakfast at 10 a.m.
• Ribbon cutting ceremony at 11 a.m.
• Use of the 240 metre track
• Hot dogs & beverages all day
• Public skating • Fitness club tours
• Stick & Puck • Drop-in soccer
• Bouncy castle • Face painting 

Join us from
10 a.m. to
3 p.m!

Pictures 
with STARS 
Helicopter!

Guest appearance 
by Canadian former 

NHL star
Lanny McDonald!

7407 - 108 Street, Clairmont, AB

320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



1 
 

 

AAMA AIRPORT NEWS 

News items for information only, sources as indicated. Photos copyrighted as per caption credit. 

Provided for members of AAMA http://www.albertaairports.ca/ email: abarpt@telus.net 

 

 
 
 

 
AIRPORT NEWS 
 

Volume 8 No. 14 July 15, 2013                                                             Alberta Airports Management Association  

 
 

WELCOME TO INVISIBLE INTELLIGENCE LLC – reprinted from AOPA Newsletter, via Lloyd Sherk, 
                               Beaverlodge Airport Commission 
 
Invisible Intelligence LLC was developed to provide low cost data devices to assist small airports in day to day operations. 
The developers have been involved in airports with a combined 33 years of aviation experience. They are currently 
working on similar devices to be used in other markets. Their first product G.A.R.D.™ (General Audio Radio Device) was 
developed to provide low cost air traffic recording for general aviation airports.   
 
With over 5,221 general aviation airports in the US, and over 1,500 accidents a year (an average of over 125 accidents a 
month), the time has come to monitor all radio traffic. G.A.R.D.™ is also capable of generating reports, such as 
transmissions per day, duration of transmissions, and average length of transmissions.  
 
Mainers Design New Tool For Airport Safety - WGME 
OWL'S HEAD (WGME) -- A little black box could have a big impact when it comes to your safety in the air. Two Augusta 
men invented a device they hope will prevent crashes like the one in Owl's Head that killed three men last year. More 
 
New Black Box IS Developed Specifically For Small Airports To Increase Safety – Aviation eBrief AOPA 
John Guimond, manager of the Augusta State Airport in Maine, and his business partner, Ron Cote, have developed the 
General Audio Recording Device. The device is a black box designed specifically for use at small airports. More 
 
GA Crash Leads To Safety Product – AV web.com 
John Guimond, an airport manager in Maine, and Ron Cote have responded to a fatal aircraft accident by working to 
develop a fixed-base audio recorder for the purpose of capturing radio transmissions at small airports. More 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Strengthening the Viability, Growth and 
Safety of Community Airports in Alberta 

335

http://www.invisibleintelligencellc.com/wgme-13-news-feature-gard.html
http://www.invisibleintelligencellc.com/wgme-13-news-feature-gard.html
http://www2.smartbrief.com/servlet/encodeServlet?issueid=D91F8F6C-5855-4688-83D1-0DA284788209&sid=a4fc1935-7cad-4f71-b18b-5a218a63d1e4
http://www2.smartbrief.com/servlet/encodeServlet?issueid=D91F8F6C-5855-4688-83D1-0DA284788209&sid=a4fc1935-7cad-4f71-b18b-5a218a63d1e4
http://www.invisibleintelligencellc.com/avweb-news-feature-gard.html
http://www.invisibleintelligencellc.com/avweb-news-feature-gard.html


2 
 

 

AAMA AIRPORT NEWS 

News items for information only, sources as indicated. Photos copyrighted as per caption credit. 

Provided for members of AAMA http://www.albertaairports.ca/ email: abarpt@telus.net 

 

 
AAMA Board of Directors  Chair   Doug Mark, Manager, Operations/Terminal Services, Grande Prairie Airport 

                                             dmark@grandeprairieairport.com         
          Vice-Chair  Denis Foss (Membership), Lloydminster dalefoss@yahoo.com                                      
                                               Directors  Dave Bellows, Airport Manager, Peace River Airport, dbellows@peaceriver.net 
     Ken Fowler, Airport Manager, Rocky Mountain House Airport 
     kwfowler@harewaves.net 
     Wade Frasz, Airport Manager, Lloydminster Airport, airport@lloydminster.ca 
     Gerald Pellerin, Director of Operations, Town of Edson,                                                       
     gpells@townofedson.ca  
     William Stewart, Airport Manager, Whitecourt Airport,     
     william.stewart@woodlands.ab.ca 
     Leonard Weiss, Operations Manager, Red Deer Airport, 
     L.Weiss@flyreddeer.com 
                                                Treasurer  Ken Skahl, Airport Manager, Slave Lake Airport Services Commission, 

ken@slavelakeairport.ca 
 

From the Internet Airport Reference Database: 
  
Conducting Airport Peer Reviews – Transportation Research Board  
Model Mutual Aid Agreements for Airports - Transportation Research Board            
Air Ambulance Model – Slave Lake FAQs – Alberta Health Services     
Lake Simcoe Aeropark Brochure – Township of Oro-Medonte  

 

CONFERENCES & TRAINING – 2013 
  
   IAAE Canada Online Courses 
   IAAE Canada 2013 Training Course Calendar 
September 9 – 12  2013 SWIFT Conference and Trade Show – Ottawa, ON 
September 23-27  CANEW – Campbell River, BC 
October 6 – 8  AMCO 28th Annual Convention & 16th Annual Tradeshow - Peterborough, ON 
October 28-29  RCAC ACAP Meeting & AGM – Richmond, BC 
 

336

../2011/AAMA%202008%20Newsletter/dmark@grandeprairieairport.com
mailto:dalefoss@yahoo.com
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/Wayne/Application%20Data/Microsoft/Word/dbellows@peaceriver.net
file:///C:/Documents%20and%20Settings/Wayne/Application%20Data/Microsoft/AAMA%202008%20Newsletter/gpells@townofedson.ca
mailto:william.stewart@woodlands.ab.ca
../2012/ken@slavelakeairport.ca
http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/acrp/acrp_syn_046.pdf
http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/acrp/acrp_syn_045.pdf
http://www.albertahealthservices.ca/Data/ahs-data-ems-air-ambulance-faq-slave-lake.pdf
http://edo.simcoe.ca/ws_cos/groups/public/@pub-cos-eco/documents/web_content/wscos_011710.pdf
http://www.iaaecanada.org/article/online-courses-1623.asp
http://www.iaaecanada.org/article/list-of-current-courses-118.asp
http://contactcentral.eventiq.com/t/r-l-ullyhkt-jrdkydhjc-j/
http://www.canew.ca/
http://www.amco.on.ca/index.html
http://www.rcacc.ca/events/conferences


3 
 

 

AAMA AIRPORT NEWS 

News items for information only, sources as indicated. Photos copyrighted as per caption credit. 

Provided for members of AAMA http://www.albertaairports.ca/ email: abarpt@telus.net 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

   

 

 
 

 

337



4 
 

 

AAMA AIRPORT NEWS 

News items for information only, sources as indicated. Photos copyrighted as per caption credit. 

Provided for members of AAMA http://www.albertaairports.ca/ email: abarpt@telus.net 

 

AIRPORT NEWS MEDIA 
WATCH - ARTICLE INDEX 

1.  Villeneuve Only Plausible Choice   
2.  Westlock Municipal Regional Airport Advisory and Airport Cost Share     
3.  Hamlet Boundary to Include Cooking Lake Airport Development      
4.  RCAF Crews Rescue 31 During Alberta Flood Response (High River)                                                                

5.    WestJet Takes Stage for Encore       
6.    Aircraft Patrolled or Highway Robbery?               
7.    Region Needs to Get Behind Villeneuve Airport                  
8.    Bombardier Says First Flight of CSeries Jet Delayed                                                 
9.    Town of Fairview Offers Moral Support to Pearce River Over Removal of Air Ambulance         
10.  Airdrie Regional Air Show Will Benefit Alberta Flood Victims                             
11.  Town Council Wants More Information About County Airport Plans (Edson)            
12.  New Face at McMurray Airport Authority      
13.  Free-Standing Air Tallest Traffic Control Tower in Canada (Calgary)   
14.  Air Canada Reports June Load Factor   
15.  WestJet Reports Record June Traffic   
16.  Aircraft Movement Statistics: Airports without Air Traffic Control Towers: Annual Report  
17.  Vulcan Airport More Clearly Identified 
18.  Air Canada to Launch Service to Red Deer, AB Connecting Central Alberta to International Network 
19.  Edson Airport Needs Better Security for Commercial Flights: Report 
         

NOTE TO READERS: The links connect to many news sites where content is cycled rapidly. If you wait too long 
before reading, the links will disappear. We invite readers to submit articles and photographs related to their airport 
operation so others may benefit from the information.  
  
May 1, 2013 
 
1. Villeneuve Only Plausible Choice – The St. Albert Gazette 
The thing about common sense is it’s just not that common. It is absolute common sense that the Villeneuve Airport can 
and should fill the void of being a regional airport once the Edmonton Municipal Airport closes. 
 
June 10, 2013 
 
2. Airport Paving Project – Town of High Level Council Minutes 
Resolution #263-13: Moved by Councillor Forest THAT Council allocate an additional $73,000 from General Reserve to 
the 2013 Paving Project and $111,000 from General Reserve to the 2013 Airport Taxiway Project. 
 
June 11, 2013 
 
3. Hamlet Boundary to Include Cooking Lake Airport Development – Strathcona County Council Minutes 
Motion 353/2013 – Moved by B. Riddell: THAT Council give first reading to Bylaw 1-2013, a bylaw that proposes to 
expand the South Cooking Lake Hamlet boundary to include the existing South Cooking Lake Airport (Page 13 of 
Minutes) 
 
June 21, 2013 
 
4. RCAF Crews Rescue 31 During Alberta Flood Response – by David Pugliese, Ottawa Citizen 
Canadian Armed Forces’ assets (3 in total – a Griffon, Cormorant and Hercules) have been active and monitoring the 
Canmore, High River and Kananaskis areas of Alberta. Over the course of the night, the crew of the Griffon and 
Cormorant, aided by illumination provided by the Hercules, rescued 31 people that were stranded on rooftops and 
transported them to the High River airport.  
 

338

http://www.stalbertgazette.com/article/20130501/SAG0902/305019978/-1/SAG/villeneuve-only-plausible-choice
http://www.westlock.ca/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/27-May-2013-Council-Minutes.pdf
http://www.strathcona.ca/files/Files/at-lls-arm-2013_06_11-Minutes.pdf
http://www.google.com/url?sa=X&q=http://blogs.ottawacitizen.com/2013/06/21/rcaf-crews-rescue-31-during-alberta-flood-response/&ct=ga&cad=CAEQARgAIAAoATAAOABAztGSjgVIAVgBYgJlbg&cd=ZsLaHONytA4&usg=AFQjCNFFY1m3rnPrL5U5grtvnW2WcoHo0g
http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1189213/westjet-takes-stage-for-encore
http://www.bonnyvillenouvelle.ca/article/20130625/BNV0902/306259988/-1/bnv/aircraft-patrolled-or-highway-robbery
http://www.stalbertgazette.com/article/20130626/SAG0902/306269972/-1/SAG/region-needs-to-get-behind-villeneuve-airport
http://www.fairviewpost.com/2013/06/26/town-of-fairview-offers-moral-support-to-peace-river-over-removal-of-air-ambulance
http://www.airdriecityview.com/article/20130627/ACV0801/306279969/-1/ACV/airdrie-regional-air-show-will-benefit-alberta-flood-victims
http://www.edsonleader.com/2013/06/27/town-council-wants-more-details-about-county-airport-plans
http://www.fortmcmurraytoday.com/2013/07/01/new-face-at-mcmurray-airport-authority
http://www.edmontonjournal.com/news/calgary/Tallest+free+standing+traffic+control+tower+Canada+opens/8613132/story.html
http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1194725/air-canada-reports-june-load-factor
http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1194331/westjet-reports-record-june-traffic
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/51-210-x/51-210-x2013001-eng.pdf
http://www.google.com/url?sa=X&q=http://www.vulcanadvocate.com/2013/07/06/vulcan-airport-more-clearly-identified-by-new-sign&ct=ga&cad=CAEQARgAIAAoATAAOABAzrbijgVIAVgBYgJlbg&cd=lXkAZi4f3Bk&usg=AFQjCNEdMi5pJDkFzE7czE_hyWblsZL5ag
http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1196801/air-canada-to-launch-service-to-red-deer-ab-connecting-central-alberta-to-international-network
http://www.google.com/url?sa=X&q=http://www.hintonparklander.com/2013/07/12/edson-airport-needs-better-security-for-commercial-flights-report&ct=ga&cad=CAEQARgAIAAoATAAOABA2vKBjwVIAVgBYgJlbg&cd=6-jvK1Lc5eM&usg=AFQjCNF8VmLPzCKvk5w-LXfYNA72oj1-nA
http://www.stalbertgazette.com/article/20130501/SAG0902/305019978/-1/SAG/villeneuve-only-plausible-choice
http://www.strathcona.ca/files/Files/at-lls-arm-2013_06_11-Minutes.pdf
http://www.google.com/url?sa=X&q=http://blogs.ottawacitizen.com/2013/06/21/rcaf-crews-rescue-31-during-alberta-flood-response/&ct=ga&cad=CAEQARgAIAAoATAAOABAztGSjgVIAVgBYgJlbg&cd=ZsLaHONytA4&usg=AFQjCNFFY1m3rnPrL5U5grtvnW2WcoHo0g


5 
 

 

AAMA AIRPORT NEWS 

News items for information only, sources as indicated. Photos copyrighted as per caption credit. 

Provided for members of AAMA http://www.albertaairports.ca/ email: abarpt@telus.net 

 

MATT 
DURNAN/Rocky 
View Publishing 
Airdrie Regional 
Air Show 
spokesperson Al 
Jones says the 
2013 edition of the 
event will include 
fundraising efforts 
for flood relief and 
will be included in 
a Discovery 
Channel/Great 
Pacific TV reality 
show. 
 

File Photo 

June 24, 2013 
 
5. WestJet Takes Stage for Encore – CNW 
CALGARY - WestJet today launches WestJet Encore, Canada's newest regional airline, with service to Fort St. John, 
Nanaimo, Vancouver, and Victoria, British Columbia and Saskatoon, Saskatchewan. WestJet Encore features a new fleet 
of Bombardier Q400 NextGen aircraft.  
 
June 25, 2013  
 
6. Aircraft Patrolled or Highway Robbery? – Editorial, Bonnyville Nouvelle 
Spending taxpayer money on signs and aircrafts, rather than actually improving Alberta’s roads seems slightly misguided. 
Nevertheless, the provincial government’s Ministry of Transportation has forged ahead with plans to increase aircraft 
patrols on Alberta’s highways, in search of the speeding drivers. 
 
7. Region Needs to Get Behind Villeneuve Airport – The St. Albert Gazette 
In 2011, the Springbank Airport just outside of Calgary was the twelfth busiest airport in Canada by total aircraft 
movements. That’s an impressive statistic, considering the list, which is headed by Toronto’s Pearson International and 
includes Vancouver International and Montreal’s Pierre Elliott Trudeau International. 
 
June 26, 2013 
 
8. Bombardier Says First Flight of CSeries Jet Delayed – The Prince Albert Daily Herald 
MONTREAL - The first flight of Bombardier's new CSeries jet has been delayed. The Montreal-based company says the 
inaugural flight of its new flagship passenger jet is now scheduled by the end of July, rather than by the end of this month. 
 
9. Town of Fairview Offers Moral Support to Pearce River Over Removal of Air Ambulance – by Chris Eakin,  
                           Fairview Post 
Fairview is giving Peace River some moral support after Alberta Health announced it would be moving an air ambulance 
out of Peace River. Town council received a letter from the Town of Peace River requesting a letter of support. 
 
June 27, 2013 
 
10. Airdrie Regional Air Show Will Benefit Alberta Flood Victims – by Matt Durnan, The  
                             Airdrie City View 
This year’s Airdrie Regional Air Show has promised to be both entertaining, environmentally-
friendly and have recently added charitable to the list of attributes. Spectators at this year’s event 
will be helping victims of recent floods in southern Alberta, with 20 per cent of the proceeds from 
ticket sales going to the Red Cross specifically for the Alberta Flood Victim’s Relief Fund. 
 

11. Town Council Wants More Information About County Airport 
Plans – by Gord Fortin,  Edson Leader 
Edson Town Council has decided to seek more information from 
Yellowhead County with regards to the airport location study. Many 
councillors expressed concerns about the true benefits to contributing 
to the study would be for the town of Edson. 
 

 
July 1, 2013 
 
12. New Face at McMurray Airport Authority – Fort McMurray Airport 
August will bring a new face to the Fort McMurray Airport Authority when Marlene Kowalski will step 
in at the vice-president of corporate services and CFO. “I’m delighted to have been selected as the 
VP of corporate services and chief financial officer at the Fort McMurray Airport Authority,” Kowalski 
said in a release. 
 

339

http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1189213/westjet-takes-stage-for-encore
http://www.bonnyvillenouvelle.ca/article/20130625/BNV0902/306259988/-1/bnv/aircraft-patrolled-or-highway-robbery
http://www.stalbertgazette.com/article/20130626/SAG0902/306269972/-1/SAG/region-needs-to-get-behind-villeneuve-airport
http://www.fairviewpost.com/2013/06/26/town-of-fairview-offers-moral-support-to-peace-river-over-removal-of-air-ambulance
http://www.airdriecityview.com/article/20130627/ACV0801/306279969/-1/ACV/airdrie-regional-air-show-will-benefit-alberta-flood-victims
http://www.edsonleader.com/2013/06/27/town-council-wants-more-details-about-county-airport-plans
http://www.edsonleader.com/2013/06/27/town-council-wants-more-details-about-county-airport-plans
http://www.fortmcmurraytoday.com/2013/07/01/new-face-at-mcmurray-airport-authority


6 
 

 

AAMA AIRPORT NEWS 

News items for information only, sources as indicated. Photos copyrighted as per caption credit. 

Provided for members of AAMA http://www.albertaairports.ca/ email: abarpt@telus.net 

 

A NAV Canada air 
traffic controller 
looks out from the 
new NAV Canada 
traffic control tower 
at the Calgary 
International Airport, 
in Calgary, Alberta 
Wednesday, July 3, 
2013.  
Photograph by: Stuart 
Gradon, Calgary 
Herald 
 

A consulting firm's 
report says the 
facilities at the Edson 
Airport are not ready 
to handle passenger 
flights. 

 

From left, 
Town 
development 
officer Jeff 
Johnstone 
and 
Centennial 
Committee 
co-chairs 
Louise 
Schmidt and 
Dave Munro 
in front of 
the Vulcan 
Airport's 
new sign.  

 

July 3, 2013 
 
13. Free-Standing Air Tallest Traffic Control Tower in Canada – by Amanda Stephenson, 

        Calgary Herald 
CALGARY - On a Wednesday afternoon, 270 feet above the ground, four men 
are keeping careful watch. They’ll say hello, but they don’t have time for long 
conversations. They need to keep their focus on the monitors in front of them & 
the 360-degree, panoramic windows that surround them. 
 
July 4, 2013 
 
14. Air Canada Reports June Load Factor - CNW 
MONTREAL – For the month of June, Air Canada reported a system load factor 
of 85.0%, versus 85.6% in June 2012. System traffic increased 2.1% on a 
system-wide capacity increase of 2.8%.   
 
15. WestJet Reports Record June Traffic - CNW 
CALGARY – WestJet today announced June 2013 traffic results with a load 
factor of 76.8%. Revenue passenger miles (RPMs), or traffic, increased 8.3% year over year, and capacity, 
measured in available seat miles (ASMs), was 11.3% higher over the same period.  
 
July 5, 2013 
 
16. Aircraft Movement Statistics: Airports without Air Traffic Control Towers: Annual Report –  

                                           Statistics Canada 
In 2012, the number of take-offs & landings recorded at 141 Canadian airports without air 
traffic control towers was 670,830 movements. Peterborough, Ontario (35,436 movements) 
and Goose Bay, Newfoundland & Labrador (35,197 movements) were the most active sites.  
 
17. Vulcan Airport More Clearly Identified – by Simon Ducatel, Vulcan Advocate 
The Vulcan Airport had a new sign installed on Thursday, June 20. The sign, which cost about 
$4,000 & was made by Total Impact Signs, based out of Lethbridge, was installed to promote 
the airport further & to add to the participation of Vulcan’s Aug. 2-5 centennial celebration...  
 
July 10, 2013 

 
18. Air Canada to Launch Service to Red Deer, AB Connecting Central Alberta to International Network – CNW 
MONTREAL - Air Canada announced today it will commence scheduled service to Red Deer, Alberta on September 3, 
2013 with three daily flights from Red Deer Airport to Calgary. Flights will be operated by Air Georgian under the Air 
Canada Express brand, using 18-seat Beechcraft 1900D aircraft. "Air Canada is strategically expanding its domestic 
services, offering customers more destinations and choices when flying.  
 
July 12, 2013 
 
19. Edson Airport Needs Better Security for Commercial Flights: Report – by Eric Plummer, Hinton Parklander 
The Edson Airport needs a better terminal to bring passenger airline service to the west Yellowhead region, according to a 
consulting firm’s feasibility study. A 104-page report compiled by the consulting company InterVISTAS was provided to 
Hinton’s town council members this month, exploring the viability of introducing regular airline flights to the Edson Airport. 
 

PLEASE NOTE THE CONTACT INFORMATION FOR THE ASSOCIATION 
 

ALBERTA AIRPORTS MANAGEMENT ASSOCIATION 
AAMA Office   Attention: Wayne Steel 
BOX 1705 CAMROSE AB T4V 1X6 

PHONE 780-678-5226 email: abarpt@telus.net 

340

http://www.edmontonjournal.com/news/calgary/Tallest+free+standing+traffic+control+tower+Canada+opens/8613132/story.html
http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1194725/air-canada-reports-june-load-factor
http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1194331/westjet-reports-record-june-traffic
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/51-210-x/51-210-x2013001-eng.pdf
http://www.google.com/url?sa=X&q=http://www.vulcanadvocate.com/2013/07/06/vulcan-airport-more-clearly-identified-by-new-sign&ct=ga&cad=CAEQARgAIAAoATAAOABAzrbijgVIAVgBYgJlbg&cd=lXkAZi4f3Bk&usg=AFQjCNEdMi5pJDkFzE7czE_hyWblsZL5ag
http://www.newswire.ca/en/story/1196801/air-canada-to-launch-service-to-red-deer-ab-connecting-central-alberta-to-international-network
http://www.google.com/url?sa=X&q=http://www.hintonparklander.com/2013/07/12/edson-airport-needs-better-security-for-commercial-flights-report&ct=ga&cad=CAEQARgAIAAoATAAOABA2vKBjwVIAVgBYgJlbg&cd=6-jvK1Lc5eM&usg=AFQjCNF8VmLPzCKvk5w-LXfYNA72oj1-nA
mailto:abarpt@telus.net


Fort Vermilion Interagency Committee  

Location: Fort Vermilion School Division 

Meeting Minutes 

Date of Meeting: June 6, 2013 
 
Present:  
Irene van der Kloet  Brighter Futures Society 
Cheryl Saloff   Canadian Prenatal Nutrition Program Coordinator 
Theresa Jorgensen  Home Care 
Sharon Wurtz   Alberta Health Services – Health Promotion 
Leslie Prenoslo   Alberta Health Services – Health Promotion 
Maarten Braat   Fort Vermilion Board of Trade 
Judy Ostrowski (phone)  Alberta Traffic Safety   
 
Meeting Summary: 
1.0 Call to Order at 10:07 am 

 
2.0 Introductions and Regrets 

2.1 Regrets from Lucille Labreque, Rosemarie Stalker, Odell Flett, Tracy Parenteau 
 

3.0 Adoption of Agenda (Theresa) 
 

4.0 Approval of Minutes for May meeting (Sharon approved, with amendment of “walk on 
challenge” not “pedometer challenge”)  
 

5.0 Current business: 
5.1 Fort Vermilion 225 Years Celebrations: No one available with updates.  Last Leslie heard 

was the events will be paired with County Agriculture Days on August 9th so 225th 
Celebration would be August 10th/11th  
 

5.2 Facebook Page: Still on Judy’s “to do” list, has had really busy last couple of months.  
Discussed advertising new Facebook page with Muskeg Buzz and on Buy and Sell pages, 
once it is ready.   

 
5.3 Welcome Baskets:  Have collected lots of great information from people and Sandra 

Friesen-Peters supplied bags for these.  Leslie to get Fort Vermilion history pamphlet 
from the museum.  End of June will be the deadline to get 
pamphlets/information/items to Leslie at the Health Center.  These will be something 
we continually update to make sure information stays current.   

 
5.4 Board of Trade 100th Anniversary: Still working on getting information from the archives.  

 

341



5.5 Summer Meetings: Decision made to not meet face to face again until September.  Once 
the Facebook page is up and running, people can post updates on there about summer 
events.  Leslie will compile these Facebook updates as well as email updates in late July 
and distribute to the interagency committee.    

 
6.0 Roundtable 

6.1 Traffic Safety (Judy – phone) 
• This month is commercial vehicle awareness month (targeting the drivers, but also 

public such as through blind spot education – if you can’t see the mirror, they can’t 
see you)  Visit saferoads.com for more info  

• July is motorcycle safety month – will have BBQs across the region to promote 
• August is impaired driving month 
• “511” is operating live now instead of AMA Road Reports 
• June 13/14 Car Seat Technician Training in Fort Vermilion.  $40, still spots left, 

contact Glenda at FVSS 
• June 14 from 4-7 is car seat clinic for families to stop by for an inspection 

 
6.2 Home Care (Theresa): 

• Diabetic Walk went well - 29 people for blood sugars & blood pressure checks  
• Passed along a big thank you to FVCC for running the collective kitchens for seniors – 

they have heard great comments about them!   
 

6.3 Leslie (Alberta Health Services - Health Promotion): 
• Diabetic walk involved high school this year (presented on diabetes and then 

students walked with the community).   
• Note: Diabetes Walk was a partnership between Northeast Community Adult 

Learning Council (NECALC) and Tallcree Health. So thank you to  Tracey Parenteau, 
Marilyn Eek, Wendy Ward and others who helped out with this! 

• Successful for $2000 from Communities Choosewell funding to run a 
mother/daughter day with health component.  Looking to partner with FVSS, Tallcree 
Health, anyone else who is interested 

• Busy season with the schools.  Applying for further funding for the division wellness 
committee.   

• AHS has created “Healthy Parents, Health Children” books that will be sent out at 
end of June.  Two books – one for prenatal, one for kids 0-6 yrs (includes variety of 
topics, ~300 pages each).  Looking into how these will be disseminated in our area.  
Heard these will be going to Parent Links, CPNP – let Leslie know if you have heard 
anything about this. 

 
6.4 Sharon (Alberta Health Services – Health Promotion): 

•  “Walk on” challenge is still going strong 

342



• Bike Rodeos are coming up (Kevin Smeltzer organizing) – Fort’s will be in August 
• Kevin doing Ag/Farm safety as part of the Rocky Lane Ag Days on June 15th  
 

6.5 Board of Trade (Maarten) 
• New website coming up!  Maarten will share address when it is up 

 
6.6  Brighter Futures (Irene):  

• Wrapping up for the summer.  Will start accepting registrations for next year after 
the September long weekend, likely will start programs at end of September.   

• Recently had licensing visits, now licensed until May 2014. 
• Next year is 20 years since incorporation! 
• June 20th is AGM (talk to Gerry Cyr if interested in joining board) 
• Casino fundraising event held in May – went well. 
• Partnership between Parent Link/CPNP/Brighter Futures/Injury Prevention in May to 

put in a Health and Safety Family Fair in High Level 
• Personal note, Irene recently certified as a CHRP (Certified Human Resources 

Professional) – anyone who could use help with job search process (eg. Resume, 
cover letter, interview) or in searching for employees should contact her 

 
6.7 Native Friendship Center (Cheryl Saloff) 

• Aboriginal Day (June 21) hosting food and events at Friendship Center in High Level 
 

6.8  Mental Health Promotion (Emailed Update from Lucille) 
• June 12 noon- 2:00 at Beaver First Nation Band Office, Suicide Talk , 90 minute 

presentation with time for questions.  Open to public. No cost.  Lianne Mercredi is 
organizing this and I will be presenting. 

• June 13 noon – 2:00 p.m. at FV Complex, Suicide Talk ,90 minute presentation with 
time for questions.  Open to the public. No cost. FV Victims Services is organizing, Dia 
Thurston is organizing this and I will be presenting.  

• June 13 at 5:00 p.m. at FCSS  I am doing an activity called Edward the Crazy Man with 
the teen girls.  It is about schizophrenia and stigma, and accepting those with mental 
illness.  We will read a story then create a costume on a mannequin. 

• June 21 Rocky Lane School will be celebrating Aboriginal Day with a Family Kite Flying 
activity.  

 
6.9  CIAM Radio (Emailed from Rosemairie Stalker):  All of us at CIAM Radio thank this very 

supportive community for joining us in our Grand Opening and 10 year celebration 
(2003-2013) on Saturday, May 18, 2013.  It was an extremely special day/weekend for 
us here.  CIAM Radio volunteers will be moving the broadcast portion over to the new 
building during the week of June 23-28, Lord willing.  We have 4 tours scheduled for ECS 
classes (June 6, 10, 12 and 13).   CIAM is a listener-supported broadcast.  Send us your 

343



community events.  The email:   ciam@ciamradio.com.  Website:  ciamradio.com – click 
Fort Vermilion. 

 
6.10  FVSS (Email Update from Glenda): 

• Seniors Tea & Bingo is June 6th at 7:00 (free) 
• Jail and Bail (June 7th) – minimum $20 to put in a “warrant” to have someone 

arrested on that day (many businesses/people pool money together for this).  All 
proceeds go to Christmas Hampers 

• Registrations for Summer Fun Program is now open.  Program begins July 15th.  Call 
FCSS for more info.    

 
6.11 Other Updates: 

•  Judy shared that this weekend is Aboriginal Weekend in Peace River (10th year!).  
Pow wow at Ag Grounds with over 230 dancers, over 5000 people come out for this.  
Check out their website or Facebook page for more details.   

•  
 

7.0 Next Meeting: September 5th  
 
8.0 Adjournment at 11:07 am 

 
 

344

mailto:ciam@ciamradio.com


Fort Vermilion Interagency Summer Updates 2013 
 

Welcome Baskets (Leslie):   
I put together all the information and pamphlets received from our committee (thank you to all who 
contributed!), as well as included two pamphlets about Fort Vermilion.  Bags are at FVSS, Library, 
Parent Link and the Public Health Center.  I put up signs on a few of the bulletin boards around town 
advertising where they can be found.  (Note these bags can be continually updated as others have 
information they want to add in.)  
 
FVSS: Glenda has moved away and Sonya Cardinal has replaced her.  Contact information is the 
same for FVSS (phone 927-4340 or email fortfvss@gmail.com ) 
 
Rupertsland Institute RV Schedule (Marlene Klassen): 
Tuesday July 30th Fort Vermilion 10:00 – 3:00 Parked beside the hotel 
Wednesday July 31st  High Level 9:00 – 4:00 Parked across from the ATB 
Thursday August 1st  Paddle Prairie & Manning – times in Paddle Prairie and Manning will be short 
due to driver having to travel back to Edmonton. 
If you, or anyone you know, may be interested in meeting with us, please visit the RV, or contact our 
office in Peace River 780-624-0703, or call toll free 1-888-486-3847 and leave a message for the 
employment counselor.  All walk ins are welcome! 
 
NPTC (Judy Kim-Meneen): 
Tallcree is having a Treaty Day in South Tallcree this year and we are inviting different agencies to 
have a table for information and such on Aug 16. The times are 10am pancake breakfast by chief 
and council, they of activities starting 11am followed by steak BBQ and karaoke talent show. 
Contact Judy jkim@onehealth.ca or 780-821-0615 
 
Brighter Futures Society (Irene van der Kloet) 
Programs are closed for July-Aug, staff to return Sep 3rd.  
Programs will re-open around end of September. 
Application forms can be found on the website www.northwestalbertabrighterfutures.com 
We will be taking applications as of Sep 3rd, not during the summer months. Children will be 
accepted into the programs based on needs, not on a first come-first serve basis. 
Admin is open until July 24th, then closed until Aug 13th, open for one day, closed again until end of 
August (date to be decided).  
HAVE A GREAT SUMMER! 
 
Alberta Health Services - Health Promotion (Sharon Wurtz, Kevin Smeltzer, Leslie Prenoslo): 
Plans are underway for a 21 Day Health Challenge in Fort Vermilion starting in October.  More 
information on this will come at our September meeting, but in the meantime if anyone is 
interested in partnering on this please get in touch.  We will be putting together a calendar of events 
for the 21 days – if there are any health and wellness oriented events going on in our community 
during the month of October please let us know, as we would love to include them.   
 
Early in the fall we will also be working on planning a mom and daughter wellness day with the grant 
money we received from Communities Choosewell.  Again, if this is something you’d be interested in 
partnering on please get in touch.    

345

mailto:fortfvss@gmail.com
mailto:jkim@onehealth.ca
http://www.northwestalbertabrighterfutures.com/


346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



Mark Your Calendar! 

Mackenzie Municipal Services Agency 

ANNUAL SEMINAR 

 
 
TOPIC: Geotechnical and Environmental Assessments 
 The Seminar will address the Why, What, When, Who and How 

of Geotechnical and Environmental Assessments 
 

WHEN:   Friday, October 4, 2013 
 
WHERE: Sawridge Inn and Conference Centre 

Peace River, Alberta 
 
WHO SHOULD ATTEND:  
 
Chief Administrative Officers; Development Officers; Bylaw 
Enforcement Officers; Land Use Planners; Municipal Councillors. 
 
 
 
Registration and fee information will be forwarded to your 
office prior to September 1st.   For additional information 
contact:   
 
 
 

Mackenzie Municipal Services Agency 
   Phone No.:  780-338-3862 
   E-mail:        info@mmsa.ca   
 

356



357



358



359



 

  

 

Paddle Prairie Metis Settlement 

Invites you to Join us in Celebration of the 75th Anniversary 

of the Eight Metis Settlements of Alberta  

(1938-2013) 

 

Special Guest: 

 

Honourable Alison Redford QC, Premier of Alberta 

 

 

 

Friday, August 16, 2013 
Dinner: 6:00 p.m. 

Entertainment: 7:00 p.m 

 
Paddle Prairie Communiplex 

Main Street 
Paddle Prairie, Alberta 

Please RSVP Tina St Germain 
780 981 2227 

tina@paddleprairie.com 

 

 

360


	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:
	07-16-13 Council Meeting Minutes DRAFT.pdf
	Minutes of the Regular Council meeting for Mackenzie County held on July 16, 2013 in the Fort Vermilion Council Chambers.

	Blank Page
	RFD - CAO Report.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	Blank Page
	1. RFD Bylaw 907-13 Vangard .pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 907.13.pdf
	1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as:
	Part of NW 9-106-15-W5M
	within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Mobile Home Subdivision 1 “MHS1” to Hamlet Residential 1B “HR1B”, as outlined in Schedule “A” hereto attached.
	SCHEDULE “A”
	Part of NW 9-106-15-W5M
	within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Mobile Home Subdivision 1 “MHS1” to Hamlet Residential 1B “HR1B”, to accommodate Stick Built Homes.

	1. RFD Bylaw 910-13 Tim Harms HCR2 to P.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 910.13.pdf
	1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as:
	Plan 992 0893, Block 1, Lot 1 (9310-94 Street)
	be rezoned from Hamlet Country Residential 2 “HCR2” to Public/Institutional “P”, as outlined in Schedule “A” hereto attached.
	SCHEDULE “A”
	Plan 992 0893, Block 1, Lot 1 (9310-94 Street)
	within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Hamlet Country Residential 2 “HCR2” to Public/Institutional “P”, to accommodate a School.

	Blank Page
	1. RFD Bylaw 906-13 UFA 2nd & 3rd .pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 906.13.pdf
	1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as:
	Plan 982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4
	within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Hamlet Commercial 2 “HC2” to Hamlet Industrial 2 “HI2”, as outlined in Schedule “A” hereto attached.
	SCHEDULE “A”
	Plan 982 5602, Block 19, Lot 4 (10302 – 99th Street)
	within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Hamlet Commercial 2 “HC2” to Hamlet Industrial 2 “HI2”, to accommodate an existing industrial type development.

	1. RFD - FV ASP - bylaw 894-13.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 894-13 Fort Vermilion ASP.pdf
	1. That the following:

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	1. RFD - LC ASP - bylaw 895-13.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 895-13 La Crete ASP.pdf
	1. That the following:

	1. RFD - FV Ind ASP - bylaw 898-13.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 898-13 Fort Vermilion Industrial ASP.pdf
	1. That the following:

	4. Fort Vermilion Industrial ASP Final Draft 290713.pdf
	Purpose and Scope
	1.1 Background Report
	1.2 Municipal Development Plan
	1.2.1 Objectives for Industrial Development

	1.3 Community Consultation
	1.3.1 Early Stakeholder Feedback
	1.3.2 Open House Feedback


	2 Creating a Vision
	2.1 Vision
	2.2  Land Use Concept

	3 Achieving the Vision
	3.1 General Development Policies
	3.2 Limited General Industrial 
	3.2.1 Limited General Industrial Area Policies

	3.3 Highway Commercial 
	3.3.1 Highway Commercial Policies

	3.5 Country Residential 
	3.5.1 Country Residential Policies

	3.6 Agriculture and Rural Development
	3.6.1  Agricultural and Rural Development Policies

	3.7 Natural Areas and Open Space
	3.7.1 Natural Area and Open Space Policies

	3.8 Stormwater, Water and Wastewater Servicing
	3.8.1 Water and Wastewater Servicing Policies
	3.8.2 Stormwater Servicing Policies

	3.9 Shallow Utilities
	3.9.1 Shallow Utilities Policies

	3.10 Roads and Access
	3.10.1 Roads and Access Policies

	3.11  Fire Smart
	3.11.1 Fire Smart Policies


	4   Implementation
	4.1   Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws


	Blank Page
	1. RFD - Mackenzie Ind ASP - bylaw 900-13.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 900-13 Mackenzie Highway Industrial ASP.pdf
	1. That the following:

	4. Mackenzie Highway Industrial ASP Final Draft 290713.pdf
	1 Purpose and Scope
	1.1 Background Report
	1.2 Municipal Development Plan
	1.2.1 Objectives for Industrial Development

	1.3 Community Consultation
	1.3.1 Early Stakeholder Feedback
	1.3.2 Open House Feedback


	2 Creating a Vision
	2.1 Vision
	2.2 Land Use Concept

	3 Achieving the Vision
	3.1 General Development Policies
	3.2 Industrial Development 
	3.2.1 General Industrial Area Policies
	3.2.2 Light Industrial Area Policies

	3.3 Country Residential 
	3.3.1 Country Residential Policies

	3.4 Natural Areas and Open Spaces
	3.4.1 Natural Areas and Open Spaces Policies

	3.5  Stormwater, Water and Wastewater Servicing 
	3.6 Shallow Utilities 
	3.6.1 Shallow Utilities Policies

	3.7 Roads and Access 
	3.7.1 Roads and Access Policies

	3.8 Fire Smart
	3.8.1 Fire Smart Policies


	4 Implementation
	4.1 Implications for Other Municipal Plans and Bylaws
	4.2 Outline Plans
	4.3 Municipal Reserve 
	4.4 Conceptual Development Sequence


	Blank Page
	RFD - Sewer Camera Fee.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	Blank Page
	RFD - Traffic Control 109 Street & 100 Ave La Crete.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	1. RFD Bylaw 914-13 H. Fehr UF to HG.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	2. Bylaw 914.13.pdf
	1. That the land use designation of the subject parcel known as:
	Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M
	be rezoned from Urban Fringe “UF” to Hamlet General “HG” as outlined in Schedule “A” hereto attached.
	SCHEDULE “A”
	Part of NE 5-106-15-W5M
	within the Hamlet of La Crete, be rezoned from Urban Fringe “UF” to Hamlet General “HG”, to accommodate a Shop.

	2. Bylaw 914.13 Option 2 Revised.pdf
	1. That the Mackenzie County Land Use Bylaw Section 8.27 URBAN FRINGE “UF” be amended to:

	Blank Page
	RFD - Bylaw 912-13 Fee Schedule.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION

	Bylaw 912-13 Fee Schedule.pdf
	Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 2: Parking
	Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 3: Rules for Operation of Vehicles
	Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 4: Controlled and Restricted Highways
	Traffic Regulation Bylaw Part 5: Miscellaneous

	Blank Page
	RFD 13 07 29 to write off penalties of Drake Energy Ltd roll 410991.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:  (requires 2/3)

	Blank Page
	RFD - Policy PW023 Rural Road Specification.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	RFD - MGA Consultation Workshop.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	07 24 13 AAMDC Wants Your Input - Upcoming MGA Consultation Workshops.pdf
	AAMDC Wants Your Input - Upcoming MGA Consultation Workshops

	RFD - Rural Water New Connections - 08-06-13.pdf
	Request For Decision
	RECOMMENDED ACTION:

	14a RFD - Information-Correspondence.pdf
	Request For Decision

	Sportsplex Grand Opening Invite.pdf
	Sportsplex Grand Opening Letter
	sportsplex grand opening poster final

	14a RFD - Information-Correspondence.pdf
	Request For Decision

	14a RFD - Information-Correspondence.pdf
	Request For Decision

	Strategic Priorities Chart - Revised 04-23-13.pdf
	1. HOUSING ENTITY: Governance Structure – Sept.
	1. HOUSING ENTITY: Governance Structure – Sept.
	1. LAND USE FRAMEWORK: Position Paper - May

	Blank Page



